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We focus on where we excel. Our objective is to become the  
best local financial services provider in Hong Kong, creating  
value for local and international clients with passion and  
integrity.

With 33 years in the capital markets, Sunwah Kingsway has expanded its reach 
into global securities markets including China, North America, Europe and  
the rest of Asia. We have an extensive network of institutional investors and  
a successful track record of delivering the right mix of financial services to  
our clients globally.

Use of words including “Sunwah Kingsway”, “the Group”, or “We” in this Annual Report refer to Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited and its 
subsidiaries.
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Sunwah Kingsway is committed to the 
core values of integrity, teamwork, respect, 

responsibility and the pursuit of excellence.
We believe that successful companies are built on these core values, 

the same ones that align and guide our thinking and actions in every area of our business.

Our established core values have served our Group well and will continue to guide our growth into the future.
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Dear Friends and Shareholders

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I present to you the 

annual report of Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited 

for the financial year ended 30 June 2023 (“Fiscal 2023”).

After over two years of damages to the global health and 

economy, the coronavirus pandemic gradually subsided 

in our Fiscal 2023. Unfortunately, many social norms and 

working habits were changed and never returned to pre 

pandemic states. Hong Kong initially reacted very positively 

to the removal of COVID related restrictions in China and 

locally. However the enthusiasm gradually cooled down and 

the focus returned to the expected prolonged high interest rate 

environment, the continuous military conflict between Russia 

and Ukraine and its associated impacts on global energy and 

food prices, and the failure of the PRC properties developers 

and its chain effect on the PRC credit market and economy. As 

a major regional financial centre with close correlation with 

the performance of the Chinese economy, Hong Kong capital 

market continued to suffer. A Multi years low was reached 

in October 2022 and the Hang Seng Index closed at 13.5% 

lower at end of Fiscal 2023.

Our financial intermediary businesses continued to suffer 

during the last fiscal year. Impact on our business is higher 

as the market shifted its focus to large cap stocks and the 

participation of small retail investors became less. Corporate 

Finance business dropped significantly as the continuous 

travel restrictions led to the termination of a number of 

projects. There was no pipeline of new projects as the team 

was not able to meet or carry out on-site due diligence of 

potential clients. Expected credit loss dropped a lot after the 

reduction in our loan portfolio. We launched a new boutique 

fund in October 2022 and we hope to market to more clients 

after building a solid track record.

The Hang Seng Index continues with its double digit drop 

in our Fiscal 2023, ending 13.5% lower than the previous 

year. We continue to sustain heavy losses in our equity 

securities portfolio but losses in other asset classes was 

moderated. The two largest economies, United States and 

China, are still facing different challenges and our strategy is 

two folds, the on-going diversification of asset classes and a 

focus on income generating assets in this high interest rate 

environments.

In May 2023, the UN World Health Organization declared 

an end to COVID-19 as a public health emergency. However, 

other geopolitical issues are taking the center stage and 

uncertainties in capital markets continue. The United States 

is still excited by the prospects of AI developments and the 

so called “Magnificent Seven” are keeping the US indices 

at high level. On the other hand, the China capital market 

is still haunted by the credit crunch caused by failures of 

property developers and the lower economic growth than 

expected. The ongoing conflicts between China and United 

States on various issues are adding to the uncertainties. All 

these external factors are adversely affecting Hong Kong as 

a regional financial hub. The government is setting up a task 

group to look at how to stimulate turnover in the Hong Kong 

stock market. We hope that will bring more business to the 

industry. After the relaxation of traveling restrictions, our 

Corporate Finance team has stepped up their effort in our 

projects on hand. We also continue with the promotion for 

our new boutique fund launched in October 2022. We are 

reviewing and rebalancing our investment portfolio to focus 

more on income generating investments in this prolonged 

high interest rate environment.

The current economic down cycle is longer than a lot of the 

previous ones and Hong Kong has witnessed some structural 

changes after the pandemic. We have scaled down our 

infrastructure in response to these changes. We believe that 

we are now more flexible in dealing with the ever-changing 

environment. We hope to reverse the decreasing trend in our 

revenue in the coming fiscal year. I would like to thank our 

staff who supported us during this difficult time. With the 

guidance from the Board, we are committed to bringing the 

group back to growing mode as early as possible.

Choi Koon Ming Michael

Chief Executive Officer
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THE MARKET

Affected by the fifth wave of the COVID-19 epidemic, 

coupled with weak local demand due to uncertain global 

economic conditions, the Hong Kong economy weakened 

significantly in 2022 after a year of recovery in 2021. The 

Hong Kong real Gross Domestic Product contracted by 3.5% 

in 2022. The Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rates continued 

to rise following the interest rate hikes by US Federal Reserve. 

The one-month lending rate at the end of June 2023 was as 

high as 4.93%, about five times the level at the end of June 

2022. The major banks in Hong Kong raised prime rate by 

12.5 basis points in September 2022, the first rate hike since 

September 2018. At the end of June 2023, the cumulative 

increase was 75 basis points. Amid the economic contraction 

in Hong Kong, rising interest rates, the slowing global 

economy and the prolonged geopolitical conflict between 

Russia and Ukraine, the Hang Seng Index (“HSI”) fell to 

14,687 on 31 October 2022, the lowest close since 2009. 

The HSI surged after the mainland China relieved some of 

its COVID-19 restrictions in November 2022 and reached 

a temporary high at 22,701 in January 2023. However, the 

fears of a global recession weakened market sentiment and 

the HSI dropped and closed at 18,916 at the end of June 

2023, compared with 19,781 at the end of December 2022 

and 21,860 at the end of June 2022. The average monthly 

aggregate turnover on the Main Board and GEM Board during 

the year ended 30 June 2023 (“FY2023”) dropped by 20% 

to HK$2,333 billion, as compared with HK$2,917 billion for 

the year ended 30 June 2022 (“FY2022”). The global banking 

issues, ongoing interest rate hikes and low valuations, 

adversely affected the IPO market, fund raising approximately 

amounted to HK$103 billion during FY2023, a 26% decline 

from HK$139 billion for FY2022.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The Group recorded a loss after tax of HK$79 million 

for FY2023, as compared to a loss after tax of HK$79 

million for FY2022. After taking into account the other 

comprehensive income for the year, the Group recorded a 

total comprehensive expense of HK$94 million for FY2023, as 

compared to a total comprehensive expense of HK$72 million 

for FY2022. Amid tightened liquidity and weakened market 

confidence, the Hong Kong property market experienced a 

correction in 2022. The reopening of the border between 

Hong Kong and mainland China in 2023 has not significantly 

boosted the office leasing activities on Hong Kong Island. The 

high vacancy rate continues to adversely impact the Hong 

Kong office market. The Group recognised a revaluation 

deficit, net of tax, of HK$8 million for FY2023, as compared 

with a surplus of HK$8 million for FY2022.

Commission and fee income from our financial intermediary 

business was HK$15 million for FY2023, as compared with 

HK$45 million for FY2022. Interest income was HK$18 

million for both FY2023 and FY2022. Interest income from 

bank deposits increased by HK$11 million in FY2023 due to 

the interest rate hikes. The increase was offset by a decrease 

in loan interest income following shrinking loan portfolios. 

Dividend and rental income was HK$7 million for both 

FY2023 and FY2022. Hong Kong stock market continued to 

underperform, with the HSI falling another 14% in FY2023 

after a drop of 24% in FY2022. As a result, the Group 

recorded a net loss of HK$28 million on financial assets 

and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss for FY2023, 

as compared with a net loss of HK$23 million for FY2022. 

General and administrative expenses decreased by HK$7 

million, from HK$79 million for FY2022 to HK$72 million 

for FY2023, mainly due to the decrease in staff cost, a result 

of lower headcount and variable compensation linked to 

revenue. Net impairment losses on financial instruments was 

HK$10 million for FY2023, decreased by HK$21 million from 

HK$31 million for FY2022, mainly related to the provision 

for the loan portfolio and reduced as a result of contraction in 

our loan business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BROKERAGE AND FINANCING

Total revenue of the division was HK$26 million for FY2023, 

as compared with HK$36 million for FY2022. The brokerage 

commission income decreased by HK$9 million to HK$7 

million for FY2023, as compared with HK$16 million for 

FY2022. The stock market sentiment was poor and remained 

volatile and investors adopted a wait-and-see attitude. 

High financing costs and poor performance of newly listed 

companies decelerated the Hong Kong IPO market. As 

a result, our brokerage commission income and margin 

financing income dropped in FY2023.

The margin loans, fixed-rate loans and factoring receivables, 

after expected credit loss, amounted to HK$43 million as at 

30 June 2023, as compared with HK$62 million as at 30 June 

2022. The economic slowdown in Hong Kong and mainland 

China has adversely impacted the business environment. In 

addition, continued interest rate hikes led to higher borrowing 

costs and lower market liquidity. Some of our loan clients 

were unable to repay their loans on time. As a result, the 

Group provided an impairment loss of HK$10 million in 

FY2023 for its loan portfolio, compared with HK$28 million 

in FY2022. In view of the economic instability, the Group had 

further tightened the loan approval procedures and conducted 

prudent assessment of the collateral. Hence, the loan portfolio 

dropped continuously. Legal proceedings against the default 

debtors are in process.

The Group entered into a joint venture agreement with 

several joint venture partners to establish a joint venture 

company in Chongqing, the PRC, in 2016. Subject to the 

approvals of the China Securities Regulatory Commission 

(“CSRC”), it was contemplated that the joint venture company 

will become a full-licensed securities company. The Group 

received document request lists from the CSRC through the 

joint venture company and is now providing additional and 

updated information.

CORPORATE FINANCE AND CAPITAL 
MARKETS

Total revenue of the division was HK$6 million for FY2023, 

as compared with HK$24 million for FY2022. The downturn 

of the Hong Kong capital market has seriously affected the 

corporate finance business. The project on hand progressed 

slowly. Our team visited potential clients after the reopening 

of the mainland China’s border to strengthen the client 

relationships.

Capital market remained lackluster in our target client segment 

and the division recognised underwriting and placement fees 

of HK$1 million for FY2023, as compared with a minimal 

amount for FY2022. 

ASSET MANAGEMENT

Total revenue of the division was HK$4 million for both 

FY2023 and FY2022. A Hong Kong boutique investment 

fund, SWK Dynamic OFC, was launched in October 2022. 

The fund primarily focuses on investment in securities listed 

in Hong Kong and the mainland China markets. The Group 

consolidated the investments of the fund in our financial 

statements as the Group acted as the investment manager and 

also as an investor. The division recognised an intercompany 

fee income of HK$2 million for the fund in FY2023. The 

division is now approaching high net worth clients to provide 

assets management services to generate more revenue. 

The Group is also exploring marketing Vietnam focused 

investment funds.
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PROPRIETARY INVESTMENT

Total revenue of the division was HK$7 million for FY2023, 
as compared with HK$6 million for FY2022. After including 
net gain or loss on financial assets and liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss, total loss for the division was HK$21 
million for FY2023, as compared to a loss of HK$16 million 
for FY2022. The Group recognised a net loss of HK$28 
million from its investment portfolios for FY2023, compared 
with a net loss of HK$22 million for FY2022. The loss mainly 
arose from its strategic listed equity investments which 
incurred a net loss of HK$28 million, resulted from the poor 
performance of the stock market for FY2023, as compared 
with a net loss of HK$12 million for FY2022. Defaults on 
mainland China property bonds and tightened monetary 
measures imposed by the US Federal Reserve hit the bond 
market severely in FY2022. The market sentiment remained 
negative in FY2023. The Group recognised a net loss of HK$1 
million for the debt securities and bond funds portfolio for 
FY2023, as compared with a net loss of HK$16 million for 
FY2022. For the investment in the unlisted smart mobility 
company, the division recognised an unrealised gain of HK$3 
million for FY2023 and recorded an aggregate gain of HK$44 
million since the date of investment. The Group will continue 
to look for attractive private equity investments to optimize 
the investment portfolio and enhance investment return for 
the Group.

The Group acquired approximately 11% equity interest in 
China New Economy Fund Limited (“China New Economy”) 
at a consideration of HK$16 million in November 2021. 
The Group further subscribed for the rights shares of China 
New Economy at a consideration of HK$15 million in 
February 2022. After the latest acquisition, the Group held 
approximately 19% equity interest in China New Economy. 
Our Chief Executive Officer was appointed as a Non-
executive Director of China New Economy in February 2022. 
Thereafter, the investment was classified as an investment 
in an associate as the Group is in a position to exercise 
significant influence over China New Economy. The Group 
shared a loss of result of HK$5 million for the investment 
in FY2023. The loss was offset by the gain on disposal of 
an associate of HK$5 million when the Group disposed of 
approximately 10% equity interest of China New Economy 
in November 2022. Considering the change in shareholding, 
the Group no longer has significant influence on China New 
Economy and accordingly the investment was reclassified as 
financial asset at fair value through profit or loss. The Group 
also redeemed two investment funds with proceeds of HK$8 
million during the year. These transactions improved the 
Group’s liquidity and allowed it to better structure its asset 
portfolio.

As at 30 June 2023, the carrying value of the unlisted 

investments, listed securities and listed debt securities and 

bond funds portfolio was HK$102 million, HK$137 million 

and HK$28 million respectively (30 June 2022: HK$111 

million, HK$135 million and HK$29 million). The largest 

investment of the financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss was an unlisted equity security which accounted for 

approximately 3.1% of the Group’s consolidated total assets 

as at 30 June 2023. The directors considered that investments 

with a fair value of more than 5% of the Group’s consolidated 

total assets as a significant investment.

PROPERTY INVESTMENTS

Total revenue of the division was HK$4 million for both 

FY2023 and FY2022. The rental income received from these 

properties provided stable cash inflow for the division. The 

anti-epidemic measures and cross-border travel restrictions 

in 2022 have adversely affected the non-residential property 

market. The market sentiment slightly improved in early 

2023. Our retail shop in Kwun Tong recorded a revaluation 

deficit of HK$1 million for FY2023. The depreciation of 

the RMB resulted in a revaluation deficit of HK$2 million 

for our investment property in Beijing. In aggregate, the 

division recognised a revaluation deficit of HK$3 million for 

FY2023, compared with a deficit of HK$4 million for FY2022. 

The joint venture property project company established 

in December 2021 completed the ground inspection and 

obtained the approval of the building and foundation plans. 

The preliminary development costs are financed by its internal 

resources. The joint venture shareholders will cautiously 

reconsider the development plan to achieve the profitability of 

the project in view of the softening of the residential property 

market in Hong Kong.

To date, the division holds a shop and a carpark in Hong Kong 

and an office property in China. In addition, the Group has 

invested in two associated companies which hold commercial 

properties in Japan and a joint venture company which holds 

two adjacent parcels of land in Hong Kong.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Total assets as at the end of June 2023 were HK$1,438 

million, of which approximately 64% were current in nature. 

Net current assets were HK$316 million, accounting for 

approximately 39% of the net assets of the Group as at end 

of June 2023. The Group had cash and cash equivalents of 

HK$160 million as at end of June 2023, which was mainly 

denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

The Group generally finances its daily operations from 

internal resources. Total bank borrowings of HK$76 million 

as at the end of June 2023 were used to finance its investment 

portfolio. The bank borrowings were denominated in Hong 

Kong dollars and charged at floating interest rate. The Group’s 

gearing ratio was approximately 9% as at the end of June 

2023. As at 30 June 2023, the office property with carrying 

value of HK$310 million was pledged to a bank as security 

for the banking facility.

Other than the indemnity provided to the Hong Kong 

Securities Clearing Co. Ltd., the Group had no other material 

contingent liabilities as at the end of June 2023. The Company 

provided corporate guarantees of HK$210 million for banking 

facilities granted to its subsidiaries.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group’s assets are mainly in Hong Kong and the PRC and 

most of the monetary assets and liabilities of the Group are 

denominated in HK$. As part of our investment monitoring, 

financial assets denominated in foreign currencies, including 

equity and debt investments, are monitored on a daily 

basis together with the changes in market value of these 

investments. Financial instruments may be used as part of 

the overall investment strategy if deemed necessary by the 

investment managers. The Group operates a factoring business 

and purchased properties in the PRC. Taking into account all 

relevant macroeconomic factors and the size of assets held, 

the Group believes that there is no need to hedge these assets 

denominated in RMB. Management will monitor the situation 

closely and introduce suitable hedging measures if there are 

any material adverse changes. The Group does not have other 

material exposure to fluctuation in exchange rates and no 

hedging instruments are used.

E M P L O Y M E N T ,  T R A I N I N G  A N D 
DEVELOPMENT POLICIES

As at 30 June 2023, the number of full time employees of 

the Group was 70 (2022: 79). Remunerations and bonus 

are based on performance and are reviewed annually in 

conjunction with the annual employee performance appraisal. 

It also takes into consideration the results of the division to 

which the employee belongs and the Group as a whole. The 

Group provides a full induction program and inhouse training 

courses to all staff – particularly professionals registered with 

relevant regulatory bodies who must meet their mandatory 

continued professional training requirements. A share option 

scheme is available to directors, employees and consultants 

of the Group. Details of the scheme are set out in the section 

“Share options” of the Report of the Directors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to conducting our business ethically 

and in a way that is transparent, accountable to shareholders 

and the community, and under the governance of an effective 

board. As a listed company mainly engaged in regulated 

businesses, we believe our corporate governance practices 

are appropriately rigorous and of high standard. The Group 

reviews its practices on a regular basis to ensure that any new 

developments in the industry best practices are reviewed and 

considered by the Group. As in previous years, a separate and 

detailed statement on our corporate governance practices is 

included under the heading “Corporate Governance Report”.

COMMUNITY

In line with our philosophy of being a responsible corporate 

citizen, the Group participated in various social services 

activities. Our Environmental, Social and Governance Report 

will be published separately on the websites of the Group and 

the Stock Exchange.
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Company believes that strong corporate governance benefits all stakeholders as it helps maximising the Company’s value as 

well as stakeholders’ interests.

The Company promotes the importance of corporate governance through various policies and practices adopted at the Board 

level and throughout the Company in daily operations. We aim at maintaining high standard corporate governance throughout 

all levels in the Company. This report summarises how the principles of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set 

out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 

Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) for financial year ended 30 June 2023 have been applied.

The Company has applied the principles and has complied with the code provisions of the CG Code throughout the financial 

year ended 30 June 2023 except for the deviation which is summarized below:

Pursuant to the code provision C.5.3 of the CG Code, notice of at least 14 days should be given of a regular board meeting 

to give all directors an opportunity to attend. During the year, among the four regular meetings, notices of two meetings were 

delivered to directors less than 14 days prior to the meetings, however the notice of board meetings convened for reviewing and 

approving the annual results and interim results were given more than one month prior to the meetings. Since all regular board 

meetings within the financial year were pre-scheduled and the Directors were notified of the dates, Directors considered that the 

aforementioned notices did not affect their attendance. The Company will use reasonable endeavour to meet the requirement of 

code provision C.5.3 of the CG Code in future.

Pursuant to the code provision of C.1.6 of the CG Code, independent non-executive directors and other non-executive directors 

should attend general meetings. One non-executive director was unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company 

held on 25 November 2022 due to telecommunication difficulties.

Corporate Purpose, Values and Culture

The Group is committed to its core values of integrity, teamwork, respect, responsibility and the pursuit of excellence. Integrity 

is a top priority. We have integrated many of these values into our corporate culture through staff training, stringent financial 

reporting standards, robust legal and regulatory compliance programs, open and transparent whistleblowing policy and staff 

performance evaluations. We believe that successful companies are built on these core values, the same ones that align and 

guide our thinking and action in every area of our business.

We strive to become the best local brokerage and capital markets service provider concentrating on the mid to small cap 

market. Our focus is on customer relationship and services and we seek to capitalise on growing opportunities resulting 

from China’s development and emergence as one of the world’s major economies. A discussion and analysis of the Group’s 

performance for this fiscal year are set out on page 3 under Management Discussion and Analysis.
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The Board of Directors

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board currently comprises seven directors and the composition is set out as follows:

Jonathan Koon Shum Choi Chairman

Michael Koon Ming Choi Chief Executive Officer & Executive Director

Janice Wing Kum Kwan Non-Executive Director

Lee G. Lam Non-Executive Director

Robert Tsai To Sze Independent Non-Executive Director

Elizabeth Law Independent Non-Executive Director

Huanfei Guan Independent Non-Executive Director

The brief biographical details of the directors, including financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationships 

among members of the board, are set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” section on pages 

22 to 25.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board meets at least four times a year and additional meetings are convened as and when the Board considers necessary. 

During the year, six board meetings were held and the principal businesses transacted included approving interim and final 

results and reports, assessing business performance and implementation and considering connected and notifiable transactions. 

The attendance record of each director at the meetings of the Board, general meeting(s), Audit Committee, Compensation 

Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of the Company during the year ended 30 June 

2023 are set out as follows:

Meetings attended/eligible to attend 

Committees 

Board Directors Board

General 

Meeting Audit Compensation Nomination

Corporate 

Governance

Chairman

Jonathan Koon Shum Choi 5/6 1/1 N/A 1/1 1/1 N/A

Executive Director

Michael Koon Ming Choi 6/6 1/1 N/A N/A N/A N/A

Non-executive Directors

Janice Wing Kum Kwan 6/6 0/1 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Lee G. Lam (Note 1) 6/6 1/1 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Independent Non-executive Directors

Robert Tsai To Sze (Note 2) 6/6 1/1 2/2 1/1 1/1 N/A

Elizabeth Law (Note 3) 6/6 1/1 2/2 1/1 1/1 N/A

Huanfei Guan 6/6 1/1 2/2 1/1 1/1 1/1

Total number of meetings held 6 1 2 1 1 1

Notes:

1. Chairman of Corporate Governance Committee.

2. Chairman of Audit Committee.

3. Chairman of Compensation Committee and Nomination Committee.
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BOARD RESPONSIBILITY

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Board and management. The Board is responsible for providing high- 

level guidance and effective oversight of the Group’s executive directors and senior management. Generally speaking, the Board is 

responsible for:

• Formulating the Group’s long term strategy and monitoring the implementation thereof;

• Declaring and/or approving dividends;

• Reviewing and approving the interim and annual reports;

• Ensuring good corporate governance and compliance;

• Ensuring that appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems are in place;

• Formulating environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) strategy and ensuring that relevant systems for managing ESG-

related risks are in place;

• Monitoring the performance of the management; and

• Reviewing and approving any material acquisition and disposal of assets and other material/notifiable transactions.

The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for implementing the day-to-day business operations, strategies and 

management of the Group’s business to the executive directors and senior management. The Board authorises the management 

to carry out the strategies that have been approved. The non-executive directors (a majority of whom are independent) provide 

the Group with a wide range of expertise and experience. The Directors receive and review monthly financial accounts 

submitted by senior management.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least 

three independent non-executive directors, one independent non-executive director of which has the appropriate professional 

qualifications or accounting or related finance management expertise and the independent non-executive directors represent at 

least one-third of the Board. Each of the independent non-executive directors has made an annual confirmation of independence 

pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive directors have met 

independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. All members of the Audit Committee are independent non-

executive directors. Both of the Nomination Committee and Compensation Committee are chaired by an independent non-

executive directors. All non-executive directors receive directors’ fee in cash and the chairman of Audit Committee is provided 

office premises to reflect chairmanship. Except the executive director, no directors’ remuneration is related to the Group’s 

performance. Committees are authorised by the Board to obtain external legal or other independent professional advice, at 

the Company’s expense, if the Committee consider this necessary. Chairman of the Board meets independent non-executive 

directors every year in the absence of other directors.

RELATIONSHIPS

Dr Jonathan Koon Shum Choi, the Chairman, and Mr Michael Koon Ming Choi, the Chief Executive Officer and Executive 

Director, are brothers. Ms Janice Wing Kum Kwan, a non-Executive Director is the spouse of Dr Jonathan Koon Shum Choi and 

sister-in-law of Mr Michael Koon Ming Choi.
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TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT
The Company places great importance on directors training and from time to time advises the directors on various subjects 
including, Listing Rules compliance, updates to the Listing Rules, rules and regulations of Securities and Futures Commission 
(the “SFC”), enforcement actions taken by the SFC and Stock Exchange and how the rules and regulations impact the Company’s 
business and corporate governance. The Company also provides CPT training to licensed staff (including directors), regular 
updates of legislative and regulatory changes and encourages directors to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s 
expense.

All newly appointed Directors are provided with a Directors Manual which summarises: the directors’ duties and responsibilities 
as a director of a company listed on the Stock Exchange (including connected and notifiable transaction); disclosure of interest 
in securities of the Company and the Model Code for Securities Transactions by a Director of Listed Issuers as set out in 
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional development in the year under review to develop their knowledge 
and skills so that their contribution to the Board will be informed and relevant. The Company has received confirmation from all 
the Directors of their respective training record for the year ended 30 June 2023.

Participation in continuous professional development activities

Attending briefings/seminars/
conference/forums relevant to

business or Directors’ duties
Reading regulatory updates, 

journals/articles/materials, etc.

Chairman
Jonathan Koon Shum Choi √ √

Executive Director
Michael Koon Ming Choi √ √

Non-executive Directors
Janice Wing Kum Kwan √ √
Lee G. Lam √ √

Independent Non-executive Directors
Robert Tsai To Sze √ √
Elizabeth Law √
Huanfei Guan √

CHANGE OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION
The changes in the Directors’ information as required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are set out 
below:

Dr Lee G. Lam

During the year, Dr Lam was appointed as independent non-executive director of New Huo Technology Holdings Limited.

During the year, Dr Lam resigned as director of Beverly JCG Ltd. and retired from the board of directors of TMC Life Science 
Berhad.

Ms Elizabeth Law

During the year, Ms Law was appointed as an independent non-executive director of Starlite Holdings Limited and Wise Ally 
International Holdings Limited respectively.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Company separates the role of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer. Currently, Dr Jonathan Koon Shum Choi 

serves as the Chairman of the Board and Mr Michael Koon Ming Choi, the brother of Dr Choi, serves as the Chief Executive 

Officer. The responsibilities of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are clearly segregated and there is a clear division 

of responsibilities to ensure a balance of power and authority, so that power is not concentrated in any one individual.

The Chairman is responsible for the leadership of the Board. He ensures that the Board works effectively and performs its 

responsibilities and that all material issues of the Company are discussed in a timely manner. The Chairman is also responsible 

for ensuring that all directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings, receive adequate and reliable information 

in a timely manner and encourages all directors to make a full and active contribution to the Board. The Chairman leads the 

Board to establish good corporate governance policies and procedures for the Group as a whole. During Board meetings, the 

Chairman encourages directors with different views to voice their concerns and allows for sufficient time to discuss Board 

matters.

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the conduct of the Group’s business, day-to-day operation, and implementing the 

Group’s strategy with respect to the achievement of its business objectives with the assistance of the executive directors and 

senior management. He also oversees the Group’s compliance and internal control matters.

Non-Executive Directors

The term of appointment of non-executive directors being re-appointed during the year under review is for a term of not 

more than approximate 3 years expiring at the conclusion of the Company’s annual general meeting to be held in 2025. The 

appointments of the non-executive directors are also subject to rotation and re-election at least once every three years at the 

annual general meetings of the Company in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws.

RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company, at each AGM one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not 

a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every 

Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every three years.

In accordance with clauses 87(1) and (2) of the Company’s Bye-Laws, Dr Lee G. Lam, Ms Elizabeth Law and Dr Guan Huanfei 

will retire at the forthcoming AGM and they being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Board Committees

As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board has established the following committees whose authority, 

functions, compositions and duties are set out below:

(1) AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee’s terms of reference include those specific duties as set out in the code provision D.3.3 of the 

CG Code. Pursuant to its terms of reference, the Audit Committee is required, amongst other things, to consider and 

recommend to the Board the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditors and to approve their 

remuneration, to discuss with the auditor the nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations, to review the interim 

and annual financial statements, to review the Group’s financial controls, internal controls and risk management system 

and to consider any findings of major investigations of internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own 

initiative and management’s response. The Audit Committee should meet at least twice each year and when the need 

arises.
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The terms of reference have been included on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website in compliance 

with provision D.3.4 of the CG Code.

Pursuant to Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, the Company must establish an audit committee comprising non-executive 

directors only and a majority of which must be independent non-executive directors. During the year under review, 

it was comprised of three independent non-executive directors. The Audit Committee was chaired by an independent 

non-executive director, and at least one of the independent non-executive directors had the appropriate professional 

qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, 

all in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, two committee meetings were held. The attendance record of each member during 

the year is set out in the section headed “Board Meetings” of this report.

Amongst the two committee meetings, one was to consider the annual results of the Group for the financial year ended 

30 June 2022, including the discussion of the Company’s connected transactions and the discussion of the Company’s 

internal controls report and one was to consider the interim results of the Group for the six months ended 31 December 

2022. The Audit Committee met with the Company’s auditors twice during the year.

(2) COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

The Compensation Committee’s terms of reference include those specific duties as set out in the code provision E.1.2 

of the CG Code. Pursuant to its terms of reference, the Compensation Committee is required, amongst other things, to 

either review and recommend to the Board or determine, with delegated responsibility, the compensation packages of 

the executive directors and senior management, to review and approve performance-based remuneration by reference to 

corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time to time; to review and approve the compensation payable 

to executive directors and senior management in connection with any loss or termination of their office or appointment to 

ensure that such compensation is determined in accordance with relevant contractual terms and that such compensation 

is otherwise fair and not excessive for the Company; and to ensure that no director is involved in deciding his/her own 

remuneration. The Compensation Committee should meet at least once a year and when the need arises.

The terms of reference of Compensation Committee have been included on the Stock Exchange’s website and the 

Company’s website in compliance with provision E.1.3 of the CG Code.

Pursuant to Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules, the Company must establish a remuneration committee chaired by an 

independent non-executive director and comprising a majority of independent non-executive directors. During the year 

under review, the Compensation Committee consisted of three independent non-executive directors and the Chairman of 

the Board. It was chaired by an independent non-executive director.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, there was one committee meeting held. The attendance record of each member is 

set out in the section headed “Board Meetings” of this report.

During the meeting, the Committee has reviewed the compensation packages of the executive director and senior 

management. The Committee determined, with delegated responsibility, the compensation packages of the executive 

director and senior management. Details of the directors’ remuneration are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial 

statement. In addition, pursuant to the code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the annual remuneration of the 

members of senior management by band for the year ended 30 June 2023 is set out below:

Remuneration Bands Number of Individuals

HK$1,500,000 – HK$2,000,000 2
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(3) NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee’s terms of reference include those specific duties as set out in the code provision B.3.1 of 

the CG Code. Pursuant to its terms of reference and the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee is required, 

amongst other things, to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board and make recommendations 

on proposed changes to the Board as necessary, to identify individuals suitably qualified to become board members and 

select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships, to assess the 

independence of independent non-executive directors, and to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment 

or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for directors in particular the Chairman and the Chief Executive 

Officer. The Nomination Committee should meet at least once a year and when the need arises.

The Nomination Committee is also responsible for identifying, recruiting and evaluating new nominees to the Board and 

the assessment of the qualifications of the directors, including the assessment of the independence of the independent 

non-executive directors. The Company has adopted the Nomination Policy which formalize the selection criteria for 

appointing new directors or re-appointing directors, and the nomination procedures. The criteria adopted to select and 

recommend candidates for directorship includes the candidate’s experience, professional knowledge, integrity, time 

commitment and other statutory or regulatory requirements.

The terms of reference of Nomination Committee have been included on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s 

website in compliance with provision B.3.2 of the CG Code.

Pursuant to Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules, the Company must establish a Nomination Committee chaired by the 

chairman of the Board or an independent non-executive director and comprises a majority of independent non-executive 

directors. During the year under review, the Nomination Committee consisted of three independent non-executive 

directors and the Chairman of the Board. It was chaired by an independent non-executive director.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Nomination Committee held one meeting. The attendance record of each 

member is set out in the section headed “Board Meetings” of this report.

The Nomination Committee during the meeting reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board, made 

recommendations to the Board regarding the re-appointment of directors, and reviewed and assessed the independence 

of the three independent non-executive directors. Particular consideration was applied to Mr Robert Tsai To Sze and 

Ms Elizabeth Law, each of whom has served the Board more than 9 years. The Nomination Committee determined 

the Independent Non-Executive Directors, including Mr Sze and Ms Law, were qualified and met the requirements for 

independence as set out in the Listing Rules. In considering diversity, it was noted that the Board’s composition was 

suitably diverse in terms of age, gender, education and business and professional experience. No major change on the 

Board’s composition was recommended.

(4) CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Corporate Governance Committee has been established since 2005. The Corporate Governance Committee’s terms 

of reference which sets out the specific duties of the Committee in compliance with CG Code provision A.2.1 have been 

included on the Company’s website.

During the year under review, the committee was chaired by a non-executive director and it consisted of one independent 

non-executive director and two non-executive directors. The committee is responsible for reviewing and further 

developing the Group’s corporate governance policies and principles and the implementation thereof. The Corporate 

Governance Committee meets once a year and when the need arises.
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During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Corporate Governance Committee held one meeting. The attendance record of 

each member is set out in the section headed “Board Meetings” of this report.

The Corporate Governance Committee has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance practices and to review the 

internal controls report during the meeting. The chairman of the Committee received quarterly report from Legal and 

Compliance Department.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is Mr Vincent Wai Shun Lai and he has been delegated the responsibility of ensuring the Board 

works effectively and performs its responsibilities, drawing up the agenda for each board and general meeting and facilitating 

communication between Board members, Shareholders and management. The biographical details of the Company Secretary, 

including his qualifications, are set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” section on page 

25. During the financial year, the Company Secretary has undertaken over 15 hours of professional training to update his 

professional knowledge to assist him in the performance of his duties.

Securities Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set 

out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. The Company has made specific enquiry of all directors regarding any non-compliance 

with the Model Code during the year under review and they have all confirmed that they have complied with the required 

standard set out in the Model Code.

Audit, Risk Management and Internal Control

Audit

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board acknowledges that it is its responsibility to prepare financial statements of the Company for each financial period 

which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and ensure that financial statements are prepared in 

accordance with statutory and regulatory requirements and applicable accounting standards. The Board also ensures the timely 

publication of the financial statements of the Company.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of 

the Company is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” section of this annual report.

The Board confirms that, to the best of its knowledge and, having made appropriate enquiries, it considers that the Company has 

adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and has prepared the financial statements on 

a going concern basis accordingly. The Company maintains the services of a team of suitably qualified accountants to oversee 

the Group’s financial reports and other accounting related matters.

Risk Management and Internal Control

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board recognises that risk management and internal controls are an integral part of good management practices and are an 

essential element in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, safeguarding the Group’s assets and protecting the interests of 

our shareholders. Well managed risk management and internal control systems (“RM Systems”) enable effective and efficient 

operations, ensure the reliability of internal and external reporting and assist in the compliance with applicable laws and 

regulations.
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The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks it 

is willing to take in achieving the Group’s business goals, ensuring that the Group establishes and maintains appropriate and 

effective RM Systems and reviewing their effectiveness.

The Board notes that the Group’s RM Systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve 

business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has delegated to the Audit Committee the oversight responsibility for the Group’s RM Systems. On a semi-annual 

basis, the Audit Committee will discuss the RM Systems with senior management to ensure they have performed its duties 

to maintain an effective system and to consider material findings on risk management and internal control matters. To assist 

the Audit Committee and the Board in its duties, a risk register which identifies the material risk associated with the Group’s 

business, the risk rating and the internal control to mitigate the risk has been established.

MANAGEMENT AND STAFF

Pursuant to the Group’s framework, management is primarily responsible for identifying and assessing key financial, operational 

and compliance risks of the Group. With the assistance of the Legal & Compliance Department (“L&C”) senior management 

are tasked with designing and implementing policies and procedures of internal control to mitigate the material risks that have 

been identified. Additionally L&C monitors the Group’s RM Systems on an ongoing basis and reports its findings to the Chief 

Executive Officer (“CEO”) and a member of the Corporate Governance Committee. Senior management, which consist of the 

CEO, Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) and Chief Administrative Officer (“CAO”) meet at least on a monthly basis to review the 

detailed financial accounts of each material business division, discuss legal and compliance issues and regulatory updates.

The Group’s shares are listed on the Stock Exchange and our primary business is the provision of financial services in Hong 

Kong. Our business activities are highly regulated by the SFC and the Stock Exchange. As such, the Group has established 

policies and procedures which are reviewed regularly by senior management, licensed responsible officers and L&C to ensure 

the proper monitoring and control of all major risks arising from the Group’s business activities.

The Group has developed a Staff Handbook and Compliance Manual (collectively, the “Company Manuals”). All staff, including 

all executive directors, are subject to the provisions set out in the Company Manuals. The Company Manuals clearly set out 

the policies and procedures which apply to the Group’s businesses and place staff under specific obligations as to duty, ethics, 

integrity and principles under which our businesses operate. Each core business division has its own operating manual which 

specifically outlines the respective division’s operating procedures. Failure to comply with the policies and procedures as set 

out in the Company Manuals and/or the division operating manuals may result in disciplinary action, including dismissal from 

employment.

COMMITTEES FOR RISK MANAGEMENT CONTROL

The Group views the management of risk as integral to the Group’s goal to achieve and maintain profitability. In recognition of 

the increasingly varied, complex and global nature of the financial services business, we believe that risk management must be 

handled internally, but separately from the Group’s core business activities. This is to protect the interest of all stakeholders and 

to manage our professional and legal obligations.

The Group’s principle in relation to risk management is that where risk is assumed, it is within a calculated and controlled 

framework with continuous assessment and reporting. The process is multi-faceted covering market risk, credit risk, 

concentration risk and systems failure risk.

In order to monitor specific risks, Investment Committee, Risk Management Committee, Credit Committee, Finance Committee 

and ESG Committee were established with the objectives of identifying risks, continuously assessing, quantifying and 

managing risk, setting prudent credit limits, and introducing regular reporting to senior management. With the assistance of the 

committees, the Board determines the overall risk management policies for the Group.
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(a) Investment Committee

The Board has established the Investment Committee to manage the Group’s investments and financial commitments. 

The Investment Committee (i) reviews and proposes to the Board for approval of the investment policies and guidelines, 

including policies and guidelines regarding asset class, asset allocation ranges, prohibited investments, and proposes 

proprietary investment limits for the committee and the CEO; (ii) reviews and approves the proposed proprietary 

investments which are above the investment limits set on the CEO; and (iii) reviews the investment performance of the 

various investment decisions made by the CEO.

The committee consists of the CEO and the CFO. The committee meets as required.

(b) Risk Management Committee

In order to monitor the Group’s proprietary trading activities, the Board has established Risk Management Committee to 

oversee these activities. Within parameters set by the Board, the committee monitors the policies and the maximum limits 

for the Group’s proprietary trading, financial commitments and investment activities.

The committee currently consists of the CAO, who acts as the Chairman, and the Financial Controller. The committee 

meets and reports to the Board on a quarterly basis.

(c) Credit Committee

The role of the Credit Committee is to establish the procedures and guidelines for granting credit to the Group’s brokerage 

clients, assessing credit risk and setting credit limits. The Credit Committee meets regularly to set and establish policies on 

trading and credit limits for the Group’s brokerage business, set margin ratios, review the borrowing of margin clients over 

a preset limit, review stock concentration and review portfolios of major clients. If a client wishes to increase the trading 

limit, such request may be submitted to the Credit Committee for approval.

The committee currently consists of, among others, two SFO Responsible Officers (Brokerage), a SFO Responsible Officer 

(Operations), the CFO, the CAO and the Financial Controller. The committee usually meets once a month.

(d) Finance Committee

The role of the Finance Committee is to minimise the Group’s exposure to the credit risk arising from the Group’s general 

loan financing operations and to set out the internal policies and guidelines under which loans are to be assessed and 

properly authorised.

The committee consists of the CEO and the CFO. The committee meets when the need arises.

(e) ESG Committee

The Board has established the ESG Committee during the financial year 2021. The ESG Committee consist of the CEO, the 

Company Secretary, the Financial Controller, the Company Legal Counsel and the Corporate Communication Manager. 

The chairman of the Committee shall be the CEO who must be an executive director of the Company.

Pursuant to the ESG Committee’s terms of reference, the duties and functions of the ESG Committee shall be oversight 

of the development and implementation of the ESG strategy and policies, the funding of ESG initiatives and the external 

communication policies.

The ESG Committee, amongst others, monitors and reviews emerging ESG trends and issues, provide guidance on the 

development of the Group’s ESG objective, set out the measurable targets for ESG initiatives, review the ESG policies from 

time to time and make recommendation to the Board on ESG matters.
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SIGNIFICANT RISKS

The Group’s business, financial conditions and results of operations may be affected by risks and uncertainties pertaining to 

the Group’s business. The factors explained below could cause the Group’s financial condition or results of operations to differ 

materially from expected or historical results. There may be other risks in addition to those mentioned below that are unknown 

to the Group, or which may not be material now but could be material in the future.

OPERATIONAL RISK AND INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s results are affected by trends in the industry in which it operates, particularly, investment, brokerage, corporate 

finance and capital markets. Income from these operations is dependent upon interest rates, conditions in global investment and 

money markets and therefore there can be no assurance that changes in these conditions will not adversely affect the Group’s 

financial conditions and results of operations.

MARKET RISK

The Group operates in highly competitive and rapidly changeable markets. New market entrants, the intensification of price 

competition by existing competitors, product innovation or technical advancement could adversely affect the Group’s financial 

conditions and result of operations. When the price of securities (listed or unlisted) decrease, it will adversely affect the value of 

our investment portfolio.

CREDIT RISK

Credit risk arises from a number of areas. These include the possibility that a counter-party in a transaction may default during 

the settlement process. It also arises from lending, settlement, treasury, market making, proprietary trading, and other activities 

undertaken by the Group.

The Group’s Finance Committee and Credit Committee are responsible for establishing credit approval and monitoring 

procedures, which are in accordance with sound business practices, the requirements and provisions of the relevant ordinances, 

and where applicable, the codes or guidelines issued by SFC.

Day-to-day credit management is performed by the Operations Department with reference to the aforementioned criteria 

including creditworthiness, collateral pledged, and risk concentration of the counter-parties. The Finance Committee and Credit 

Committee are responsible for review of guidelines on credit limits on a regular basis and approval of specific loans or advances 

if the amount exceeds our pre-set guideline.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Foreign exchange risk is the risk to the Group’s financial conditions and results of operations arising from movements of foreign 

exchange rates. The Group’s foreign exchange risk primarily arises from currency exposures originating from its proprietary 

investments. Foreign exchange rates fluctuate in reaction to the macro-economic performances of different countries and fund 

flows between countries arising from trade or capital movements.

IMPACT OF NEW LEGISLATION

The introduction of new legislation and rules by the Stock Exchange, SFC and other regulatory bodies in Hong Kong and 

overseas may induce change in market conditions that may adversely affect the operating results of the Company.

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY RISK

The Group’s major operations rely on its information technology systems (“IT Systems”) which are subject to various threats 

coming from external or internal sources. Threats to IT Systems can be hardware-related as well as data-related which could 

damage the Group’s business and reputation or even attract claims from clients and business partners.
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Cybersecurity threats include, but are not limited to, ransomware, computer viruses, leakage of clients’ personal information 

and/or corporate confidential data, and denial-of-service attack. Failure to our IT Systems due to cybersecurity attacks 

could materially disrupt our operations, cause a loss of or an inability to access critical information, expose us to regulatory 

investigation and/or disciplinary action. In order to prevent, detect and mitigate cybersecurity threats, the Group has initiated 

security controls, monitoring systems and operational procedures to mitigate the threats. While taking various initiatives, there 

can be no assurance that a cybersecurity attack will not have a material adverse effect on our business and financial results.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Company’s internal audit function is performed by L&C, which reports directly to the Chief Executive Officer and the 

Chairman and has direct access to the Chairman of the Audit Committee. L&C has unrestricted access to review all aspects 

of the Group’s business activities. The tasks of L&C in respect of its internal audit functions include, (i) review and report on 

internal and operational controls, (ii) follow-up on the suggestions made by external auditors, (iii) ongoing monitoring and 

reviews on different operating cycles in the financial and brokerage industry, and (iv) special review of areas of concern 

identified by senior management. Throughout the financial year, L&C continually monitors various operational aspects of the 

Group’s business activities and issues monthly compliance reports to senior management covering those activities.

The Audit Committee reviews the findings and opinions of the Company Secretary and holds discussions with the auditors 

in relation to the audit of the Group’s financial statements and reports to the Board on such review. The Board has, through 

L&C and the Audit Committee, conducted a review of the effectiveness of material aspects of the Group’s risk management 

and internal control systems. Improvements to the system of internal controls have been identified and appropriate measures 

have been taken. Taking into the consideration of the review of the Audit Committee, the Board considered that there were no 

material weaknesses in the Group’s internal control system that should be brought to the shareholders’ attention. The Board also 

considered the RM Systems effective and adequate.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group recognises the importance of protecting and maintaining the confidentiality of potential inside information in 

accordance with the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance. The Group understands that it must, as soon as 

reasonably practicable after any inside information has come to its knowledge, disclose the information to the public unless the 

information falls within any of the safe harbours as provided in the SFO. Therefore, the Group has established a set of internal 

procedures and controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information. These procedures include the monitoring of 

any potential inside information, which will include notifiable transactions, escalating the matter to the Board, when necessary, 

for further approval and keeping the information strictly confidential before it is fully disclosed to the public. The Company 

Manuals have set out procedures on the handling of confidential information and information control so that the access of 

information shall be restricted to a limited number of employees on a need-to-know basis such that employees who are in 

possession of inside information are fully aware of their obligations to preserve confidentiality.

Auditor’s Remuneration and Auditor Related Matters

During the financial year and up to the date of this report, fees for auditing services and non-auditing services (including interim 

review and agreed-upon procedures for preliminary result announcement) provided by the existing external auditor, Ernst & 

Young, for the year ended 30 June 2023 were HK$2,100,000 and HK$860,000 respectively. Audit fees paid to other auditors 

for the year ended 30 June 2023 were HK$HK$393,000.
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Diversity

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy which aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Company’s 

board of directors with a view that increasing diversity at the Board level is an essential element in supporting the attainment of 

the Company’s strategic objectives and its sustainable development. In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has 

been considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background or 

professional experience. All Board appointments will be based on merit, and candidates will be considered against objective 

criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The Nomination Committee will review the Policy, as 

appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the policy.

As at 30 June 2023, the Company’s Board consists of 2 female members (28.5%) out of 7 directors. The board members have 

diverse business and educational background/expertise like business management, legal, accounting and financial reporting, 

risk management, banking and insurance, etc. Generally the Group achieve gender balance in terms of the ratio of female to 

male staff members (female: 41%/male: 59%).

Shareholders’ Rights

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT TO CONVENE A SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws and Section 74 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (the “Act”), one or more Shareholders 

holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right 

of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Secretary 

of the Company, to require a special general meeting (“SGM”) to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business or 

resolution specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held in the form of a physical meeting only and within two (2) 

months after the deposit of such requisition.

The written requisition must state the purpose of the meeting (including the resolutions to be considered at the meeting), signed 

by the requisitionists and deposited at the registered office of the Company or its head office in Hong Kong at 7th Floor, Tower 

One, Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway, Hong Kong, SAR, Attn: the Company Secretary, and may consists of several documents in 

like form each signed by one or more requisitionists.

If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionists themselves, 

or any of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all such requisitionists may themselves convene a 

physical SGM, but any SGM so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the date of the deposit of 

such requisition. A SGM convened by the requisitionists shall be convened in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that 

in which meetings are to be convened by the Board. Any reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists by reason of the 

failure of the Board to duly convene a SGM shall be repaid to requisitionists by the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Shareholders are encouraged to maintain direct communication with the Board of Directors. Shareholders who have any 

questions for the Board may send their enquires by email, fax or letter to the attention of the Company Secretary at 7th Floor, 

Tower One, Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway, Hong Kong, SAR. Email Address: vincent.lai@sunwahkingsway.com. Fax No. 

852 2530-5233.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT TO PROPOSE RESOLUTIONS AT GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Act, certain Shareholder(s) are allowed to requisition the Company to move a resolution 

at an annual general meeting (“AGM”) of the Company or circulate a statement at any general meeting of the Company. Under 

Section 79 of the Bermuda Companies Act, at the expense of the requisitionists unless the Company otherwise resolves, it shall 

be the duty of the Company on the requisition in writing by such number of Shareholders as set out in paragraph c and d below:

(a) to give to the Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next AGM notice of any resolution which may properly be 

moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting;

(b) to circulate to the Shareholders entitled to have notice of any general meeting sent to them any statement of not more than 

one thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at 

that meeting.

The number of Shareholders necessary to make the above-mentioned requisitions to the Company shall be:

(c) either any number of Shareholders representing not less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all the Shareholders 

having at the date of the requisition a right to vote at the meeting to which the requisition relates; or

(d) not less than one hundred Shareholders.

Notice of any such intended resolution shall be given, and any such statement shall be circulated, to Shareholders entitled 

to have notice of the meeting sent to them by serving a copy of the resolution or statement on each such Shareholder in any 

manner permitted for service of notice of the meeting, and notice of any such resolution shall be given to any other Shareholder 

by giving notice of the general effect of the resolution in any manner permitted for giving him notice of meeting of the 

Company, provided that the copy shall be served, or notice of the effect of the resolution shall be given, as the case may be, in 

the same manner and, so far as practicable, at the same time as notice of the meeting and, where it is not practicable for it to be 

served or given at that time, it shall be served or given as soon as practicable thereafter.

Section 80 of the Act sets out the conditions to be met before the Company is bound to give any notice of resolution or to 

circulate any statement. Pursuant to Section 80 of the Act, the Company shall not be bound to give notice of any resolution or 

to circulate any statement as mentioned above unless:

(e) a copy of the requisition signed by the requisitionists, or two or more copies which between them contain the signatures 

of all the requisitionists, is deposited at the registered office of the Company:

(i) in the case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution, not less than six weeks before the meeting; and

(ii) in the case of any other requisition, not less than one week before the meeting; and

(iii) there is deposited or tendered with the requisition a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expense in 

giving effect to the procedures in the paragraph above (i.e. the giving of notice of resolution and/or circulation of 

statement).

Provided that if, after a copy of the requisition requiring notice of a resolution has been deposited at the registered office of 

the Company, an AGM is called for a date six weeks or less after the copy has been deposited, the copy though not deposited 

within the abovementioned time shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the purposes thereof.



Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited   Annual Report 2023

21

Corporate Governance Report

Investor Relations

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

In November 2022, the Shareholders passed a resolution to amend the Bye-laws of the Company. The major amendments to the 

Bye-laws are related to (i) Appendix 3 of the Listing Rules in respect of the core shareholder protection standards which came 

into effect on 1 January 2022 and (ii) to provide more flexibility in relation to the conduct of general meetings of the Company 

by allowing general meetings to be held as hybrid meetings or electronic meetings which may be attended by the shareholders 

of the Company by means of electronic facilities.

COMMUNICATION

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with shareholders. The Company’s Shareholders Communication 

Policy set out various channels to communicate with the Company. The Shareholders Communication Policy is posted on the 

website of the Company.

Information in relation to the Group is disseminated to shareholders in a timely manner through a number of formal channels, 

which include interim and annual reports, announcements and circulars.

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for exchange of views between the shareholders and the Board. The 

Chairman of the Board, the directors and senior management of the Company and where applicable, the independent non- 

executive directors, are available to answer questions at the shareholders’ meeting.

The Company continues to enhance communications and relationships with its shareholders. Enquiries from shareholders are 

dealt with in an informative and timely manner.

To promote effective communication, the Company also maintains a website at www.sunwahkingsway.com, where information 

and updates on the Group’s business developments and operations and other information are posted, including all the regulatory 

announcements relating to the Company and the poll results on the business day following the shareholders’ meeting.

The Board has reviewed the Shareholders Communication Policy in November 2022. The Board considers that the Shareholder 

Communication Policy has been implemented and effective as multiple channels of communication are available to the 

shareholders for communicating with the Company and expressing their views.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”). The Company considers allowing shareholders of the 

Company to share in the Group’s profits while retaining adequate reserves for future growth to be important goals of the 

Dividend Policy. Under the Dividend Policy, the Company may declare and pay dividends to the Shareholders by way of 

cash and by other means that the Board considers appropriate. The Board shall, where appropriate, before declaring and 

recommending dividend and the amount of the dividend consider the actual and expected financial results of the Group, 

financial position of the Group, expected working capital requirement, capital expenditure requirement, future development/

investment plans of the Group, general economic condition including the capital markets, shareholders’ interest, retained 

earnings and distributable reserves, legal and regulatory concern and any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed by the Board as and when required to ensure the effectiveness of the policy. The Board 

has the right to update, amend and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time at its sole and absolute discretion. There is no 

assurance that dividends will be declared and paid in any particular amount for any given period.
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Chairman

Dr Jonathan Koon Shum Choi, GBM, GBS, BBS, JP, aged 66, is the Chairman of the Group. He has been responsible for the 

overall strategic planning of the Group since 1995. Dr Choi is also the Chairman of Sunwah International Limited, a substantial 

shareholder of the Company pursuant to Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”). Concurrently Dr Choi is the 

Chairman of the Sunwah Group and Vietnam VinaCapital.

Dr Choi is a Standing Committee Member of the National Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference 

(“CPPCC”), PRC. He was awarded the Grand Bauhinia Medal, the highest honor in the Hong Kong SAR Award and Recognition 

System. In addition to being a Standing Committee Member of the National Committee of the CPPCC, PRC, Dr Choi also 

holds a number of public positions, which include the Chairman of the Hong Kong Chinese General Chamber of Commerce, 

Economic Advisor to the President of the Chinese Academy of Sciences, Executive Director of the China Overseas Friendship 

Association, HK, Council Member of the Hong Kong Trade Development Council, Chairman of Guangdong-HK-Macao Bay 

Area Entrepreneurs Union, Founding Chairman of the Hong Kong – Vietnam Chamber of Commerce, Founding Chairman of the 

Hong Kong – Korea Business Council, Chairman of the China Hong Kong Israel Technology Cooperation and Promotion Center 

and Chairman of the US-China Center for Research on Educational Excellence of the Michigan State University.

Dr Choi is a Council Member of Fudan University and a Court Member of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Dr Choi is 

an Independent Non-Executive Director of Hui Xian Asset Management Limited, the Manager of HK-listed Hui Xian Real Estate 

Investment Trust, and Independent Non-Executive Director of BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited. Dr Choi has over 40 years 

of experience in the food industry, real estate development and international trade, and over 30 years of experience in the 

technology and finance related business.

Dr Choi is the spouse of Ms Janice Wing Kum Kwan and elder brother of Mr Michael Koon Ming Choi.

Executive Director

Mr Michael Koon Ming Choi, aged 55, has been the Chief Executive Officer of the Company since 2010 and an Executive 

Director since 2000. Mr Choi is also the Chief Executive Officer and a director of Sunwah International Limited, a substantial 

shareholder of the Company pursuant to Part XV of the SFO and a director of several subsidiaries of the Group. Mr Choi holds 

a Bachelor of Arts degree from the University of British Columbia. He joined the Group in 1995. Mr Choi has been licensed 

with Securities and Futures Commission in various capacities since 1998. Mr. Choi is an independent non-executive director of 

HK-listed EPS Creative Health Technology Group Limited and non-executive director of HK-listed China New Economy Fund 

Limited.

Mr Choi is the brother of Dr Jonathan Koon Shum Choi and brother-in-law of Ms Janice Wing Kum Kwan.
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Non-Executive Directors

Ms Janice Wing Kum Kwan, BBS, MH, JP, Chevalier De L’ordre des arts et des lettres, aged 66, was appointed as Non-Executive 

Director of the Company on 1 February 2011. Ms Kwan holds a bachelor degree of Law and Postgraduate Certificate in Laws 

awarded by the University of Hong Kong, admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 1982 and has been in private practice since 

then. She was also qualified as a solicitor in England and Wales, as an advocate in Singapore and as a barrister & solicitor in 

Victoria, Australia. She has been a China Attesting Officer appointed by the PRC Government since 1993.

Ms Kwan headed the legal department of an international bank and a listed company respectively during the period from 1986 

to 1990. Currently she is a consultant to Angela Ho & Associates.

Ms Kwan is a Standing Committee Member of the Tianjin Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference 

and member of All China Women’s Association, Standing Committee Member of The Chinese General Chamber of Commerce 

and Chairman of Culture Committee, President of Hong Kong Tianjin Business and Professional Women Association, Council 

Member (and former President) of Hong Kong Federation of Women Lawyers, Vice Patron of The Community Chest of Hong 

Kong, Vice President of Hong Kong Girl Guides Association, Vice Chairperson of Hong Kong Federation of Women, Advisor of 

Our Hong Kong Foundation, Founding Director of Opera Hong Kong and the Founding Chairperson and Honorary President 

of Musicus Society. Ms. Kwan has been appointed by the Hong Kong SAR Government to Chairman of the Appeal Tribunal 

(Buildings) of the Hong Kong Development Council, Member of The Hong Kong Law Reform Commission and the Court of The 

City University of Hong Kong. She was awarded Medal of Honour in 2009, appointed a Justice of the Peace in 2017, awarded 

Bronze Bauhinia Star in 2019 by the HKSAR Government and awarded Chevalier de l’ordre des Arts et des Lettres in 2018 by 

The Government of the French Republic, and appointed Honorary Fellow of The Chinese University of Hong Kong. She was 

elected as one of “The Most Successful Women” by “Jessica”, a Hong Kong’s top selling women’s magazine, in 2015.

Ms Kwan is the spouse of Dr Jonathan Koon Shum Choi and sister-in-law of Mr Michael Koon Ming Choi, and occupies the pro 

bono position of Advisor and Legal Director in Sunwah Group, of which Dr Choi is the Chairman.

Dr Lee G. LAM, BBS, JP, aged 64, was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of the Company on 1 February 2007. He holds 

a BSc in Sciences and Mathematics, an MSc in Systems Science and an MBA from the University of Ottawa in Canada, an LLB 

(Hons) in law from Manchester Metropolitan University in the UK, a LLM in Law from the University of Wolverhampton in 

the UK, an MPA and a PhD from the University of Hong Kong. Dr Lam is also a Solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong (and 

formerly a member of the Hong Kong Bar), an Accredited Mediator of the Centre for Effective Dispute Resolution, a Fellow 

of Certified Management Accountants (CMA) Australia, the Hong Kong Institute of Arbitrators and the Hong Kong Institute of 

Directors, an Honorary Fellow of Certified Public Accountants (CPA) Australia, the Hong Kong Institute of Facility Management 

and the University of Hong Kong School of Professional and Continuing Education, and a Distinguished Fellow of the Hong 

Kong Innovative Technology Development Alliance.

Dr Lam served as Chairman of Hong Kong Cyberport, a member of the Committee on Innovation, Technology and Re-

Industrialization and the Sir Murray MacLehose Trust Fund Investment Advisory Committee, and a Part-time Member of the 

Central Policy Unit of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (HKSAR) Government. He was also an independent 

director of Sunwah International Limited (from December 2011 to June 2021), a substantial shareholder of the Company 

pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.
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Actively participating in community service and international cooperation, Dr Lam is a member of the Chief Executive’s Policy 

Unit Expert Group, the Governance Committee of the Hong Kong Growth Portfolio, the Green Technology and Finance 

Development Committee and the Development Bureau Common Spatial Data Advisory Committee of the HKSAR Government, 

and Convenor of the Panel of Advisors on Building Management Disputes of the HKSAR Government Home Affairs Department. 

He is also a member of the Belt and Road and Greater Bay Area Committee of the Hong Kong Trade Development Council and 

the Court of the City University of Hong Kong, Chair of the United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the 

Pacific (UN ESCAP) Sustainable Business Network (ESBN), Vice Chairman of Pacific Basin Economic Council, and a member of 

the Board of Directors and Chairman of the Permanent Commission on Economic and Financial Issues of the World Union of 

Small and Medium Enterprises.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr Robert Tsai To Sze, aged 82, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director in 2000. Mr Sze had worked in Price 

Waterhouse (now known as PricewaterhouseCoopers) Hong Kong for 25 years where he had been a partner for over 22 years. 

Mr Sze is a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales and a fellow member of the Hong 

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is an independent non-executive director of a number of Hong Kong listed 

companies which are Dah Sing Banking Group Limited, Dah Sing Financial Holdings Limited and Nanyang Holdings Limited.

Ms Elizabeth Law, MH, JP, aged 69, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director in November 2011. Ms Law 

is the Managing Director of Law & Partners CPA Limited and Proprietor of Stephen Law & Company. She is a Chartered 

Professional Accountant, Chartered Accountant of Canada, a fellow practising member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 

Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales and a fellow member of 

CPA Australia.

Ms Law is an independent non-executive director of HK-listed Clifford Modern Living Holdings Limited, The Wharf (Holdings) 

Limited, Onewo Inc., Starlite Holdings Limited and Wise Ally International Holdings Limited.

Dr Huanfei Guan, aged 66, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director in November 2015. Dr Guan obtained 

a doctor’s degree in Economics in 2000 from Wuhan University and was a post-doctoral researcher in Theoretical Economics 

with Fudan University from 2000 to 2002. Dr Guan has experience in the finance and insurance industry in Hong Kong 

and the People’s Republic of China. He served various senior managerial positions in the People’s Insurance Company of 

China (Jilin Branch), the business department of Hong Kong and Macao Regional Office of China Insurance Group, Ming An 

Insurance Company (Hong Kong) Limited and China Pacific Insurance Co., (HK) Ltd. Dr Guan also held offices at the Bank of 

Communications, including the deputy chairman of the risk assets management committee, deputy chairman of credit assets 

management committee, chairman of loan review committee, deputy general manager of Bank of Communications Hong Kong 

Branch, a director of Bank of Communications Trustee Limited, the chairman and chief executive of China BOCOM Insurance 

Co., Ltd. and an executive director and general manager of BoCommLife Insurance Company Limited.

Dr Guan is currently an independent non-executive director of a number of companies which are listed in Hong Kong including 

China Nonferrous Mining Corporation Limited, Huarong International Financial Holdings Limited, Shandong Hi-Speed Holdings 

Group Limited, Guangdong-Hong Kong Greater Bay Area Holdings Limited and Shanghai Zendai Property Limited.
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Chief Financial Officer

Mr Eric Kwok Keung Chan, aged 60, was appointed as Chief Financial Officer (CFO) in April 2004 and is responsible for 

overseeing the Group’s financial operations. Mr Chan is currently director of several subsidiaries of the Group. Mr Chan is 

a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (UK) and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 

Public Accountants. Mr Chan is also a fellow member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investments Institute and a Certified 

International Investment Analyst. Mr Chan offers significant assurance and business advisory experience gained from 

working with the Hong Kong and Boston offices of PricewaterhouseCoopers for 14 years. Mr Chan joined the Group from his 

responsibilities as CFO and Company Secretary of a Hong Kong listed company with operations in nine countries and annual 

turnover of over HK$6 billion.

Chief Administrative Officer and Company Secretary

Mr Vincent Wai Shun Lai, aged 62, was appointed as the Company Secretary in November 2004. Mr Lai is also the Chief 

Administrative Officer and a director of several subsidiaries of the Group. Mr Lai is a qualified solicitor of the High Court of 

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and an Attorney at Law of the State of New York, USA. Immediately prior to 

joining the Company, Mr Lai worked in an international law firm that specializes in corporate finance, where he focused on 

listing and compliance matters involving various stock exchanges and regulators. Mr Lai holds a Juris Doctor degree from Union 

University-Albany Law School and a Bachelor of Science degree from the State University of New York at Albany. Mr Lai began 

his legal career as an Assistant District Attorney in the New York County District Attorney’s office.



Report of the Directors

Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited   Annual Report 2023

26

The directors hereby submit their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of Sunwah Kingsway Capital 

Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2023.

Principal activities and business review

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities and other particulars of significant 

subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements. The analysis of the principal activities of the Group is 

set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

The business review of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2023 and further discussion and analysis as required by Schedule 

5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is set out in the sections headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” and 

“Corporate Governance Report” in this Annual Report, and “Environment, Social and Governance Report” which will be 

uploaded to the websites of the Group and the Stock Exchange.

Results and appropriations

The loss of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2023 is set out in the consolidated income statement on pages 38.

An interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2023 of 1 HK cent per ordinary share was paid on 31 March 2023. The 

directors propose, subject to the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, the payment of a 

final dividend of 1 HK cent per ordinary share for the year.

Five years financial summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 131 of 

the annual report.

Reserves

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 

41.

Donations

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year amounted to HK$20,310 (2022: Nil).

Investment properties

Movements in investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

Properties and equipment

Movements in properties and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial 

statements.

Share capital

Movements in the Company’s share capital are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Distributable reserves

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders as at 30 June 2023 consisted of contributed surplus 

of HK$571,197,000 (2022: HK$600,453,000) and accumulated loss of HK$87,202,000 (2022: accumulated loss of 

HK$15,165,000).

Share options

Details of the share options granted by the Company are disclosed below pursuant to the requirements under Chapter 17 of the 

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”):

INFORMATION OF THE SHARE OPTION SCHEME
Details of the share option scheme (the “Scheme”) approved by the shareholders of the Company on 24 November 2020, 

which became unconditional upon listing of the Company’s shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 

Exchange”), are summarised as follows:

(i) Purpose of the Scheme : To provide incentives or rewards to Participants for their contribution to the Group 

and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high calibre employees and attract 

human resources that are valuable to the Group.

(ii) Participants of the Scheme : (a) any full-time or part-time employee of any member of the Group; (b) any 

director (including executive, non-executive or independent non-executive 

directors) of any member of the Group; or (c) any adviser, consultant, distributor, 

contractor, contract manufacturer, supplier, agent, customer, business partner, 

joint venture business partner or service provider of any member of the Group, as 

determined by the Board in its sole discretion, from time to time.

(iii) Maximum number of shares 

available for subscription

: The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be 

granted under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company 

adopted by the Group must not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the shares in issue 

on the date of approval of the Scheme.

(iv) Total number of shares available 

for issue under the Scheme

: As at the date of this report, 71,945,286 shares (representing 9.73% of total issued 

share capital) are available for issue under the Scheme.

(v) Maximum entitlement of each 

participant under the Scheme

: Not more than 1% of the shares in issue in any 12-month period.

(vi) Exercise period of the option : An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any 

time during a period as the Board may determine which will not be more than 10 

years from the date of grant. Options granted during the life of the Scheme shall 

continue to be exercised in accordance with their terms of issue after the end of 

the life of the Scheme. The Board may provide restrictions on the exercise of an 

option during the period an option may be exercised including, if appropriate, a 

minimum period for which an option must be held or a performance target which 

must be achieved before an option can be exercised. The minimum holding period 

and performance targets, if any, will be determined by the Board at its absolute 

discretion on a case by case basis upon the grant of the relevant option and stated 

in the offer of grant of the option.
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(vii) Amount payable on acceptance 

of the option and the period 

within which payment must be 

made

: Nominal amount of HK$1 upon acceptance of the option which must be made 

within 10 business days from the offer date.

(viii) Basis of determining the exercise 

price

: the exercise price of a share in respect of any particular option granted under the 

Scheme shall be such price determined by the Board at its absolute discretion 

and save that such price will not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of 

the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of 

grant of the option, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing prices 

of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five 

business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the 

nominal value of a share on the date of grant of the option.

(ix) Remaining life of the Scheme : The Scheme will expire on 23 November 2030.

Directors

The directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

CHAIRMAN
Jonathan Koon Shum Choi

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Michael Koon Ming Choi (Chief Executive Officer)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Janice Wing Kum Kwan
Lee G. Lam

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Robert Tsai To Sze
Elizabeth Law
Huanfei Guan

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from Mr Robert Tsai To Sze, Ms Elizabeth Law and Dr 
Huanfei Guan and, as at the date of this report, still considers them to be independent.

Biographical details of directors and senior management

Biographical details of directors and senior management are set out on pages 22 to 25.

Directors’ service contracts

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting has entered into any service agreements with 
any member of the Group which is not determinable within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory 
compensation.

Share options (Continued)

INFORMATION OF THE SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
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Directors’ interests in contracts

No contract of significance to which the Company, any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, was a party 

and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Permitted indemnity provisions

During the year and up to the date of this report, the Company has in force the permitted indemnity provisions which are 

provided for in the Company’s Bye-laws and in the directors and officers liability insurance maintained for the Group in respect 

of potential liability and costs associated with legal proceedings that may be brought against the Directors and the directors of 

the Group respectively.

Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares 
and debentures of the Company or any associated corporation

As at 30 June 2023, the interests and/or short positions of each director and chief executive in the shares, underlying shares 

and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV the Hong Kong Securities and 

Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)), as recorded in the register maintained under Section 352 of the SFO or as notified to the Company 

were as follows:

(I) INTEREST IN LONG POSITIONS OF ORDINARY SHARES OF THE COMPANY

Name of director Type of interest

Number of 

ordinary shares 

in the Company

% of 

total issued 

shares

Dr Jonathan Koon Shum Choi* Corporate 216,977,548 29.34%

Dr Jonathan Koon Shum Choi Personal 204,746,039 27.68%

Mr Michael Koon Ming Choi Personal 47,073,399 6.36%

Mr Michael Koon Ming Choi Corporate 10,842,279 1.47%

* Dr Jonathan Koon Shum Choi is deemed to be interested in 216,977,548 ordinary shares by virtue of the SFO. Such interest in 
shares is also set out under the section “Substantial shareholders’ interests and short positions in the shares and underlying shares 
of the Company” shown on page 30.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors and chief executive of the Company or any of their spouses or children under 

18 years of age has interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and associated 

corporations as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the 

Company pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2023, none of the directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests or 

short positions in the shares of the Company and its associated corporations as defined in the SFO, and none of the directors 

and chief executive of the Company or any of their spouses or children under 18 years of age had been granted any rights to 

subscribe for the shares of the Company, or had exercised any such rights during the year.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries and fellow 

subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors or chief executive of the Company to hold any interests or short 

positions in the shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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Substantial shareholders’ interests and short positions in the shares and underlying shares of 
the Company

As at 30 June 2023, the register of substantial shareholders maintained under Section 336 of the SFO shows that the Company 

had been notified of the following substantial shareholders’ interests, being 5% or more of the Company’s issued share capital. 

These interests represent long positions in the shares of the Company.

Number of ordinary shares 

in the Company

Name of shareholder Country of incorporation

Direct 

interest

Deemed 

interest

% of total 

issued shares Note

(1) Dr Jonathan Koon Shum Choi N/A 204,746,039 216,977,548 57.02% (a)

(2) World Developments Limited British Virgin Islands 185,701,741 – 25.11% (a)

(3) Sunwah International Limited (“SIL”) Bermuda – 185,701,741 25.11% (a)

(4) Sun Wah Capital Limited British Virgin Islands 31,275,807 185,701,741 29.34% (a)

(5) Mr Michael Koon Ming Choi N/A 47,073,399 10,842,279 7.83%

Note:

(a) 185,701,741 shares represent the same interest and are therefore duplicated amongst World Developments Limited, SIL, Sun Wah 
Capital Limited and Dr Jonathan Koon Shum Choi. World Developments Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of SIL. Sun Wah Capital 
Limited beneficially owns 100% of the issued share capital of SIL and therefore is deemed (by virtue of the SFO) to be interested in these 
185,701,741 shares. Dr Jonathan Koon Shum Choi beneficially owns or has control of more than one – third of the issued share capital 
of SIL and Sun Wah Capital Limited and therefore is deemed (by virtue of the SFO) to be interested in these 185,701,741 shares. As 
Dr Jonathan Koon Shum Choi beneficially owns or has control of more than one – third of the issued share capital of Sun Wah Capital 
Limited, he is therefore deemed (by virtue of the SFO) to be interested in 31,275,807 shares directly owned by Sun Wah Capital Limited. 
Ms Janice Wing Kum Kwan, the spouse of Dr Choi, is deemed (by virtue of the SFO) to be interested in all beneficial and deemed interest 
of Dr Jonathan Koon Shum Choi.

Save as disclosed above, the register of substantial shareholders maintained under Section 336 of the SFO shows that the 

Company had not been notified of any substantial shareholders’ interests and short positions, being 5% or more of the 

Company’s issued share capital.

Management contracts

No contracts of significance concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business 

of the Company were entered into or existed during the year.
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Purchase, sale or redemption of shares

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the year. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has 

purchased or sold any of the Company’s shares during the year.

Pre-emptive rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-Laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the 

Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Major customers and suppliers

During the year, the Group earned less than 30% of its turnover from its five largest customers.

The Group is a provider of financial services. In the opinion of the directors, it is therefore of no value to disclose details of the 

Group’s suppliers.

Related party and connected party transactions

Significant related party and connected party transactions entered into by the Group during the year are disclosed in note 36 to 

the consolidated financial statements.

During the financial year ending 30 June 2023, the Group did not have any connected party transactions which were subject 

to any reporting requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Those related party transactions which constituted 

connected/continuing connected party transactions were fully exempt from all disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the 

Listing Rules as they were below the de minimis threshold under Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules. During the year, no loans 

were granted to any Director or his/her associates.

Sufficiency of public float

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Board, the percentage 

of the Company’s shares which are in the hands of the public exceeds 25% of the Company’s total number of issued shares as at 

the date of this report, the latest practicable date to ascertain such information prior to the issue of this annual report.

Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate 

governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 7 to 21.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group is committed to the principles of good corporate governance, the integration of 

corporate social responsibility into our business culture and protecting the environment. The details of the Group’s performance 

in environmental protection, social issues and community investment will be disclosed in the Environmental, Social and 

Governance Report (“ESG Report”). The ESG Report will be uploaded to the websites of the Group and the Stock Exchange.
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Directors’ interest in competing business

Set out below is information disclosed pursuant to paragraph 8.10 of the Listing Rules:

(1) SIL and its subsidiaries, other than those in the Group (“Sunwah International Group”), are mainly engaged in direct and 

regional investments. The Company has entered into a non-competition undertaking with SIL on 25 August 2000 (“the 

Sunwah International Undertaking”). According to the Sunwah International Undertaking, SIL shall not, and shall procure 

Sunwah International Group not to, among other things, engage in the provision of financial, advisory, stockbroking, 

financing, fund management and futures brokerage services relating to stocks and futures in Hong Kong. SIL has also 

undertaken not to, and will procure Sunwah International Group not to, apply for or obtain licenses to conduct such 

services in Hong Kong. In addition, investments in securities for the Group and the Sunwah International Group are 

performed independently from each other.

(2) The Company and Dr Jonathan Koon Shum Choi (“Dr Choi”) entered into a non-competition undertaking (“the Choi’s 

Undertaking”) on 10 August 2000. According to the Choi’s Undertaking, Dr Choi shall not, and shall procure the 

covenanters (as defined therein) not to, among other things, engage in the provision of financial, advisory, stockbroking, 

financing, fund management and futures broking services relating to stocks and futures in Hong Kong which may only 

be lawfully provided by a registered person (as defined therein) but excluding the provision of financial accommodation 

which does not fall within the definition of “Securities Margin Financing” for the purposes of the Hong Kong Securities 

Ordinance (which was repealed on 1 April 2003 and replaced by the SFO) in competition with the Group.

Auditors

During the year ended 30 June 2020, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu resigned as auditors of the Company and Ernst & Young were 

appointed by the directors to fill the casual vacancy so arising in 2020. There have been no other changes of auditors in the past 

three years. Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for the reappointment of Ernst & Young as auditors of the Company will 

be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

By order of the board

Jonathan Koon Shum Choi

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 September 2023
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Ernst & Young  

27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

Independent auditor’s report
To the shareholders of Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and 

its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 38 to 130, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 

30 June 2023, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated 

statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 

consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the 

Group as at 30 June 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended 

in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 

financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We 

believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 

these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial 

statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of 

procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. 

The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our 

audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matters: How our audit addressed the key audit matters:

Impairment assessment on loan receivables classified as stage 3

Refer to significant accounting policies, financial risk 
management and key sources of estimation uncertainty and 
judgements on impairment allowances on accounts and 
loan receivables in the consolidated financial statements and 
the disclosures on accounts and loan receivables subject to 
expected credit loss (“ECL”), including loan receivables, in 
the consolidated financial statements.

As at 30 June 2023, gross loan receivables amounted to 
HK$77,301,000. Their related impairment allowances 
amounted to HK$35,105,000, which included the 
impairment allowances made against credit exposures 
to loan receivables classified as stage 3 amounting to 
HK$34,958,000.

The Group assesses whether loan receivables become 
credit-impaired at the reporting date based on evidence 
demonstrating that one or more events that have a 
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of 
the receivables have occurred, including but not limited to 
significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower 
and any default and past due of payments.

In assessing the ECL of exposures classified as stage 3, the 
Group assesses the expected cash flows including the value 
of collaterals received from customers. The Group considers 
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and 
available without undue cost and effort for this purpose.

In view of the significance of the impairment allowances 
recorded by the Group and the judgements and estimates 
involved, the impairment assessment on loan receivables 
classified as stage 3 is considered as a key audit matter.

The procedures we performed to address the key audit matter 
included the following:

• We obtained an understanding of the Group’s 
credit risk management approach and practices and 
impairment provisioning policy;

• In assessing the ECL for loans receivables classified 
as stage 3, we tested the accuracy of the input of 
major parameters used in the year end computation 
of ECL by comparing details of individual items in the 
model to the underlying loan documents, evaluated 
the appropriateness of the key parameters and related 
judgements involved in the ECL calculation, where 
appropriate, evaluated the Group’s assessment of the 
value of collaterals and consideration of multiple 
scenario analyses, and developed a reasonable range 
of expected cash flow shortfall for comparison with the 
Group’s assessment; and

• We evaluated the Group’s disclosures in relation 
to the impairment allowances for its accounts and 
loan receivables, financial risk management and key 
sources of estimation uncertainty and judgements 
in the consolidated financial statements against the 
requirements of HKFRS.
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Key audit matters: How our audit addressed the key audit matters:

Valuation of overseas unlisted equity securities

Refer to significant accounting policies, disclosures on 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, fair value 
measurements of financial instruments and key sources of 
estimation uncertainty and judgements in relation to overseas 
unlisted equity included in the consolidated financial 
statements.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group’s overseas unlisted equity 
securities amounted to HK$50,772,000.

The Group applied valuation techniques to determine the 
fair values of the overseas unlisted equity securities. These 
valuation techniques involve the exercise of judgement by 
management and the use of assumptions and estimates.

Given the significance of balance, level of judgement 
and degree of complexity involved in the valuations, the 
valuation of overseas unlisted equity securities is considered 
a key audit matter.

The procedures we performed to address the key audit matter 
included the following:

• We obtained an understanding of the valuation 
methodologies applied and the processes performed by 
management and third-party valuer with respect to the 
valuation of overseas unlisted equity securities;

• We evaluated the appropriateness of the valuation 
methodologies applied by the Group, and assessed 
the reasonableness of the valuation results with the 
assistance of our internal valuation specialists where 
applicable, by evaluating the valuation techniques, 
inputs and assumptions used in the valuation through 
comparison with valuation techniques that are 
commonly used in the market, independent checking 
of observable inputs against available external market 
data, and evaluating the rationale of management’s 
judgement on significant unobservable inputs and key 
assumptions;

• We assessed the competence, capabilities, objectivity, 
and independence of the third party valuer engaged by 
management where applicable; and

• We evaluated the Group’s disclosures in relation 
to valuation techniques and key inputs used and 
sensitivity analysis performed by management with 
respect to the overseas unlisted equity securities in 
the consolidated financial statements against the 
requirements of HKFRS.

Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 

included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 

in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 

knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 

conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 

report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and 

fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 

to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic 

alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the 

Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is 

made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. 

We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will 

always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 

basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 

throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 

higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 

or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 

on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 

to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 

disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 

date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 

concern.
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• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, 

and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 

achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 

within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 

supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 

independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 

independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 

audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 

matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 

circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 

doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Yeung Ho Yin.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

28 September 2023
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Notes 2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue

Commission and fee income 4 15,328 44,626

Interest income arising from financial assets at amortised cost 4 16,831 15,948

Interest income arising from debt securities at fair value through  

profit or loss 4 1,133 1,552

Dividend income 4 4,177 3,796

Rental income 4 3,273 3,004
    

40,742 68,926

Net loss on financial assets and liabilities at fair value  

through profit or loss 5 (28,022) (22,611)

Other income and gain or losses 6 (265) (416)
    

12,455 45,899

Commission expenses (2,107) (5,099)

General and administrative expenses (72,438) (79,251)

Finance costs 7(a) (5,520) (1,478)

Net impairment losses on financial instruments 7(b) (10,126) (30,711)

Fair value changes on investment properties 13 (2,886) (3,521)

Changes on non-controlling interests in consolidated investment funds 1,056 (550)

Gain on disposal of an associate 18 4,630 –

Share of loss of a joint venture 17 (8) (184)

Share of losses of associates 18 (4,237) (736)
    

Loss before tax 7 (79,181) (75,631)

Income tax credit/(expenses) 9(a) 241 (3,065)
    

Loss for the year (78,940) (78,696)
    

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company (78,497) (78,069)

Non-controlling interests (443) (627)
    

Loss for the year (78,940) (78,696)
    

Basic and diluted loss per share 12 (10.69) HK cents (10.78) HK cents
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Notes 2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss for the year (78,940) (78,696)
    

Other comprehensive (expense)/income:

Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

Land and buildings held for own use

– (Deficit)/surplus on revaluation 14 (11,934) 7,531

– Income tax effect 14 3,539 214
    

(8,395) 7,745
    

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (6,484) (1,527)

Reclassification adjustment for a foreign operation deregistered  

during the year (170) 144
    

(6,654) (1,383)
    

Other comprehensive (expense)/income for the year (15,049) 6,362
    

Total comprehensive expense for the year (93,989) (72,334)
    

Total comprehensive expense attributable to:

Owners of the Company (93,505) (71,687)

Non-controlling interests (484) (647)
    

Total comprehensive expense for the year (93,989) (72,334)
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Notes 2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Investment properties 13 76,167 79,053
Properties and equipment 14 322,418 347,087
Intangible assets 15 2,190 2,489
Goodwill 16 – 1,121
Interest in a joint venture 17 23,808 22,316
Interests in associates 18 18,868 66,045
Loans to and amounts due from associates 18 13,787 13,518
Other assets 19 4,467 4,609
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 20 51,102 51,035
Deferred tax assets 30 495 264    

513,302 587,537    

Current assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 20 216,271 223,864
Accounts, loans and other receivables 21 158,673 160,127
Bank balances and cash – trust accounts 22 385,976 531,645
Cash and cash equivalents 23 159,782 162,529    

920,702 1,078,165
Assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale 32 3,927 –    

924,629 1,078,165    
Current liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 24 7,225 8,409
Net assets attributable to holders of non-controlling interests  

in consolidated investment funds 25 65,416 13,818
Accruals, accounts and other payables 26 451,333 591,509
Lease liabilities 27 128 981
Contract liabilities 28 3,000 1,847
Bank loans and overdrafts 29 75,672 105,000
Current tax liabilities 1,433 2,990    

604,207 724,554
Liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale 32 4,502 –    

608,709 724,554    
Net current assets 315,920 353,611    
Total assets less current liabilities 829,222 941,148    
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 30 23,895 27,433
Lease liabilities 27 375 2,883    

24,270 30,316    
NET ASSETS 804,952 910,832    
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 31 73,957 73,039
Reserves 730,652 836,966    
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 804,609 910,005
Non-controlling interests 343 827    
TOTAL EQUITY 804,952 910,832    

The consolidated financial statements on pages 38 to 130 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 
28 September 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

Jonathan Koon Shum Choi Michael Koon Ming Choi
Director Director



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2023

Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited   Annual Report 2023

41

    

Attributable to owners of the Company
 

Share capital

Share 

premium

Special 

reserve

Capital 

reserve on 

consolidation

Exchange 

reserve

Properties 

revaluation 

reserve

Retained 

profits Total

Non-

controlling 

interests Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 July 2022 73,039 368,751 39,800 63,392 173 200,521 164,329 910,005 827 910,832

Loss for the year – – – – – – (78,497) (78,497) (443) (78,940)

Exchange differences on translation of 

foreign operations – – – – (6,443) – – (6,443) (41) (6,484)

Deficit on revaluation of land and  

buildings held for own use  

(net of tax) (note 14) – – – – – (8,395) – (8,395) – (8,395)

Reclassification adjustment for a foreign 

operation deregistered during the year – – – – (170) – – (170) – (170)
           

Total comprehensive expense for the year – – – – (6,613) (8,395) (78,497) (93,505) (484) (93,989)
           

2022 Final dividend paid in cash and scrip 

(note 11b and note 31) 918 1,891 – – – – (7,304) (4,495) – (4,495)

2023 Interim dividend paid (note 11b) – – – – – – (7,396) (7,396) – (7,396)
           

At 30 June 2023 73,957 370,642* 39,800* 63,392* (6,440)* 192,126* 71,132* 804,609 343 804,952
           

At 1 July 2021 71,945 365,742 39,800 63,392 1,536 192,776 260,494 995,685 1,272 996,957

Loss for the year – – – – – – (78,069) (78,069) (627) (78,696)

Exchange differences on translation of 

foreign operations – – – – (1,507) – – (1,507) (20) (1,527)

Surplus on revaluation of land and  

buildings held for own use  

(net of tax) (note 14) – – – – – 7,745 – 7,745 – 7,745

Reclassification adjustment for a foreign 

operation deregistered during the year – – – – 144 – – 144 – 144
           

Total comprehensive income/(expense)  

for the year – – – – (1,363) 7,745 (78,069) (71,687) (647) (72,334)
           

2021 Final dividend paid in cash and scrip 

(note 11b and note 31) 1,094 3,009 – – – – (10,792) (6,689) – (6,689)

2022 Interim dividend paid (note 11b) – – – – – – (7,304) (7,304) – (7,304)

Contribution from minority shareholder – – – – – – – – 202 202
           

At 30 June 2022 73,039 368,751* 39,800* 63,392* 173* 200,521* 164,329* 910,005 827 910,832
           

* Those reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$730,652,000 (2022: HK$836,966,000) in the consolidated statement 
of financial position.
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Notes 2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Operating activities

Loss before tax (79,181) (75,631)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation 14 10,614 11,993

Finance costs 7(a) 5,520 1,478

Dividend income 4 (4,177) (3,796)

Interest income 4 (17,964) (17,500)

Gain on disposal of an associate (4,630) –

Share of losses of a joint venture 8 184

Share of losses of associates 4,237 736

Net impairment losses on financial instruments 7(b) 10,126 30,711

Rental concession – (302)

Gain on lease termination – (2)

Impairment loss on goodwill 1,073 –

Impairment loss on intangible assets 30 –

Fair value changes on investment properties 13 2,886 3,521

Changes on non-controlling interests in consolidated investment funds (1,056) 550

Effect of foreign exchange rates – 1,406
    

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital (72,514) (46,652)

Decrease in other assets 142 424

Decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 29,101 11,779

(Increase)/decrease in accounts, loans and other receivables (16,566) 151,170

Decrease in contract assets – 300

Decrease in bank balances and cash – trust accounts 145,670 136,599

Decrease in financial liabilities at fair value  

through profit or loss (1,184) (4,698)

Decrease in accruals, accounts and other payables (137,865) (177,382)

Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities 1,153 (16,035)
    

Cash (used in)/generated from operations (52,063) 55,505

Interest received 20,570 14,292

Dividends received 3,737 3,547

Interest paid (5,471) (1,400)

Interest portion of lease payments 27 (48) (78)

Profits tax paid (1,545) (376)
    

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (34,820) 71,490
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Notes 2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Investing activities

Payments for purchase of properties and equipment 14 (331) (537)

Purchase of shareholding in a joint venture 17 – (22,500)

Additional investment in a joint venture (1,500) –

Additional investment in an associate – (14,852)

Proceeds from disposal of an associate 25,928 –
    

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities 24,097 (37,889)
    

Financing activities

Repayment of bank loans 29 (730,000) (595,000)

Proceeds from new bank loans 29 625,000 570,000

Dividends paid to owners of the Company (11,891) (13,993)

Injection from holders of non-controlling interests in a consolidated  

investment fund 53,623 1,337

Withdrawal by holders of non-controlling interests in a consolidated 

investment fund (969) –

Principal portion of lease payments 27 (943) (1,791)

Contribution of capital from minority shareholder – 202
    

Net cash used in financing activities (65,180) (39,245)
    

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (75,903) (5,644)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July 162,529 168,610

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net (2,229) (437)
    

Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 84,397 162,529
    

Analysis of the balances of cash and cash equivalents:

Bank balances and cash 159,782 162,529

Bank balances attributable to assets held for sale 287 –

Bank overdrafts (75,672) –
    

84,397 162,529
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1 Corporate information

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda under the Companies Act as an exempted company with limited liability 

on 17 May 2000. Pursuant to a Group reorganisation completed on 10 August 2000 (the “Reorganisation”) to rationalise 

the Company and its subsidiaries in preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong 

Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), the Company issued shares in exchange for the entire share capital of SW Kingsway 

Capital Group Limited and thereby became the holding company of the Group. The Company’s shares were successfully 

listed on the Stock Exchange on 15 September 2000.

The principal activities of the Company and its significant subsidiary companies are disclosed in the Director’s Report of 

the annual report and in note 37.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of units of Hong Kong dollars (“HK$’000”), unless 

otherwise stated, which is the functional currency of the Company.

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation.

2 Application of amendments to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of 

Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time which are relevant to the Group:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018–2020 Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples accompanying 

HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform – Pillar Two Model Rules

Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference to the previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial 

Statements with a reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework”) issued 

in June 2018 without significantly changing its requirements. The amendments also add to HKFRS 3 an exception to 

its recognition principle for an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes an asset or a 

liability. The exception specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within the scope of HKAS 37 

or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were incurred separately rather than assumed in a business combination, an entity applying 

HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the 

amendments clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The Group has applied 

the amendments prospectively to business combinations that occurred on or after 1 July 2022. As there were no business 

combinations during the year, the amendments did not have any impact on the financial position or performance of the 

Group.
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(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any 

proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable 

of operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds from selling any such 

items, and the cost of those items as determined by HKAS 2 Inventories, in profit or loss. Since there was no sale of items 

produced prior to the property, plant and equipment being available for use, the amendments did not have any impact on 

the financial position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the cost 

of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract 

include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an allocation of other 

costs that relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property, 

plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract management and supervision costs). General and 

administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the 

counterparty under the contract. The Group has applied the amendments prospectively to contracts for which it has not 

yet fulfilled all its obligations at 1 July 2022 and no onerous contracts were identified. Therefore, the amendments did not 

have any impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018–2020 sets out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples 

accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the amendments that are applicable to the Group are as follows:

• HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new 

or modified financial liability are substantially different from the terms of the original financial liability. These fees 

include only those paid or received between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by either 

the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. The Group has applied the amendment prospectively from 1 July 2022. 

As there was no modification or exchange of the Group’s financial liabilities during the year, the amendment did not 

have any impact on the financial position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 12 introduce a mandatory temporary exception from the recognition and disclosure of deferred 

taxes arising from the implementation of the Pillar Two model rules published by the Organisation for Economic Co-

operation and Development. The amendments also introduce disclosure requirements for the affected entities to help users 

of the financial statements better understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two income taxes, including the disclosure 

of current tax related to Pillar Two income taxes separately in the periods when Pillar Two legislation is effective and the 

disclosure of known or reasonably estimable information of their exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in which 

the legislation is enacted or substantively enacted but not yet in effect. Entities are required to disclose the information 

relating to their exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, but are not 

required to disclose such information for any interim periods ending on or before 31 December 2023. The Group has 

applied the amendments retrospectively. Since the Group did not fall within the scope of the Pillar Two model rules, the 

amendments did not have any impact on the financial position or performance of the Group. 
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New and Revised HKFRSs in Issue But Not Yet Effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet 

effective, which may be relevant to the Group:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28  

(2011)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or 

Joint Venture3

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease liability in a Sale and Leaseback2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of liabilities as current or non-current (the “2020 

Amendments”)2, 4

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022 Amendments”)2

Amendments to HKAS 1 and  

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies1

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates1

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 

Transaction1

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption.
4 As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of the 2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2024. In addition, as a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kong 
Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements – Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment 
on Demand Clause was revised to align the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion.

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the Group is described below:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in 

HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. 

The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or 

contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction 

involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s 

profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are 

to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was 

removed by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after the completion of a 

broader review of accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for adoption now. 

The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a 

sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to 

the right of use it retains. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall 

be applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered into after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 

(i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact 

on the Group’s financial statements.
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New and Revised HKFRSs in Issue But Not Yet Effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying 

liabilities as current or non-current, in particular the determination over whether an entity has a right to defer settlement 

of the liabilities for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood 

that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability. The amendments also clarify the situations that are 

considered a settlement of a liability. In 2022, the HKICPA issued the 2022 Amendments to further clarify that, among 

covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply on or before 

the reporting date affect the classification of that liability as current or non-current. In addition, the 2022 Amendments 

require additional disclosures by an entity that classifies liabilities arising from loan arrangements as non-current when it 

has a right to defer settlement of those liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with future covenants within 12 

months after the reporting period. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 

and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. An entity that applies the 2020 Amendments early 

is required to apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently assessing the impact 

of the amendments and whether existing loan agreements may require revision. Based on a preliminary assessment, the 

amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require entities to disclose their material accounting policy 

information rather than their significant accounting policies. Accounting policy information is material if, when considered 

together with other information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence 

decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements. 

Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality 

to accounting policy disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2023 and earlier application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in the amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is 

non-mandatory, an effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The Group is currently revisiting the accounting 

policy disclosures to ensure consistency with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting 

policies. Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement 

uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop accounting 

estimates. The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to 

changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of that period. Earlier 

application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial 

statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies 

to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning 

obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is 

available)  and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising from these transactions. The amendments are 

effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied to transactions related 

to leases and decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented, with any 

cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or other component of equity as 

appropriate at that date. In addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively to transactions other than leases and 

decommissioning obligations. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant 

impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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The consolidated financial statements has been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, 

the consolidated financial statements includes applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing 

of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for land and buildings held 

for own use, investment properties and financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) that are 

measured at revalued amounts or fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies 

set out below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for services.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the 

Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved when the Company:

• has power over the investee;

• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to 

one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group 

loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year 

are included in the consolidated income statement from the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group 

ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non- 

controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the 

non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into 

line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of 

the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are 

accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant components of equity including 

reserves and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. 

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted after re-attribution of the relevant 

equity component and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to 

owners of the Company.
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BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the 

difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained 

interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the 

owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary 

are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified 

to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value 

of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on 

initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an 

investment in an associate.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business 

combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets 

transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests 

issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition related costs are generally recognised in profit or 

loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except 

that:

• deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and 

measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

• liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based 

payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are 

measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date; and

• assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held 

for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 

interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the 

net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the 

net amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, 

the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in 

the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the 

relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non- 

controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of 

measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. All other components of non-controlling interests shall 

be measured at their acquisition-date fair value.
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BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes a contingent consideration 

arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the 

consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify 

as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that 

arise from additional information obtained during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from the 

acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as 

measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration 

that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for 

within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at subsequent 

reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is 

remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting gain or 

loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising from interests 

in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income and 

measured under HKFRS 9 would be accounted for on the same basis as would be required if the Group had disposed 

directly of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 

combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those 

provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively, during the measurement period (see above), and additional assets or 

liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition 

date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated 

using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the 

characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the 

asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated 

financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope 

of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 16 Leases, and measurements 

that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic 

benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset 

in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are transacted at fair value and where a valuation technique 

that utilizes unobservable inputs is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation is calibrated so 

that at initial recognition the results of the valuation equals the transaction price.
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the 

degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair 

value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can 

access at the measurement date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES
An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting 

rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in 

the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights 

to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which 

exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position 

at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are 

made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results 

and other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is included in the consolidated statement of profit or 

loss and consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there has been a change recognised 

directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, 

in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the 

Group and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the associates or joint 

ventures, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising 

from the acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s investments in associates or joint 

ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not 

remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss 

of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any 

retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon 

loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is 

recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with 

HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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REVENUE RECOGNITION
Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” 
of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer. A performance 
obligation represents a good and service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or 
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards complete 
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

• the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group 
performs;

• the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

• the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an 
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that the Group has 
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In 
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required 
before payment of that consideration is due. A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or 
services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the 
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Brokerage
The Group provides securities, options, futures, funds and commodities brokerage services to the customers. Commission 
income is recognised at a point in time on the execution date of the trades at a certain percentage of the transaction value 
of the trades executed. For brokerage related services fee, income is recognised when the transaction is executed and 
service is completed.

Corporate finance and equity capital market fee income
The Group provides placing and underwriting services to listed issuers. Revenue is recognised when the relevant placing 
and underwriting activities are completed. Accordingly, the revenue is recognised at a point in time.

Recognition of sponsor fee income at a point in time or over time depends on the specific terms in the contract with 
the customer and the enforceability of the contract terms. In determining the timing of satisfaction of the performance 
obligation, the Group examines its services on a contract by contract basis and considers if it has a right to payment at 
an amount that reasonably compensates it for its performance completed to date at all times throughout the contract. For 
sponsor fee income recognised at a point in time, the fee income will only be recognised when all the relevant duties 
of a sponsor as stated in the contract are completed. For sponsor fee income recognised over time, the Group measures 
the progress using the output method and estimates the percentage of completion by key tasks performed to date. The 
progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured based on output method, which is to 
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value of the goods or services transferred to the customer to 
date relative to the remaining goods or services promised under the contract, that best depicts the Group’s performance in 
transferring control of goods or services.
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REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued)

Corporate finance and equity capital market fee income (Continued)

The Group also provides other corporate finance advisory services, and the recognition of advisory fee income at a point 

in time or over time depends on the performance obligation of the contract. The performance obligations for certain 

corporate finance advisory services are fulfilled when all the relevant duties of the Group as stated in the contract are 

completed. Certain corporate finance advisory services’ performance obligations are satisfied as services rendered if the 

customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group. The Group measures the progress 

using the output method and estimates the percentage of completion by key tasks performed to date. The progress towards 

complete satisfaction of a performance obligation is measured based on output method, which is to recognise revenue on 

the basis of direct measurements of the value of the goods or services transferred to the customer to date relative to the 

remaining goods or services promised under the contract, that best depicts the Group’s performance in transferring control 

of goods or service.

Other income

Asset management fees are recognised over time.

Miscellaneous fee income is recognised at a point in time when all the relevant services has been rendered.

Interest income

The Group provides margin financing, fixed-rate and factoring loans to its customers. Interest income is recognised on an 

accrual basis using the effective interest method as described in the accounting policy of financial instruments.

Rental income

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term as described in the accounting policy of leasing.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The trading rights in the Stock Exchange, the B-Shares Special Seat of Shenzhen Stock Exchange, the B-Shares Tangible 

Trading Seat of Shanghai Stock Exchange, PRC license and non-redeemable club memberships have indefinite useful lives 

and are recognised as intangible assets in the consolidated statement of financial position. They are carried at cost less 

impairment losses and are tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the intangible assets 

may be impaired by comparing their recoverable amounts with their carrying amounts.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured at the difference between the net disposal 

proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is 

derecognised.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and 

demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are 

subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months when 

acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and 

at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position when a group 

entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets 

are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial 

assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for accounts receivable arising from 

contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly 

attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial 

liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial 

liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets 

or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and 

of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 

exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form 

an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life 

of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial 

recognition.

Interest and dividend income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

Financial assets

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of HKFRS 9 are subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair 

value. Such measurement basis depends on the Group’s business model for managing financial assets and the contractual 

cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost only if both of the following conditions are met:

– it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and

– the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash 

flows and selling financial assets, and that have contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 

solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”).

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial recognition of a financial 

asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not 

held for trading and is not contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination) in other comprehensive 

income (“OCI”), with only dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

• it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near term; or

• on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together 

and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a debt investment that meets the amortised cost or FVTOCI criteria as 

measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets measured subsequently at 

amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a 

financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial 

assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective 

interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit 

impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income 

is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the 

beginning of the reporting period following the determination that the asset is no longer credit impaired.

(ii) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as 

FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or 

losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest 

earned on the financial asset and is included in the “net gain/(loss) on financial assets and liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss” line items in the income statement.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 

(including accounts, loans and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, bank balances and cash – trust accounts, 

contract assets and other assets). The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk 

since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the relevant 

instrument. In contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that 

are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments are made based on the Group’s historic credit loss 

experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both 

the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for accounts receivable and contract assets (if any) that result from transactions 

within the scope of HKFRS 15 of which do not contain a significant financing component or when the Group applies the 

practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component and the ECL on these assets are assessed 

individually for debtors with significant balances and/or collectively using a provision matrix for debtors having similar 

credit ratings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant 

increase in credit risk since initial recognition where the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether 

lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since 

initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk 

of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the 

financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative 

and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking 

information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased 

significantly:

• significant changes in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular financial instrument or similar financial 

instruments with the same expected life;

• an actual or expected significant change in the financial instrument’s external credit rating;

• an actual or expected internal credit rating downgrade for the borrower;

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a 

significant change in the borrower’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

• an actual or expected significant change in the operating results of the borrower;

• an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the 

borrower that results in a significant change in the borrower’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

• significant changes in the value of the collateral supporting the obligation or in the quality of third-party guarantees 

or credit enhancements;
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

• an actual or expected significant change in the quality of credit enhancement;

• significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour of the borrower.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly 

since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and 

supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant increase 

in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in 

credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For amounts due from margin clients, the Group considers an event of default occurs when margin call performed and 

balance outstanding for more than 30 days.

For other instruments, the Group considers that default has occurred when the instrument is more than 90 days past due, 

unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates that a more lagging default criterion is 

more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash 

flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data 

about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, 

having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial 

difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been placed under 

liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of accounts receivables, when the amounts are over 

two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities 

under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a 

derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Modification

Where the original contractual terms of a financial asset have been modified for credit reasons and the instrument has not 

been derecognised (an instrument is derecognised when a modification results in a change in cash flows that the Group 

would consider substantial), the resulting modification loss is recognised in profit or loss with a corresponding decrease in 

the gross carrying value of the asset.

Expected credit loss for modified financial assets that have not been derecognised and are not considered to be credit- 

impaired will be recognised on a 12-month basis, or a lifetime basis, if there is a significant increase in credit risk. These 

assets are assessed to determine whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk subsequent to the modification. 

In addition to the recognition of modification gains and losses, the revised carrying value of modified financial assets will 

impact the calculation of expected credit losses, with any increase or decrease in expected credit loss recognised.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there 

is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given default are based on 

historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in 

accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest 

rate determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit 

impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

In assessing the lifetime ECL for financial assets, the Group performs the assessment based on the Group’s historical 

credit loss experience, adjusted for factors specific to the borrowers and the current conditions at the reporting date. The 

Group also reviews the value of collateral received from the customers in measuring impairment. The methodology and 

assumptions used for estimating the impairment amount are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss 

estimates and actual loss experience.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or 

when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. 

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the 

transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have 

to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group 

continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the 

consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety, the Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the 

financial asset between the part it continues to recognise, and the part it no longer recognises on the basis of the relative 

fair values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference between the carrying amount allocated to the part that is 

no longer recognised and the sum of the consideration received for the part no longer recognised is recognised in profit or 

loss.

The Group derecognised financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 

have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration 

paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity 

in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an 

equity instrument. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after 

deducting all of its liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities are generally classified into financial liabilities at FVTPL, net 

assets attributable to holders of non-controlling interests in consolidated investment funds and other financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is either held for trading or it is designated as 

at FVTPL on initial recognition. A financial liability is classified as held for trading if it has been acquired principally for 

the purpose of repurchasing it in the near future, or on initial recognition it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial 

instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking, or it is a derivative 

that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in profit 

or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any interest paid on the financial liabilities.

Net assets attributable to holders of non-controlling interests in consolidated investment funds

A financial instrument that gives the holder the right to put it back to the issuer for cash or another financial asset (a ‘puttable 

instrument’) is a financial liability. The financial instrument is a financial liability even when the amount of cash or other 

financial assets is determined on the basis of an index or other item that has the potential to increase or decrease. The 

existence of an option for the holder to put the instrument back to the issuer for cash or another financial asset means that 

the puttable instrument meets the definition of a financial liability. Net assets attributable to holders of non-controlling 

interests in consolidated investment funds are designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss as 

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise 

arise.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including bank loans and accounts and other payables) are subsequently measured at amortised 

cost using the effective interest method, unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such case, the liabilities 

are stated at cost.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its 

liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is 

recognised on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

PROPERTIES AND EQUIPMENT

(i) Land and buildings held for own use

Land and buildings held for own use are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at their revalued 

amounts, being the fair value at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and 

accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying 

amounts do not differ materially from those which would be determined using fair values at the end of the reporting 

period.

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of such land and buildings held for own use is recognised in 

other comprehensive income, and accumulated in properties revaluation reserve except to the extent that it reverses 

a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case the increase is 

credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease previously expensed. A decrease in the carrying amount arising 

on the revaluation for such land and buildings held for own use is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it 

exceeds the balance, if any, on the properties revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset. 

On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued property, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the 

properties revaluation reserve is transferred directly to retained earnings.

(ii) Equipment

Equipment, comprising leasehold improvements, furniture and fixtures and office equipment, is stated at cost less 

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any.

Equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the 

continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of equipment is determined as the 

difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in profit or loss.
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PROPERTIES AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

(iii) Depreciation

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or revalued amount of property and equipment less their 

residual values, if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Land and buildings held for own use Shorter of the remaining lease terms or 50 years

Leasehold improvements Shorter of the lease terms or 5 years

Furniture and fixtures 20%

Office equipment 20%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting 

period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 

investment properties are measured at fair value. All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases to earn 

rentals are accounted for as investment properties and are measured using the fair value model. Gains or losses arising 

from changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use 

and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property 

(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit 

or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

LEASES

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if 

the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases 

of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the 

right to use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the consideration 

in the contract to each lease and non-lease component on the basis of their stand-alone prices. A practical expedient is 

available to a lessee, which the Group has adopted, not to separate non-lease components and to account for the lease 

and the associated non-lease components (e.g., property management services for leases of properties) as a single lease 

component.
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LEASES (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is 

available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment 

losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of 

lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement 

date less any lease incentives received. Where applicable, the cost of a right-of-use asset also includes an estimate 

of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is 

located. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated 

useful lives of the assets as follows:

Land and buildings Over the lease terms

Office equipment Over the lease terms

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of 

a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be 

made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less 

any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected 

to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option 

reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease 

term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an 

index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment 

occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease 

commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the 

commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for 

the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, 

a change in the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting from a 

change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

(c) Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of office premises (that is those 

leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase 

option).

Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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LEASES (Continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as 

either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset 

are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the 

consideration in the contract to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted 

for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the consolidated income statement due to 

its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying 

amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are 

recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to 

the lessee are accounted for as finance leases. At the commencement date, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the 

present value of the minimum lease payments and related payments (including the initial direct costs), and presented as a 

receivable at an amount equal to the net investment in the lease.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is classified as a finance lease or operating lease with reference to 

the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the on- 

balance sheet recognition exemption, the Group classifies the sublease as an operating lease.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS AND DISPOSAL GROUPS HELD FOR SALE

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered 

principally through a sales transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be the case, the asset or disposal 

group must be available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary 

for the sale of such assets or disposal groups and its sale must be highly probable. All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary 

classified as a disposal group are reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the Group retains a non-controlling 

interest in its former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than investment properties and financial assets) classified as held for sale 

are measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property, plant and equipment and 

intangible assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised. 



Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited   Annual Report 2023

65

For the year ended 30 June 2023

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether 

there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 

amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. In addition, intangible assets 

with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset 

may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. The recoverable amount of tangible 

assets and intangible assets are estimated individually when it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an 

individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual 

cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable 

and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 

rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the 

estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than its 

carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised 

immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of 

its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 

been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. An accrual is made for the 

estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting 

period. Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as a liability when the Group has a present legal or constructive 

obligation as a result of services rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made. 

Liabilities for bonus payments are expected to be settled within 12 months and are measured at the amounts 

expected to be paid when they are settled.
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EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

(iii) Defined contribution pension plan obligations

The Group operates a defined-contribution pension scheme (“MPF Scheme”) since 1 December 2000 under the 

rules and regulations of the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the 

MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group has 

chosen to follow the minimum statutory contribution requirement of 5% of eligible employees’ relevant aggregate 

income subject to the relevant monthly income cap of HK$30,000 imposed by the MPF Scheme Ordinance. 

Payments to the MPF Scheme are charged as expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the 

contributions and are reduced by contributions forfeited, if applicable, by those employees who leave the scheme 

prior to the contributions becoming fully vested.

(iv) Social security system

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in PRC are required to participate in a central pension 

scheme operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute certain 

percentage of its payroll costs, depending on the location of the subsidiaries, of their payroll costs to the central 

pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the income statement as they become payable in accordance 

with the rules of the central pension scheme.

TAXATION

Income tax expenses represent the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from “profit/loss before tax” as 

reported in the consolidated income statement because of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years 

and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have 

been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 

consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax 

liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all 

deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those 

deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 

difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and 

liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and 

associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the 

temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary 

differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there 

will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to 

reverse in the foreseeable future.
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3 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

TAXATION (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is 

no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the 

liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 

by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences 

that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the 

carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment properties that are measured using the fair value model, the 

carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is 

rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is held within a business model 

whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time, 

rather than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 

current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to 

settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other 

comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other 

comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received 

and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is deducted in reporting 

the related expense on a systematic basis over the periods that the cost, which it is intended to compensate.

PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it is 

probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 

obligation. Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the 

end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is 

measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those 

cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, 

a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the 

receivable can be measured reliably.
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3 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are 

identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s senior executive management for the purpose 

of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business. Individually material 

operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar economic 

characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services. Operating segments which are not 

individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s 

functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the 

transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 

the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are 

retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured 

in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary item, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are 

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange differences on monetary items 

receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (and therefore 

forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income 

and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the Group’s interest in associates.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations 

are translated into the presentation currency of the Group, (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at 

the end of the reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates for the year, 

unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the 

dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and 

accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation, all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation 

attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss. In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of 

a subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated 

exchange differences is re-attributed to non-controlling interests and is not recognised in profit or loss. For all other 

partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the Group losing significant 

influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.
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4 Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are investment in securities, securities broking and margin financing, provision of 

financial advisory services, money lending, other securities related financial services and leasing of investment properties.

   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from contracts with customers

Commission and fee income

– securities, options, funds, futures and commodities brokerage 6,851 15,870

– underwriting and placements in equity capital markets 868 321

– corporate finance 4,626 23,150

– asset management 86 121

– miscellaneous fee income 2,897 5,164
   

15,328 44,626
   

Revenue from other sources

Interest income arising from financial assets at amortised cost

– bank deposits 11,516 752

– margin and cash clients 408 5,994

– loans 4,120 9,144

– others 787 58
   

16,831 15,948
   

Interest income arising from debt securities at fair value through profit or loss 1,133 1,552

Dividend income 4,177 3,796

Rental income 3,273 3,004
   

25,414 24,300
   

40,742 68,926
   

BROKING SERVICES

The Group provides broking services to customers on securities, options, funds, futures and commodities trading. 

Commission income from broking services is determined at a certain percentage of the transaction value of the trades 

executed and is recognised as income on the date the trades are executed. Normal settlement terms are one or two days 

after trade date, unless specifically agreed with counterparties.

CAPITAL MARKET SERVICES

The Group provides underwriting and placing services to customers, the revenue is recognised at a point in time. The 

service fee is charged when the relevant underwriting, sub-underwriting or financial products arrangement activities are 

completed.
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4 Revenue (Continued)

CORPORATE FINANCE SERVICES

The Group provides sponsor, financial and compliance advisory services to customers. During the year, the revenue for 

sponsor and financial advisory services are recognised over time or at a point in time, while for compliance advisory 

services is recognised over time.

For sponsor services, the Group considers that all the services promised in a particular contract of being a sponsor 

are interdependent and interrelated and should be therefore accounted for as a single performance obligation. For the 

contracts that provide the Group an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date, the sponsor fees are 

recognised over time by measuring the progress using the output method and estimating the percentage of completion 

by key tasks performed to date. For other sponsor contracts, as it is unlikely that a customer can obtain benefit before 

the Group completes all its services up to listing or the completion of the underlying transaction and since the contracts 

do not provide the Group an enforceable right to payment for performance completed up to date, the sponsor fees are 

recognised at a point in time upon listing or when the underlying transactions are completed. Payments are received by 

installments in accordance to the completion of milestones as specified in the mandate.

For certain advisory services, as the Group provides services and the customers simultaneously receives and consumes 

the benefit provided by the Group, the fee is recognised over time. For other advisory services of which the performance 

obligations are fulfilled when all the relevant duties of the Group as stated in the contract are completed, the fee is 

recognised at a point in time.

ASSET MANAGEMENT SERVICES

Asset management services to customers are recognised over time as the Group provides asset management services and 

the customers simultaneously receives and consumes the benefit provided by the Group. The asset management income is 

charged at a fixed percentage per annum of the asset value of the accounts under management of the Group.

MISCELLANEOUS FEE INCOME

The Group provides services in securities, futures and options trading and customer’s account handling. Miscellaneous fee 

including handling and other services fee income, which are recognised when the transaction are executed and services 

are completed.

TRANSACTION PRICE ALLOCATED TO THE REMAINING PERFORMANCE OBLIGATION FOR 

CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

The Group applied the practical expedient for contracts either with original expected duration less than one year and 

did not disclose the aggregate amount of transaction price allocated to performance obligations of the broking, capital 

market, corporate finance and asset management services that are unsatisfied (or partly unsatisfied). The performance fee 

arising from asset management services which are constrained as at 30 June 2023 has been excluded from the transaction 

price and hence not disclosed. For the year ended 30 June 2023, there was no revenue recognised (2022: Nil) from 

performance obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied) in previous periods.
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4 Revenue (Continued)

DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE

The following illustrates the disaggregated revenue information of the Group’s revenue from contracts with customers:

For the year ended 30 June 2023

      

Segments

Brokerage

and financing

Corporate

finance and

capital markets

Asset

management Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Type of services

Brokerage service 6,851 – – – 6,851

Capital market service – 868 – – 868

Corporate finance service – 4,626 – – 4,626

Asset management service – – 86 – 86

Other services 2,131 – – 766 2,897
      

Total revenue from contracts with customers 8,982 5,494 86 766 15,328
      

Geographical markets

Hong Kong 8,340 5,494 86 766 14,686

Other countries 642 – – – 642
      

Total revenue from contracts with customers 8,982 5,494 86 766 15,328
      

Timing of revenue recognition

Services transferred at a point in time 8,982 1,807 – – 10,789

Services transferred over time – 3,687 86 766 4,539
      

Total revenue from contracts with customers 8,982 5,494 86 766 15,328
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4 Revenue (Continued)

DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2022

      

Segments

Brokerage

and financing

Corporate

finance and

capital markets

Asset

management Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Type of services

Brokerage service 15,870 – – – 15,870

Capital market service – 321 – – 321

Corporate finance service – 23,150 – – 23,150

Asset management service – – 121 – 121

Other services 3,844 560 – 760 5,164
      

Total revenue from contracts with customers 19,714 24,031 121 760 44,626
      

Geographical markets

Hong Kong 18,646 24,031 121 760 43,558

Other countries 1,068 – – – 1,068
      

Total revenue from contracts with customers 19,714 24,031 121 760 44,626
      

Timing of revenue recognition

Services transferred at a point in time 19,714 18,461 – – 38,175

Services transferred over time – 5,570 121 760 6,451
      

Total revenue from contracts with customers 19,714 24,031 121 760 44,626
      

5 Net loss on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Listed equity securities (27,608) (11,717)

Listed debt securities (835) (11,828)

Listed derivatives 1,565 6,236

Bond funds (473) (3,703)

Unlisted investment funds (3,293) (5,887)

Overseas unlisted equity securities  2,622 4,288
   

(28,022) (22,611)
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6 Other income and gain or losses

   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Exchange loss (net) (924) (1,964)

Others 659 1,548
   

(265) (416)
   

7 Loss before tax

Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):

   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

(a) Finance costs:

Interest on:

– unsecured bank loans wholly repayable within  

  one month and overdrafts 8 39

– secured bank loans wholly repayable within one year 3,550 1,153

– others 1,914 208

– lease liabilities 48 78
   

5,520 1,478
   

(b) Net impairment losses on financial instruments:

Accounts, loans and other receivables 10,126 30,711
   

10,126 30,711
   

(c) Staff costs, including directors’ remuneration:

Salaries and other allowances 38,749 44,179

Less: Government grants* (520) (1,040)
   

38,229 43,139

Pension costs – defined contribution plan 1,051 1,239
   

39,280 44,378
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7 Loss before tax (Continued)

   
2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

(d) Other items:
Depreciation (note 14) 10,614 11,993
Lease payments not included in the measurement of  
 lease liabilities (note 27b) 229 615
Auditors’ remuneration 3,353 3,110
Impairment loss on goodwill 1,073 –
Impairment loss on intangible assets 30 –

   

* Government grant was received for the Employment Support Scheme to provide time-limited financial support to employers to 
retain employees who may otherwise be made redundant. The government grant received was deducted from the salaries and 
other allowances to which they relate. The Group is required to undertake and warrant that they will not implement redundancies 
during the subsidy period and spend all the wages subsidies on paying salaries to their employees.

8 Segment reporting

Information reported to senior management of the Company for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment 
of segment performance, focuses on the types of services provided. Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating 
segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

Proprietary investment : Investment in securities for treasury and liquidity management, and structured deals 
including listed and unlisted equities, debt securities, bond funds and investment 
funds

Property investment : Investment in properties for receiving rental income and capital appreciation

Brokerage and financing : Provision of securities, options, funds, futures and commodities brokerage services, 
margin and other financing, factoring and other related services

Corporate finance and  
capital markets

: Provision of financial advisory services to corporate clients in connection with the 
Listing Rules and acting as underwriting and placing agent in the equity capital 
market

Asset management : Provision of asset management and related advisory services to private equity funds 
and private clients

Others : Provision of management, administrative and corporate secretarial services, inter-
group loan financing and inter-group office service

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3 
to the consolidated financial statements. Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments separately 
for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is 
evaluated based on reportable segment profit/loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax. The adjusted 
profit/(loss) before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax except that share of profits/(losses)
of associates and a joint venture and changes on non-controlling interests in consolidated investment funds are excluded 
from such measurement, and the segment assets are measured consistently with the Group’s total assets except that 
inter-company balances are excluded from such measurement. Inter-segment revenues are charged among segments at 
an agreed rate with reference to the rate normally charged to third party customers, the nature of services or the costs 
incurred. Segment liabilities are not presented as they are not regularly reviewed by senior management.
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8 Segment reporting (Continued)

        

2023
 

Proprietary

investment

Property

investment

Brokerage

and financing

Corporate

finance and

capital 

markets

Asset

management Others Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segmental income statement

Commission and fee income – – 8,982 5,494 86 766 15,328

Interest income arising from financial assets  

at amortised cost 719 249 15,447 24 5 387 16,831

Interest income arising from debt securities at fair value 

through profit or loss 1,133 – – – – – 1,133

Other income 4,177 3,273 – – – – 7,450

Inter-segment revenue 520 – 1,219 – 3,420 13,823 18,982
        

Segment revenue 6,549 3,522 25,648 5,518 3,511 14,976 59,724

Net (loss)/gain on financial assets and liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss (28,024) – 2 – – – (28,022)

Other income and gain or losses (20) (377) (708) 2 895 (57) (265)

Eliminations (520) – (1,219) – (3,420) (13,823) (18,982)
        

(22,015) 3,145 23,723 5,520 986 1,096 12,455
        

Segment results (40,100) (1,423) (14,991) (8,495) (2,576) (13,037) (80,622)
       

Gain on disposal of an associate 4,630 – – – – – 4,630

Share of loss of a joint venture – (8) – – – – (8)

Share of (loss)/profit of associates (4,858) 485 136 – – – (4,237)

Changes on non-controlling interests in consolidated 

investment funds 1,056 – – – – – 1,056
 

Loss before tax (79,181)
 

Segment assets

Segment assets 377,275 115,599 650,393 6,570 4,811 328,502 1,483,150

Eliminations (45,219)
 

Total assets 1,437,931
 

Other segmental information

Depreciation 6 – 37 38 953 9,580 10,614
        

Addition to non-current assets* – 1,500 – – – 331 1,831
        

Net impairment losses on financial instruments – – 9,892 234 – – 10,126
        

Commission expenses 759 – 1,348 – – – 2,107
        

Finance costs 247 – 2,197 – 39 3,037 5,520
        

* Addition to non-current assets consists of additions to property and equipment, interest in a joint venture and interests in associates.
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8 Segment reporting (Continued)

        

2022
 

Proprietary

investment

Property

investment

Brokerage

and financing

Corporate

finance and

capital 

markets

Asset

management Others Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segmental income statement

Commission and fee income – – 19,714 24,031 121 760 44,626

Interest income arising from financial assets  

at amortised cost 1,052 666 14,222 4 4 – 15,948

Interest income arising from debt securities at fair value 

through profit or loss 1,552 – – – – – 1,552

Other income 3,796 3,004 – – – – 6,800

Inter-segment revenue – – 1,654 – 3,806 18,886 24,346
        

Segment revenue 6,400 3,670 35,590 24,035 3,931 19,646 93,272

Net (loss)/gain on financial assets and liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss (22,672) – 61 – – – (22,611)

Other income and gain or losses 272 (1,406) (879) 1,684 603 (690) (416)

Eliminations – – (1,654) – (3,806) (18,886) (24,346)
        

(16,000) 2,264 33,118 25,719 728 70 45,899
        

Segment results (37,106) (3,066) (31,458) 7,326 (969) (8,888) (74,161)
       

Share of loss of a joint venture – (184) – – – – (184)

Share of (loss)/profit of associates (1,611) 56 819 – – – (736)

Changes on non-controlling interests in consolidated 

investment fund (550) – – – – – (550)
 

Loss before tax (75,631)
 

Segment assets

Segment assets 376,272 114,593 827,212 16,606 8,844 328,655 1,672,182

Eliminations (6,480)
 

Total assets 1,665,702
 

Other segmental information

Depreciation 6 – 50 44 1,038 10,855 11,993
        

Addition to non-current assets* 14,852 22,500 26 – – 1,162 38,540
        

Net impairment losses on financial instruments (69) – 29,956 822 – 2 30,711
        

Commission expenses 1,176 – 3,843 80 – – 5,099
        

Finance costs 236 – 55 – 55 1,132 1,478
        

* Addition to non-current assets consists of additions to property and equipment, interest in a joint venture and interest in associates.
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8 Segment reporting (Continued)

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

The following illustrates the geographical analysis of the Group’s revenue from external customers, based on the location 

from which the transactions are executed, and information about its non-current assets (excluding loans to and amounts 

due from associates, other assets, financial assets at FVTPL and deferred tax assets), based on the location of assets.

     

Revenue Non-current assets

2023 2022 2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong 35,585 61,522 406,786 473,921

Mainland China 4,210 5,675 35,101 43,044

Others 947 1,729 1,564 1,146
     

40,742 68,926 443,451 518,111
     

9 Income tax (credit)/expenses

(a) INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT REPRESENTS:

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits 

arising in Hong Kong during the year ended 30 June 2023 and 2022, except for one subsidiary of the Group 

which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime for the year ended 30 June 2022. The first 

HK$2,000,000 of assessable profits of this subsidiary is taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are taxed 

at 16.5%. The charge for the year to Hong Kong Profits Tax has been relieved by approximately HK$97,000 (2022: 

HK$224,000) as a result of tax losses brought forward from previous years of HK$590,000 (2022: HK$1,359,000).
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9 Income tax (credit)/expenses (Continued)

(a) INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT REPRESENTS: (Continued)

Under the law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise Income tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation 

Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the subsidiaries in mainland China is 25%.

   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax

– Hong Kong – 177

– Mainland China – 3
   

– 180

Overprovision in prior years (11) (13)

Deferred tax (note 30) (230) 2,898
   

(Credit)/charge (241) 3,065
   

(b) RECONCILIATION BETWEEN INCOME TAX EXPENSES AND ACCOUNTING PROFIT AT APPLICABLE TAX 

RATES:

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss before tax in the consolidated income statement as follows:

   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before tax (79,181) (75,631)

Changes on non-controlling interests in consolidated investment funds (1,056) 550
   

(80,237) (75,081)
   

Tax at the domestic income tax rate (13,239) (12,388)

Tax relief of 8.25% on first HK$2 million assessable profits – (96)

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions (379) (1,366)

Losses attributable to associates and joint venture 700 151

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 3,603 4,869

Tax effect of non-taxable income (3,825) (2,111)

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not previously recognised (97) (224)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 12,247 11,703

Over provision in prior years (11) (13)

Temporary difference not recognised 990 1,000

Others (230) 1,540
   

(241) 3,065
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10 Directors’ and management’s emoluments

(a) DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid to each of 7 (2022: 7) directors and the chief executive officer were as follows:

      
2023

     

Fees

Salaries,
commissions

and other
allowances Bonuses

Retirement
scheme

contributions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note)

Chairman
Jonathan Koon Shum Choi 1,200 – – – 1,200
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
Michael Koon Ming Choi – 2,280 – 78 2,358
Non-Executive Directors
Janice Wing Kum Kwan 200 – – – 200
Lee G. Lam 200 – – – 200
Independent Non-Executive Directors
Robert Tsai To Sze 200 – – – 200
Elizabeth Law 200 – – – 200
Huanfei Guan 200 – – – 200
      

2,200 2,280 – 78 4,558
      

      
2022

     

Fees

Salaries,
commissions

and other
allowances Bonuses

Retirement
scheme

contributions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note)

Chairman
Jonathan Koon Shum Choi 1,200 – – – 1,200
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
Michael Koon Ming Choi – 2,280 – 78 2,358
Non-Executive Directors
Janice Wing Kum Kwan 200 – – – 200
Lee G. Lam 200 – – – 200
Independent Non-Executive Directors
Robert Tsai To Sze 200 – – – 200
Elizabeth Law 200 – – – 200
Huanfei Guan 200 – – – 200
      

2,200 2,280 – 78 4,558
      

Note: The discretionary bonus is determined by reference to the Group and the individual performance during the year. 
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10 Directors’ and management’s emoluments (Continued)

(a) DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The executive director’s emolument shown above was for his service in connection with the management of the 

affairs of the Company and the Group. The emoluments of the Chairman, non-executive directors and independent 

non-executive directors shown above were for their services as directors of the Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the current 

and previous years. There were no emoluments paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join or upon 

joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the directors received or will receive any retirement 

and termination benefits during the current and previous years.

(b) EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (EXCLUDING COMMISSIONS)

In 2023, the five individuals whose emoluments (excluding commissions) were the highest in the Group included 

2 directors (2022: 2 directors) whose emolument (excluding commissions) received in his capacity as director of 

the Company was reflected in the analysis presented above. There were no emoluments paid by the Group to the 

individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. The amounts 

included the deferred element of the variable remuneration. The emoluments (excluding commissions) payable to 3 

(2022: 3) individuals during the year are as follows:

   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, other allowances and benefits in kind 4,677 4,668

Bonuses 115 60

Retirement scheme contributions 129 114
   

4,921 4,842
   

The emoluments are within the following bands:

   

2023 2022

Number of 

individuals

Number of 

individuals

HK$1,000,001 – HK$1,500,000 1 1

HK$1,500,001 – HK$2,000,000 2 2
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11 Dividends

(a) DIVIDENDS PAID AND PAYABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY FOR THE YEAR

   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interim dividend paid of 1 HK cent per share (2022: 1 HK cent  

per share) 7,396 7,304

Final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period of  

1 HK cent per share (2022: 1 HK cent per share) 7,396 7,304
   

14,792 14,608
   

The final dividend proposed by the directors is subject to approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming general 

meeting.

(b) DIVIDENDS RECOGNISED AS DISTRIBUTIONS DURING THE YEAR

   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Final dividend in respect of the previous financial year, approved and 

paid of 1 HK cent per share (2022: 1.5 HK cents per share) 7,304 10,792

Interim dividend paid of 1 HK cent per share (2022: 1 HK cent  

per share) 7,396 7,304
   

14,700 18,096
   

The Company offered its shareholders the option of receiving their dividends in the form of scrip for the 2022 final 

dividend. The Company paid HK$4,495,000 in cash and issued 9,178,182 new shares in January 2023 for the 

distribution of the dividend.

12 Loss per share

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss

Loss for the purposes of basic and diluted loss per share  

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company (78,497) (78,069)
   

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic and 

diluted loss per share 734,491,959 724,338,555
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13 Investment properties

  

HK$’000

At 1 July 2021 82,574

Net change in fair value recognised in profit or loss (3,521)
  

At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 79,053

Net change in fair value recognised in profit or loss (2,886)
  

At 30 June 2023 76,167
  

The investment properties are held on lease of less than 50 years remaining. All of the Group’s property interests held 

under operating leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured using the fair value model and are 

classified and accounted for as investment properties.

The investment properties represent a shop located at Shop A, 1st Floor, COS Centre, 56 Tsun Yip Street, Kowloon, Hong 

Kong, the office property located at Room 801, Building A, Beijing Fortune Plaza, No. 7 Dongsanhuan Zhong Road, 

Chaoyang District, Beijing, 100020, PRC and a car parking space No. P34 on 5th Floor, COS Centre, 56 Tsuen Yip Street, 

Kowloon, Hong Kong.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF THE GROUP’S INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is 

available. The Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation. Management works closely with the 

qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The Chief Financial 

Officer reports management’s findings to the Board of Directors of the Company every half year to explain the cause of 

fluctuations in the fair value of the investment properties.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022 was arrived at on the basis of a 

valuation carried out on the respective date by RHL Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer not 

connected to the Group who has appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of similar properties in 

the relevant locations.

The fair value of investment properties situated in Hong Kong and mainland China classified as level 3 under the fair 

value hierarchy was determined based on the direct comparison approach where comparison is made based on prices 

realised on actual sales and/or asking prices of comparable properties. Comparable properties of similar size, scale, 

nature, character and location are analysed and weighted against all the respective advantages and disadvantages of each 

property in order to arrive at a fair comparison of market value.
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13 Investment properties (Continued)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF THE GROUP’S INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The following table gives information about how the fair value of these investment properties is determined (in particular, 

the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are 

categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable.

Investment properties 
held by the Group

Fair value 
hierarchy

Valuation techniques 
and key inputs Significant unobservable inputs

Relationship of 
significant 
unobservable inputs 
to fair value

Commercial properties Level 3 Direct comparison 
method based on market 
observable transactions 
and adjusted to reflect the 
conditions and locations 
of the subject properties

The key inputs are:
(1)  Floor level adjustment  

2023: -5% to 1% 
(2022: -5% to 1%)

(2)  View adjustment  
2023: -3% to 0% 
(2022: -3% to 0%)

(3)  Size adjustment  
2023: -8% to 2% 
(2022: -13% to 2%)

(4)  Time adjustment  
2023: -10% to 0% 
(2022: -5% to -1%)

(5)  Asking price adjustment#  
2023: -5% 
(2022: -5%)

Valuation of properties 
is affected by the key 
input used, other than 
time adjustment, higher 
quality properties will 
lead to higher premium 
and result in a higher 
fair value measurement.

# The key input adjustment is only applicable to the property located in mainland China.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the highest and best use of the investment properties is their 

current use. No sensitivity analysis of investment properties is disclosed as in the opinion of the directors of the Company, 

the impact to the consolidated financial statements is insignificant.

There were no transfers between level 1, 2 and 3 in the current and prior years.
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14 Properties and equipment
          

Right-of-use assets Owned assets
  

Land and
buildings held

for own use
Office

equipment Total

Land and
buildings held

for own use
Leasehold

improvements
Furniture

and fixtures
Office

equipment Total Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost or valuation:
At 1 July 2021 8,241 524 8,765 343,710 17,182 1,585 11,466 373,943 382,708
Exchange adjustments (109) – (109) – (12) – (6) (18) (127)
Additions – 651 651 – 490 – 47 537 1,188
Elimination on revaluation – – – (9,264) – – – (9,264) (9,264)
Surplus on revaluation – – – 7,531 – – – 7,531 7,531
Written off (3,733) (524) (4,257) – (334) – (15) (349) (4,606)
          
At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 4,399 651 5,050 341,977 17,326 1,585 11,492 372,380 377,430
Exchange adjustments (350) – (350) – (38) – (23) (61) (411)
Additions – – – – 9 – 322 331 331
Elimination on revaluation – – – (9,125) – – – (9,125) (9,125)
Deficit on revaluation – – – (11,934) – – – (11,934) (11,934)
Reclassified to assets held for sale (4,049) – (4,049) – (434) – (38) (472) (4,521)
          
At 30 June 2023 – 651 651 320,918 16,863 1,585 11,753 351,119 351,770
          
Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 July 2021 3,090 350 3,440 – 16,675 1,523 10,602 28,800 32,240
Exchange adjustments (37) – (37) – (6) – (6) (12) (49)
Charge for the year 1,926 167 2,093 9,264 249 30 357 9,900 11,993
Elimination on revaluation – – – (9,264) – – – (9,264) (9,264)
Written off (3,733) (495) (4,228) – (334) – (15) (349) (4,577)
          
At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 1,246 22 1,268 – 16,584 1,553 10,938 29,075 30,343
Exchange adjustments (130) – (130) – (22) – (21) (43) (173)
Charge for the year 841 130 971 9,125 229 26 263 9,643 10,614
Elimination on revaluation – – – (9,125) – – – (9,125) (9,125)
Reclassified to assets held for sale (1,957) – (1,957) – (315) – (35) (350) (2,307)
          
At 30 June 2023 – 152 152 – 16,476 1,579 11,145 29,200 29,352
          
Carrying values:
At 30 June 2023 – 499 499 320,918 387 6 608 321,919 322,418
          
At 30 June 2022 3,153 629 3,782 341,977 742 32 554 343,305 347,087
          
Representing:
Cost – 651 651 – 16,863 1,585 11,753 30,201 30,852
Valuation – – – 320,918 – – – 320,918 320,918
          
At 30 June 2023 – 651 651 320,918 16,863 1,585 11,753 351,119 351,770
          
Representing:
Cost 4,399 651 5,050 – 17,326 1,585 11,492 30,403 35,453
Valuation – – – 341,977 – – – 341,977 341,977
          
At 30 June 2022 4,399 651 5,050 341,977 17,326 1,585 11,492 372,380 377,430
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14 Properties and equipment (Continued)

The Group’s interest in land and buildings held for own use represents two office units and a carparking space located 

in Hong Kong and mainland China (2022: two office units and a carparking space located in Hong Kong and mainland 

China) which are held on lease of less than 50 years remaining.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF THE GROUP’S LAND AND BUILDINGS

In estimating the fair value of the land and buildings held for own use, the Group uses market-observable data to the 

extent it is available. The Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation. Management works closely 

with the qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The Chief 

Financial Officer reports the management’s findings to the Board of Directors of the Company every half year to explain 

the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the land and buildings held for own use.

The fair value of the Group’s land and buildings as at 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022 has been arrived at on the basis of 

a valuation carried out on the respective date by RHL Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified professional valuer not 

connected to the Group who has appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of similar properties in 

the relevant locations.

The fair value of land and buildings held for own use situated in Hong Kong and mainland China classified as level 3 in 

the fair value hierarchy was determined based on the direct comparison approach where comparison is made based on 

prices realised on actual sales and/or asking prices of comparable properties. Comparable properties of similar size, scale, 

nature, character and location are analysed and weighted against all the respective advantages and disadvantages of each 

property in order to arrive at a fair comparison of market value.
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14 Properties and equipment (Continued)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF THE GROUP’S LAND AND BUILDINGS (Continued)

The following table gives information about how the fair value of these land and buildings held for own use is determined 

(in particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used), as well as the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value 

measurements are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are 

observable.

Land and buildings

held for own use held

by the Group

Fair value

hierarchy

Valuation techniques

and key inputs

Significant

unobservable inputs

Relationship of

significant

unobservable inputs

to fair value

Commercial properties Level 3 Direct comparison

method based on market

observable transactions

and adjusted to reflect

the conditions and

locations of the subject

properties

The key inputs are:

(1)  Floor level adjustment  

2023: -15% to 2% 

(2022: -8% to -2%)

(2)  View adjustment  

2023: 3% 

(2022: -10% to 5%)

(3)  Size adjustment  

2023: -9% to 8% 

(2022: -5% to 2%)

(4)  Time adjustment  

2023: -6% to 0% 

(2022: -2% to 2%)

(5)  Asking price adjustment# 

2023: -5% 

(2022: -5%)

Valuation of properties 

is affected by the key 

input used, other than 

time adjustment, higher 

quality properties will 

lead to higher premium 

and result in a higher 

fair value measurement.

# The key input adjustment is only applicable to the property located in mainland China.

There has been no change from the valuation technique used in the prior year. In estimating the fair value of the land and 

buildings held for own use, the highest and best use of the land and buildings held for own use is their current use. No 

sensitivity analysis of land and buildings held for own use is disclosed as in the opinion of the directors of the Company, 

the impact to the consolidated financial statements is insignificant.
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14 Properties and equipment (Continued)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF THE GROUP’S LAND AND BUILDINGS (Continued)

There were no transfer between level 1, 2 and 3 in the current and prior years.

The revaluation deficit of HK$11,934,000 (2022: surplus of HK$7,531,000), net of the related deferred tax of 

HK$3,539,000 (2022: HK$214,000) was charged (2022: credited) to the properties revaluation reserve. If land and 

buildings held for own use had not been revalued, they would have been included in these consolidated financial 

statements at historical cost less accumulated depreciation of HK$167,015,000 (2022: HK$171,720,000).

Land and buildings held for own use with a carrying amount of approximately HK$310 million (2022: HK$330 million) 

had been pledged to secure the bank facilities granted by the banks. As at 30 June 2023, the Group had secured bank 

overdraft of HK$66 million (2022: secured bank loan of HK$105 million).

15 Intangible assets
     

Club

memberships

Exchange

trading

rights PRC license Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost

At 1 July 2021, 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 1,490 1,555 269 3,314

Reclassified as asset held for sale – – (269) (269)
     

At 30 June 2023 1,490 1,555 – 3,045
     

Impairment

At 1 July 2021, 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 70 755 – 825

Impairment during the year 30 – – 30
     

At 30 June 2023 100 755 – 855
     

Carrying amount

At 30 June 2023 1,390 800 – 2,190
     

At 30 June 2022 1,420 800 269 2,489
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16 Goodwill
   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 July 1,121 1,149

Impairment during the year (1,073) –

Exchange realignment (48) (28)
   

At 30 June – 1,121
   

At 30 June

Cost 5,081 5,310

Accumulated impairment (5,081) (4,189)
   

Net carrying amount – 1,121
   

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL
As at 30 June 2022, the recoverable amount of the asset management cash-generating unit had been determined based 

on a value in use calculation using cash flow projection based on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved 

by senior management. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections was 26.08% which is determined 

based on the management’s expectation of the market development and future business plan and cash flows beyond the 

five-year period were extrapolated using a growth rate of 2%, which was the same as the long term average growth rate 

of the financial services industry. The discount rate used reflects specific risks relating to the unit and have taken into 

account of the risk of business uncertainties in the foreseeable future.

As at 30 June 2023, as a result of insufficient recoverable amount, the carrying value of goodwill reported in the asset 

management cash-generating unit of HK$1,121,000 was fully impaired.
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17 Interest in a joint venture

INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost of investment in a joint venture 24,000 22,500

Share of post acquisition loss (192) (184)
   

Carrying amount of investment in a joint venture 23,808 22,316
   

The Group entered into a Cooperation Framework Agreement with its business partner in December 2021 to set up a 

project company to acquire a Hong Kong incorporated property holding company. The Group holds 20% shareholding 

interest in the project company. The board of directors of the project company consists of two directors, one of whom was 

appointed by the Group. Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Agreement signed in April 2022, decisions regarding the activities 

of the project company are subject to the unanimous consent of the directors of both parties. As a result, the investment 

was classified as an investment in a joint venture. The acquisition of the Hong Kong company was completed in May 

2022. The major asset of the joint venture is two parcels of land located in Hong Kong acquired at the consideration of 

HK$110 million which are held by its wholly owned subsidiary.

The following list contains only the particulars of a joint venture which is unlisted corporate entity, which principally 

affected the results or assets of the Group:

       

Name

Form of

business

structure

Place of

incorporation/

operations

Principal

activities

Particulars of 

issued

and fully paid

share capital

Proportion of

voting rights held

by the Group

Interest

indirectly

held

2023 2022 2023 2022

Empire Elite Group Limited Incorporated BVI Investment 

holding

US$50,000 20% 20% 20% 20%

         

Summarised financial information of a joint venture:

INFORMATION OF A JOINT VENTURE

      

Assets Liabilities Net assets Revenue Loss

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2023

100 per cent 119,292 250 119,042 – (40)

Group’s effective interest 23,858 50 23,808 – (8)
      

2022

100 per cent 111,582 – 111,582 – (918)

Group’s effective interest 22,316 – 22,316 – (184)
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18 Interests in associates, amount due from associates and loans to associates

Interests in associates

   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost of investments in associates 8,019 57,361

Share of post acquisition profits 10,849 8,684
   

Carrying amount of associates 18,868 66,045
   

On 8 February 2022, China New Economy Fund Limited, the investee in which the Group holds approximately 19% 

equity interest, appointed the Company’s Chief Executive Officer as a non-executive director. As a result, the investment 

in China New Economy Fund Limited was classified as an investment in an associate as the Group is in a position to 

exercise significant influence over the investee. Accordingly, the investment previously classified as the financial assets at 

fair value through profit or loss of HK$34,490,000 was reclassified as an investment in an associate on 8 February 2022. 

The Group subsequently acquired a total of 82,512,865 shares of China New Economy Fund Limited with a consideration 

of HK$14,852,000 through a rights issue transaction.

On 15 November 2022, the Group sold 129,640,000 shares, approximately 10.01%, of China New Economy Fund 

Limited at a consideration of HK$25,900,000 million and the shareholding of the Group in the company decreased to 

9.09%. Considering the change in shareholding, the Group no longer has significant influence on the company and 

accordingly reclassified the investment as financial asset at fair value through profit or loss. The Group recognised a gain 

on disposal of an associate of HK$4,600,000 million based on the difference between the carrying amount of the associate 

and the proceeds from disposal and the fair value of the retained investment.

         

Name

Form of
business
structure

Place of
incorporation/
operations

Principal
activities

Particulars
of issued
and fully paid
share capital

Proportion of
voting rights held

by the Group

Interest
indirectly

held
2023 2022 2023 2022

KCG Securities Asia Limited Incorporated Hong Kong Securities 
brokerage

HK$20,000,000 30% 30% 30% 30%

Green Property Management 
Company Limited

Incorporated Japan Property
investment

JPY100,000
(issued)
Nil (paid)

30% 30% 30% 30%

Primo Development Limited Incorporated Hong Kong Investment
holding

HK$10,000 33% 33% 33% 33%

18V Co., Ltd Incorporated Japan Property
investment

JPY 100,000 33% 33% 33% 33%

China New Economy Fund 
Limited

Incorporated Cayman Islands/
Hong Kong

Investment HK$51,853,000 – 19.1% – 19.1%
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18 Interests in associates, amount due from associates and loans to associates (Continued)

China New Economy Fund Limited, which was considered a material associate of the Group, was accounted for using the 

equity method in 2022.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information in respect of China New Economy Fund Limited 

adjusted for any differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial 

statements:

  

2022

HK$’000

Current assets 181,601

Non-current assets, excluding goodwill 831

Goodwill on acquisition of the associate 13,309

Current liabilities 1,830

Non-current liabilities 336
  

Net assets 193,575
  

Net assets, excluding goodwill 180,266
  

Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the associate:

Proportion of the Group’s ownership 19.1%

Group’s share of net assets of the associate, excluding goodwill 34,423

Goodwill on acquisition (less cumulative impairment) 13,309

Carrying amount of the investment 47,732
  

Fair value of the Group’s investment 51,983
  

  

For the 

six months ended

30 June 2022

HK$’000

Revenue 1,542

Loss and total comprehensive loss for the period (10,735)
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18 Interests in associates, amount due from associates and loans to associates (Continued)

Summarised financial information of associates:

AGGREGATE INFORMATION OF ASSOCIATES THAT ARE NOT INDIVIDUALLY MATERIAL

      

Assets Liabilities Net assets Revenue Profit/(loss)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2023

100 per cent 221,932 160,757 61,175 9,822 2,012

Group’s effective interest 68,622 50,260 18,362 3,009 622
      

2022

100 per cent 258,360 199,965 58,395 13,873 2,929

Group’s effective interest 79,619 62,138 17,481 4,226 875
      

AMOUNT DUE FROM ASSOCIATES

Amount due from associates are unsecured, interest free and repayable within five years as at 30 June 2023 and 2022.

LOANS TO ASSOCIATES

The Group provided pro-rata shareholder loans to associates for the acquisition of investment properties in Japan. As at 30 

June 2023, a loan with principal amount of HK$4,617,000 (2022: HK$4,916,000) is unsecured, interest bearing at 5% per 

annum and repayable in January 2025. The other loan with principal amount, net of imputed interest, of HK$8,015,000 

(2022: HK$7,618,000) is unsecured, interest free and repayable in October 2024.

19 Other assets

   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Statutory deposits 4,420 4,541

Other deposits and receivables 47 68
   

4,467 4,609
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20 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

    

Notes 2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Listed equity securities, at quoted price

– in Hong Kong 130,897 127,644

– outside Hong Kong 6,574 7,739

Listed debt securities, at quoted price

– in Hong Kong (a) 6,553 5,962

– outside Hong Kong (a) 11,327 10,659

Bond funds, at quoted price (b) 10,413 12,005

Overseas unlisted equity securities (c) 50,772 50,705

Unlisted debt security 330 330

Unlisted investment funds (d) 50,507 59,855
    

267,373 274,899
    

Represented by:

Non-current 51,102 51,035

Current 216,271 223,864
    

267,373 274,899
    

Notes:

(a) The Group held listed debt securities with fair value of HK$16,303,000 as at 30 June 2023 (2022: HK$14,982,000) which will be 
due in 2023 to 2027 (2022: 2022 to 2027). The Group also held listed perpetual debts with fair value of HK$1,577,000 as at 30 
June 2023 (2022:HK$1,639,000).

(b) The Group held bond funds with fair value of HK$10,413,000 as at 30 June 2023 (2022: HK$12,005,000) which are open-end 
funds listed on overseas stock exchanges.

(c) The fair value of certain overseas unlisted equity securities classified as level 3 under fair value hierarchy has been arrived at on 
the basis of valuation carried out by independent qualified professional valuers not connected to the Group who have appropriate 
qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of similar securities. The fair value measurement of the overseas unlisted 
equity securities is described in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

(d) The fair value is based on the net asset value of underlying investments reported by the administrators as of the end of the reporting 
period.
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21 Accounts, loans and other receivables
    

Notes 2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Accounts and loan receivables

Amounts due from brokers and clearing houses (a) 100,865 77,029

Amounts due from margin clients (b) 23,724 24,841

Amounts due from cash clients (c) 9,789 14,668

Loan receivables (d) 77,301 102,447

Other accounts receivable (e) 351 2,007
    

212,030 220,992

Less: Impairment allowances (58,554) (67,863)
    

153,476 153,129
    

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 6,427 11,205

Less: Impairment allowances (1,230) (4,207)
    

5,197 6,998    

158,673 160,127
    

Notes:

(a) Amounts due from brokers and clearing houses are required to be settled on the settlement date determined under the relevant 
market practices or exchange rules.

The amount due from a broker of HK$8,670,000 (2022: HK$10,091,000) was pledged as collateral for the stock borrowing 
transactions.

(b) Margin clients of the brokerage division are required to pledge securities collateral to the Group in order to obtain the credit 
facilities for securities trading. The amount of credit facilities granted to them is determined based on a discount on the value 
of securities accepted by the Group. The amounts due from margin clients are repayable on demand and bear interest at 
commercial rates. As at 30 June 2023, the total market value of securities pledged as collateral in respect of the loans to margin 
clients was approximately HK$6 million (2022: HK$23 million). As at 30 June 2023 and 2022, the market value of collateral held 
by a substantial number of our margin clients was larger than their outstanding loan balance. The Group provided additional 
impairment against several margin clients with value of collateral held which was below the outstanding balance of their margin 
loans. As a result, the Group provided accumulated impairment allowances of HK$23 million (2022: HK$21 million) as at 30 June 
2023. Management monitors the market value of collateral during the reviews of the adequacy of the impairment allowances. The 
fair value of collateral can be objectively ascertained to cover the outstanding amount of the loan balances based on quoted prices 
of the collateral.

(c) There are no credit terms granted to cash clients of the brokerage division except for financing of IPO subscriptions. They are 
required to settle their securities trading balances on the settlement date determined under the relevant market practices or 
exchange rules.

(d) Loan receivables comprise fixed-rate loan receivables of HK$33 million (2022: HK$54 million) and factoring receivables of 
HK$44 million (2022: HK$48 million), and accumulated impairment allowances of HK$35 million (2022: HK$45 million) as at 
30 June 2023. The credit terms for loans granted by the Group’s brokerage and financing division are determined by management 
with reference to the financial background and the value and nature of collateral pledged by the borrowers. The loan receivables 
are mainly secured by personal/corporate guarantee, properties and trade receivables. The contractual maturity date of the loan 
receivables is normally within one year.
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21 Accounts, loans and other receivables (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(e) The Group normally allows credit periods of up to 30 days to customers, except for certain creditworthy customers with long term 
relationship and stable repayment pattern, where the terms are extended to a longer period.

The ageing analysis of accounts and loan receivables net of impairment losses based on invoice/advance/trade date/

contractual maturity date is as follows:

   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current and within one month 139,192 143,979

More than one month and within three months 67 658

More than three months 14,217 8,492
   

153,476 153,129
   

Included in the above table, loan receivables of approximately HK$28,103,000 and HK$14,093,000 were aged 

within one month and more than three months respectively (2022: approximately HK$48,370,000, HK$654,000 and 

HK$8,352,000 were aged within one month, more than one month and within three months and more than three months 

respectively).

The movements in the allowance for impairment losses for accounts and loan receivables of the Group were as follows:

       

Amounts due 

from brokers 

and clearing 

houses

Amounts due 

from margin 

clients

Amounts due 

from cash 

clients

Loan 

receivables

Other 

accounts 

receivable Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 July 2021 6 17,865 46 22,672 1,223 41,812

Impairment losses recognised/(reversed) (6) 298 322 27,509 824 28,947

Impairment of new financial assets 

recognised – 2,437 – – – 2,437

Amounts written off as uncollectible – – – (5,110) (223) (5,333)
       

At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 – 20,600 368 45,071 1,824 67,863

Impairment losses recognised/(reversed) – (88) (11) 9,991 234 10,126

Impairment of new financial assets 

recognised – 2,346 – – – 2,346

Amounts written off as uncollectible – – – (19,957) (1,824) (21,781)
       

At 30 June 2023 – 22,858 357 35,105 234 58,554
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22 Bank balances and cash – trust accounts

The Group maintains segregated clients’ accounts with licensed banks to hold clients’ monies arising from normal course 

of business in connection with the Group’s brokerage activities. The cash held on behalf of clients is restricted and 

governed by the Securities and Futures (Client Money) Rules (Chapter 571I) of the laws of Hong Kong under the Securities 

and Futures Ordinance. The Group has recognised the corresponding clients’ account payable to respective clients.

23 Cash and cash equivalents

As at 30 June 2023, cash and cash equivalents included fixed deposits of HK$26,965,000 (2022: HK$15,600,000) with 

banks with an original maturity within 3 months.

24 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial liabilities at FVTPL arising from short selling activities 7,225 8,409
   

Balance represented the fair value of listed equity securities from short selling activities as at 30 June 2023 and 2022.

25 Net assets attributable to holders of non-controlling interests in consolidated investment 
funds

Net assets attributable to holders of non-controlling interests in consolidated investment funds, namely MEC Asian Fund 

and SWK Dynamic OFC, are reflected as a liability since they can be put back to the Group for cash. The realisation of 

net assets attributable to holders of non-controlling interests in investment funds cannot be predicted with accuracy since 

these represent the interest of non-controlling shareholders in consolidated investment funds that are subject to the actions 

of the non-controlling investors.

The summarised financial information below represent amounts before intragroup eliminations.

MEC Asian Fund

   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current assets 69,894 71,127

Current liabilities 8,809 9,551

Equity attributable to owners of MEC Asian Fund 61,085 61,576

(Loss)/profit for the year (1,354) 2,504

Proportion of interest held by NCI (note 37) 23.53% 22.44%

Net asset attributable to non-controlling interests (note 37) 14,373 13,818
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25 Net assets attributable to holders of non-controlling interests in consolidated investment 
funds (Continued)

SWK Dynamic OFC

  

2023

HK$’000

Current assets 100,924

Current liabilities 725

Equity attributable to owners of SWK Dynamic OFC 100,199

Loss for the year (1,592)

Proportion of interest held by NCI (note 37) 50.94%

Net asset attributable to non-controlling interest (note 37) 51,043
  

26 Accruals, accounts and other payables

   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Accounts payable (on demand or within one month)

Amounts due to brokers and clearing houses 2,149 4,412

Clients’ accounts payable 433,619 571,492

Others 7,199 3,709
   

442,967 579,613

Other creditors, accruals and other provisions 8,366 11,896
   

451,333 591,509
   

The settlement terms of payable to brokers, clearing houses and securities trading clients arising from the ordinary 

course of business of broking in securities range from one to two days after the trade date of those transactions. Deposits 

exceeding the margin requirement received from clients for their trading of commodities and futures contracts are payable 

on demand.
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27 Leases liabilities

The Group has lease contracts for various items of property and office equipment used in its operations. Generally, the 

Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

(a) LEASE LIABILITIES

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during the year are as follows:

   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Carrying amount at 1 July 2022 and 2021 3,864 5,431

Addition – 651

Accretion of interest recognised during the year 48 78

Rental concession – (302)

Exchange adjustment (228) (94)

Lease termination – (31)

Payments (991) (1,869)

Reclassified to liabilities held for sale (2,190) –
   

Carrying amount at 30 June 2023 and 2022 503 3,864
   

Analysed into:

Current portion 128 981

Non-current portion 375 2,883
   

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 38(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

(b) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as follows:

   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on lease liabilities 48 78

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 971 2,093

Expense relating to short-term leases and other leases with remaining 

lease terms ended on or before 30 June 2023/2022 229 615
   

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 1,248 2,786
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28 Contract assets and liabilities

   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Provision of corporate finance services:

Contract liabilities 3,000 1,847
   

Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue earned from the provision of corporate finance services. Upon 

completion of relevant milestones, the amounts recognised as contract assets are reclassified to account receivables.

Contract assets and liabilities, are expected to be settled within the Group’s normal operating cycle, and accordingly are 

classified as current.

Revenue from provision of corporate finance services of HK$347,000 (2022: HK$17,055,000) recognised in the year 

ended 30 June 2023 is related to contract liabilities as of 1 July 2022 (2022: 1 July 2021).

For acting as sponsor, the Group normally receives fees by installments according to the mandate. This may give rise 

to contract liabilities over the life of the contract, until the performance obligation is satisfied when the revenue will be 

recognised at that point in time or over time, by determining if it has a right to payment at an amount that reasonably 

compensates it for its performance completed to date at all times throughout the contract.

29 Bank loans and overdrafts

   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unsecured bank overdraft 9,975 –

Secured bank overdraft (Note) 65,697 –

Secured bank loans (Note) – 105,000
   

75,672 105,000
   

Note: The bank loans as at 30 June 2022 are repayable within one year. An overdraft is (2022: the loans are) secured by the Group’s land 
and building held for own use with fair value of approximately HK$310 million (2022: 330 million). For the year ended 30 June 
2023, the overdrafts bear interest at HKD best lending rate or 2% above Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (2022: the loans bear 
interest at 1.4% above Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate).

One of the Group’s banking facilities is subject to a loan-to-value ratio. The Group is required to repay part of the bank 

loan to maintain the specified ratio when necessary. The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants. As 

at 30 June 2023 and 2022, none of the covenants relating to the facilities drawn had been breached.
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30 Deferred taxation

(a) DEFERRED TAX RECOGNISED

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognised and movements thereon during the current 

and prior years:

    

Accelerated tax 

depreciation 

and revaluation Tax losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 July 2021 29,006 (4,521) 24,485

Charged to consolidated income statement (note 9) 216 2,682 2,898

Credited to other comprehensive income

– properties revaluation reserve (214) – (214)
    

At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 29,008 (1,839) 27,169

(Credited)/charged to consolidated income statement (note 9) (1,520) 1,290 (230)

Credited to other comprehensive income

– properties revaluation reserve (3,539) – (3,539)
    

At 30 June 2023 23,949 (549) 23,400
    

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement 

of financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting 

purposes:

   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Net deferred tax assets (495) (264)

Net deferred tax liabilities 23,895 27,433
   

23,400 27,169
   

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign 

investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in the PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January 

2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a 

tax treaty between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. 

The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in  

mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.
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30 Deferred taxation (Continued)

(b) DEFERRED TAX ASSETS NOT RECOGNISED

As at 30 June 2023, the Group has unused estimated tax losses of approximately HK$625 million (2022: HK$554 

million). A deferred tax asset of HK$549,000 (2022: HK$1,839,000) has been recognised in respect of tax losses of 

approximately HK$3 million (2022: HK$11 million). The Group has not recognised deferred tax asset in respect of 

the remaining tax losses of approximately HK$622 million (2022: HK$543 million) due to the unpredictability of 

future profit streams. The tax losses of approximately HK$616 million (2022: HK$534 million) are from subsidiaries 

incorporated in Hong Kong and will not expire under current tax regulation while tax losses of approximately HK$6 

million (2022: HK$9 million) are from subsidiaries in mainland China and are subject to expiry periods from 2024 

to 2028 (2022: from 2023 to 2027) under the current tax legislation.

31 Share capital and share premium

     

2023 2022

No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount

’000 HK$’000 ’000 HK$’000

Authorised: 10,000,000 1,000,000 10,000,000 1,000,000
     

The movements in the Company’s issued share capital are as follow:

     

Number of 

shares in issue Issued capital

Share premium 

account Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 July 2021 719,452,868 71,945 365,742 437,687

Scrip dividend issued 10,940,341 1,094 3,009 4,103
     

At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 730,393,209 73,039 368,751 441,790

Scrip dividend issued 9,178,182 918 1,891 2,809
     

At 30 June 2023 739,571,391 73,957 370,642 444,599
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31 Share capital and share premium (Continued)

During the years ended 30 June 2022 and 2023, the movements in share capital were as follows:

On 19 January 2022, the Company issued 10,940,341 new shares at HK$0.375 on each issued share for the distribution 

of the scrip dividend declared for 2021 final dividend.

On 19 January 2023, the Company issued 9,178,182 new shares at HK$0.306 on each issued share for the distribution of 

the scrip dividend declared for 2022 final dividend.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared and are entitled to one vote per share at 

meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objective for capital management is to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, to 

enhance shareholder value and to match the business funding needs. The Group manages its capital structure and makes 

adjustments to it in line with the changes in economic conditions and business strategies by adjusting the dividend payout 

ratio, returning capital to shareholders or issuing new shares. During the years ended 30 June 2023 and 2022, the Group 

consistently followed the objectives and applied the policies and process on managing capital.

The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. Certain subsidiaries of the Company are subject 

to regulatory imposed capital and liquid capital requirements. These subsidiaries complied with those requirements at all 

times during both the current and prior financial years.

The Group monitors capital using a target gearing ratio of 0–35%, which is total borrowings divided by the shareholders’ 

equity. Total borrowing comprises bank borrowing and shareholders’ equity comprises all components of equity 

attributable to the owners of the Company. The gearing ratio at year-end was as follows:

   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Total borrowings 75,672 105,000
   

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 804,609 910,005
   

Gearing ratio 9% 12%
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32 A disposal group classified as held for sale

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the senior management of the Group decided to dispose of the entire equity interest 

in Dragon Tycoon (HK) Holdings Limited and Dragon Sphere (HK) Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries including 65% 

interest of 廣東國富滙基金管理有限公司 (the “Dragon Group”). An active program to locate a buyer and complete 

the plan has been initiated. Management expected it is highly probable that the assets and liabilities attributable to the 

business would be sold within the next twelve months and classified them as a disposal group held for sale and presented 

them separately in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Subsequent to 30 June 2023, the Group entered into a formal sale and purchase agreements to dispose the equity interest 

in Dragon Group (“the Disposal”). Details of the Disposal are set forth in the Company’s Announcements on 10 October 

2023.

The major classes of assets and liabilities in the Dragon Group classified as held for sale are as follows:

  

2023

HK$’000

Properties and equipment 2,214

Intangible assets 269

Accounts, loans & other receivables 1,157

Cash and cash equivalents 287
  

Total assets classified as held for sale 3,927
  

Accruals, accounts and other payables 2,312

Lease liabilities 2,190
  

Total liabilities classified as held for sale 4,502
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33 Commitments

(a) COMMITMENTS UNDER OPERATING LEASES AS LESSOR
As at 30 June 2023 and 2022, the Group had future aggregate minimum lease payments receivable under non- 
cancellable operating leases in respect of a shop, an office premise and a car parking space which fall due as 
follows:

   
2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 2,058 1,640
Between one and two years 2,222 450
   

4,280 2,090
   

Leases are negotiated and rentals are fixed for lease term of 2 to 3 years. The Group does not provide an option to 
the lessees to purchase the leased assets at the expiry of the leased period.

(b) OTHER COMMITMENTS

   
2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital commitments for acquisition of unlisted equity investments – 1,500
Underwriting commitment 2,000 –
   

34 Contingent liabilities

During the ordinary course of business the Group is subject to threatened or actual legal proceedings brought by or 
on behalf of investors or other third parties, as well as legal and regulatory reviews, challenges, investigations and 
enforcement actions, in Hong Kong. All such material matters are periodically reassessed, with the assistance of 
external professional advisers where appropriate, to determine the likelihood of the Group incurring a liability. In those 
instances where it is concluded that it is more likely than not that a payment will be made, a provision is established to 
management’s best estimate of the amount required at the relevant year end date. In some cases it will not be possible to 
form a view, for example because the facts are unclear or because further time is needed properly to assess the merits of 
the case, and no provisions are held in relation to such matters. However, the Group does not currently expect the final 
outcome of any such case to have a material adverse effect on its financial position, operations or cash flows.

In the previous years, the Group placed a 130% short selling deposit, of approximately HK$29.8 million, on a suspended 
security listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange at its Hong Kong Clearing house account on behalf of its client. 
The Hong Kong Clearing house refunded the deposit to the Group after the delisting of the security. The Group signed a 
letter of indemnity to Hong Kong Securities Clearing Co. Ltd. which agree to undertake all potential claims in connection 
with the shortfall of the shares.

35 Joint venture agreement

On 1 December 2016, the Group entered into a joint venture agreement with several joint venture partners to establish a 
joint venture company in Chongqing, the PRC. Subject to final approvals of the China Securities Regulatory Commission 
(“CSRC”), it is contemplated that the joint venture company will become a full-licensed securities company principally 
engaged in the provision of regulated securities brokerage services, securities underwriting and sponsor services, 
proprietary trading, securities and asset management and any other business approved by the CSRC in the PRC. Pursuant 
to the joint venture agreement, the Group will make a capital contribution of RMB330 million into the joint venture 
company, representing a 22% equity interest in the joint venture company. The transaction will be fully financed by 
the Group’s internal resources. The joint venture agreement and the transactions were approved by the Company’s 
shareholders at the special general meeting held in February 2017. The Group received an acknowledged receipt for the 
application from the CSRC on 28 December 2018. The Group is providing additional information to the CSRC currently.
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36 Related party and connected party transactions

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the Group 

entered into the following material related party and connected party transactions.

(a) KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL REMUNERATION

Remuneration for key management personnel, including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed in 

note 10(a), is as follows:

   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Fees 2,200 2,200

Salaries, commissions and other allowance 5,829 5,844

Retirement scheme contributions 189 174
   

8,218 8,218
   

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 7(c)).

(b) OTHERS

The following is a summary of majority related party and connected party (as defined in the Listing Rules) 

transactions which were carried out in the normal course of the Group’s business:

   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Brokerage commission earned on securities, options,  

futures and commodities dealing

– Group’s directors, their close family members and their companies 226 241

Consultancy and management fees earned

– a company controlled by a Group’s director 760 760

Secretarial fee earned

– companies controlled by a Group’s director 26 21

Clients’ accounts payable

– Group’s directors, their close family members and their companies (7,032) (14,653)
   

(c) LOANS TO ASSOCIATES

The Group provided pro-rata shareholder loans to associates for the acquisition of investment properties in Japan. 

As at 30 June 2023, a loan with a principal amount of HK$4,617,000 (2022: HK$4,916,000) is unsecured, interest 

bearing at 5% per annum and repayable in January 2025. The other loan with a principal amount, net of imputed 

interest, of HK$8,015,000 (2022: HK$7,618,000) is unsecured, interest free and repayable in October 2024.
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37 Particulars of significant subsidiaries

The following is a list of the significant subsidiaries as at 30 June 2023 and 2022:

     

Name

Place of 

incorporation/

operations Paid share capital Principal activities

Proportion of nominal value of 

issued capital and voting rights 

held by the Company

Directly Indirectly

2023 2022 2023 2022

Bill Lam & Associates Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$20 Provision of corporate 

services

– – 100% 100%

Billion On Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$10,000 Property holding and 

securities investment

– – 100% 100%

Kingsway Asset Management 

Group Limited

British Virgin Islands Ordinary share US$1 Investment holding – – 100% 100%

Festival Developments Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary share US$1 Investment holding 100% 100% – –

Kingsway Capital Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 

HK$55,362,894

Provision of financial 

advisory services

– – 100% 100%

Kingsway China Investments 

Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 Investment holding – – 100% 100%

Kingsway Financial Services 

Group Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary shares 

HK$300,000,000

Securities, options, fund 

and futures brokerage

– – 100% 100%

Kingsway Group Services Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$100,000 Provision of 

management services

– – 100% 100%

Kingsway Lion Spur Technology 

Limited

British Virgin Islands/

Hong Kong

Ordinary shares 

US$10,000,000

Securities investment – – 100% 100%

Sunwah Kingsway Investments 

Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary share HK$1 Investment holding – – 100% 100%

Sunwah Capital Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share HK$1 Property holdings – – 100% 100%

Kingsway SW Asset Management 

Limited

British Virgin Islands/

Hong Kong

Ordinary shares US$550,000 Provision of investment 

advisory services

– – 100% 100%

Kingsway SW Finance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$50,000 Provision of loan 

services and 

financing

– – 100% 100%
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Name

Place of 

incorporation/

operations Paid share capital Principal activities

Proportion of nominal value of 

issued capital and voting rights 

held by the Company

Directly Indirectly

2023 2022 2023 2022

SW Kingsway Capital Group 

Limited

British Virgin Islands Ordinary shares 

US$38,750,000

Investment holding 100% 100% – –

Primo Result Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 

HK$50,000,000

Securities investment – – 100% 100%

Best Advisory Investments Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary share US$1 Investment holding – – 100% 100%

Primo Performance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share HK$1 Securities investment – – 100% 100%

Dragon Tycoon (HK) Holdings 

Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary share HK$1 Investment holding – – 100% 100%

Dragon Sphere (HK) Holdings 

Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary share HK$1 Investment holding – – 100% 100%

Primo Financial Group Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$10,000 Securities investment – – 100% 100%

Sunwah Kingsway Vietnam 

Services Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 Investment holding – – 100% 100%

Sunwah Kingsway Leasing and 

Finance Limited

Hong Kong Ordinary shares 

HK$8,000,000

Investment holding – – 100% 100%

Primo Excel Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$10,000 Investment holding – – 100% 100%

Primo Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares 

HK$1,000,000

Investment holding 100% 100% – –

Rich Smart Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share HK$1 Property holding – – 100% 100%

廣東新華滙富商業保理有限公司^ People’s Republic of 

China

Registered capital 

US$10,000,000

Provision of factoring 

services

– – 100% 100%

廣東國富滙基金管理有限公司 People’s Republic of 

China

Registered capital 

RMB10,000,000

Provision of asset 

management services

– – 65% 65%

MEC Asian Fund Cayman Islands N/A Investment fund – – 76.47%* 77.56%*

SWK Dynamic OFC Hong Kong N/A Investment fund – – 49.06%* –

37 Particulars of significant subsidiaries (Continued)
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37 Particulars of significant subsidiaries (Continued)

* The Company does not have any voting right in this subsidiary as the subsidiary is an investment fund.
^ The company is a wholly owned foreign enterprise.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the opinion of the Directors of the Company, principally 

affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors of the 

Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A majority of 

these subsidiaries operate in Hong Kong and mainland China. The principal activities of these subsidiaries are summarised 

as follows:

    

Number of subsidiaries

Principal activities Principal place of business 2023 2022

Investment consulting People’s Republic of China 2 3

Dormant Hong Kong 2 2
    

4 5
    

Festival Developments Limited, SW Kingsway Capital Group Limited and Primo Holdings Limited are directly held by the 

Company. All other subsidiaries shown above are indirectly held by the Company.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the both years.

The table below shows the details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group that has material non-controlling 

interests:

        

Name of subsidiary

Place of incorporation 

and principal place 

of business

Proportion of ownership 

interest held by 

non-controlling interests

(Loss)/profit allocated 

to non-controlling 

interests

Accumulated 

non-controlling 

interests

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

SWK Dynamic OFC Hong Kong 50.94%∆ – (748) – 51,043 –

MEC Asian Fund Cayman Islands 23.53%∆ 22.44%∆ (308) 550 14,373 13,818

廣東國富滙基金管理有限公司 People’s Republic of China 35% 35% (443) (627) 343 827
        

(1,499) (77) 65,759 14,645
        

∆ The non-controlling interests do not have any voting rights in the company as it is an investment fund.

Summarised financial information in respect of MEC Asian Fund and SWK Dynamic OFC is shown in note 25 to the 

consolidated financial statements and the profit/(loss) allocated to the non-controlling interest is shown in consolidated 

income statement as fair value change on non-controlling interests in consolidated investment funds.
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38 Financial risk management

At the end of the reporting period, except for financial assets at FVTPL, all other financial assets of the Group are 

categorised as financial assets at amortised cost and these include cash and cash equivalents, bank balances and cash 

– trust accounts, accounts, loans and other receivables, loans to and amounts due from associates, contract assets and 

other assets. Financial liabilities at FVTPL and net assets attributable to holders of non-controlling interests in consolidated 

investment funds are categorised as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and other financial liabilities 

such as accounts and other payables, lease liabilities and bank loans are categorised as financial liabilities at amortised 

cost. The carrying amounts of the financial assets and liabilities are set out in the consolidated statement of financial 

position and the details of which are disclosed in the corresponding notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk, price risk, foreign exchange risk and 

interest rate risk. These risks are limited by the Group’s financial management policies and practices described below.

(a) CREDIT RISK AND IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT

Credit risk arises from a number of areas. These include the possibility that a counterparty in a transaction may 

default during the settlement process. It also arises from lending, settlement, treasury, market making, proprietary 

trading and other activities undertaken by the Group.

The Group’s Finance and Credit Committees are responsible for establishing the credit approval and monitoring 

procedures, which are in accordance with sound business practices, the requirements and provisions of the 

relevant ordinances, and where applicable, the codes or guidelines issued by the Hong Kong Securities and Futures 

Commission.

Day-to-day credit management is performed by the Operations Department with reference to the aforementioned 

criteria including creditworthiness, collateral pledged and risk concentration of the counterparties. The Finance 

Committee and Credit Committee are responsible for review of guidelines on credit limits, review stock 

concentration and review portfolios of major clients on a regular basis and approval of specific loans or advances if 

the amount exceeds pre-set guidelines.

Accounts, loans and other receivables consist of amounts due from brokers, clearing houses, clients, loan 

receivables, and other receivables items. In respect of advances to clients, the Group generally requires collateral 

from clients before advances are granted. Collateral normally takes the form of listed securities or cash deposits. 

Amounts due from brokers are treated as lower credit risk as counterparties are reputable financial institutions. For 

loan receivables, individual credit reviews are performed for granting the credit facilities. These reviews focus on the 

customer’s and guarantor’s (if any) background information, past history of making payments when due and current 

ability to pay, value of collateral pledged (if any), status on register of trade receivables (if any) and the economic 

environment in which the customer operates. As the Group’s accounts, loans and other receivables relate to a large 

number of diversified customers and counterparties, the Group does not have any significant concentration of credit 

risk.
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38 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a) CREDIT RISK AND IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT (Continued)

The credit risk on listed debt securities is limited because most of the issuers are companies listed in Hong Kong 

with strong financial position. The management of the Group monitors listed debt securities on a regular basis to 

ensure that there is no significant concentration risk.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into account of any collateral held or other credit 

enhancements is represented by the carrying value of each financial asset recognised. The credit risk of amounts due 

from margin clients is mitigated because they are secured over listed securities. The Group does not provide any 

guarantees which would expose the Group to credit risk.

Bank balances are placed in various authorised institutions with high credit rating and the Group considers the 

credit risk not significant.

Except for bank balances, the Group considers there is no other significant concentration of credit risk.

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group has renegotiated the contractual terms with one fixed-rate loan 

client. Based on the assessment performed by the Group, it is regarded as non-substantial modification.

The amortised cost before the modification of the loan receivable was HK$10,620,000 and the modification loss 

amounting to HK$724,000 was recorded in profit or loss during the year ended 30 June 2022. As at 30 June 2022, 

the gross receivable of HK$9,800,000 was classified under lifetime ECL – credit-impaired (loss) since there was a 

significant increase in credit risk after the modification.

Groupings based on shared risks characteristics

When ECL are measured on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on the basis of shared risk 

characteristics, such as instrument type, credit risk grade, collateral type, remaining term to maturity and the value 

of collateral relative to the financial asset if it has an impact on the probability of a default occurring (loan-to- 

value ratios). The groupings are reviewed on a regular basis to ensure that each group is comprised of homogenous 

exposures.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following categories:

   

Internal credit rating Description Financial assets at amortised cost

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does 

not have any past-due amounts

12–month ECL

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates in full 12-month ECL

Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk 

since initial recognition through information 

developed internally or external resources

Lifetime ECL – not credit-impaired

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit- 

impaired

Lifetime ECL – credit-impaired 

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in 

severe financial difficulty and the Group has no 

realistic prospect of recovery

Amount is written off
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38 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a) CREDIT RISK AND IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s financial assets which are subject to ECL assessment:

      
June 2023 Notes Internal credit rating 12-month or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount

HK’000 HK’000

Financial assets at amortised cost
Accounts, loans and other 

receivables 21 Low risk/watch list 12-month ECL 141,938
Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not credit 

impaired) –
Loss Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 73,620
N/A Lifetime ECL (simplified 

approach) 351 215,909
 

Loans to and amount due 
from associates 18 Low risk 12-month ECL 13,787

Bank balance and cash – 
trust accounts 22 Low risk 12-month ECL 385,976

Cash and cash equivalents 23 Low risk 12-month ECL 159,782
Other assets 19 Low risk 12-month ECL 4,467
      

      
June 2022 Notes Internal credit rating 12-month or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount

HK’000 HK’000

Financial assets at amortised cost
Accounts, loans and other 

receivables 21 Low risk/watch list 12-month ECL 136,564
Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not credit 

impaired) –
Loss Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 89,881
N/A Lifetime ECL (simplified 

approach) 2,007 228,452
 

Loans to and amount due 
from associates 18 Low risk 12-month ECL 13,518

Bank balance and cash – 
trust accounts 22 Low risk 12-month ECL 531,645

Cash and cash equivalents 23 Low risk 12-month ECL 162,529
Other assets 19 Low risk 12-month ECL 4,609
      

Note: Prepayment of HK$2,548,000 (2022: HK$3,745,000) under accounts, loans and other receivables was not classified as 
financial assets at amortised cost.
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38 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a) CREDIT RISK AND IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT (Continued)

The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances that has been recognised for accounts, loans and other 

receivables.

      

30 June 2023

12m – ECL 

(Stage 1)

Lifetime ECL 

(not credit-

impaired) 

(Stage 2)

Lifetime ECL 

(credit-

impaired) 

(Stage 3)

Lifetime ECL 

(Simplified 

approach) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 July 2022 137 – 70,109 1,824 72,070

Changes due to financial instruments 

recognised as at 1 July:

– Transfer to credit-impaired (52) – 52 – –

– Repayment and derecognition (8) – (156) – (164)

– Remeasurement of ECL 9 – 9,954 – 9,963

New financial assets originated or purchased 61 – 32 234 327

New financial assets recognised – – 2,346 – 2,346

Write-offs – – (22,934) (1,824) (24,758)
      

As at 30 June 2023 147 – 59,403 234 59,784

Arising from:

– Amounts due from margin clients – – 22,858 N/A 22,858

– Amounts from cash clients – – 357 N/A 357

– Loan receivables 147 – 34,958 N/A 35,105

– Other accounts receivable – – – 234 234

– Deposits and other receivables – – 1,230 N/A 1,230
      

147 – 59,403 234 59,784
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38 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a) CREDIT RISK AND IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT (Continued)

      

30 June 2022

12m – ECL 

(Stage 1)

Lifetime ECL 

(not credit-

impaired) 

(Stage 2)

Lifetime ECL 

(credit-

impaired) 

(Stage 3)

Lifetime ECL 

(Simplified 

approach) Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 1 July 2021 321 224 41,975 1,223 43,743

Changes due to financial instruments 

recognised as at 1 July:

– Transfer to credit-impaired (95) (224) 319 N/A –

– Repayment and derecognition (51) – (7) – (58)

– Remeasurement of ECL (78) – 27,500 624 28,046

New financial assets originated or purchased 40 – 2,483 200 2,723

New financial assets recognised – – 3,122 – 3,122

Write-offs – – (5,283) (223) (5,506)
      

As at 30 June 2022 137 – 70,109 1,824 72,070

Arising from:

– Amounts due from margin clients – – 20,600 N/A 20,600

– Amounts from cash clients – – 368 N/A 368

– Loan receivables 137 – 44,934 N/A 45,071

– Other accounts receivable – – – 1,824 1,824

– Deposits and other receivables – – 4,207 N/A 4,207
      

137 – 70,109 1,824 72,070
      



Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited   Annual Report 2023

114

For the year ended 30 June 2023

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

38 Financial risk management (Continued)

(a) CREDIT RISK AND IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT (Continued)

New financial assets originated or purchased

Amount of approximately HK$61,000 (2022: HK$40,000) represented provision made under 12m ECL in relation to 

financial assets with gross amount of approximately HK$4,531,000 (2022: HK$5,860,000). There was no provision 

made under Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) as at 30 June 2023 and 2022. Amount of approximately HK$32,000 

(2022: HK$2,483,000) represented provision made under Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) in relation to financial assets 

with gross amount of approximately HK$32,000 (2022: HK$2,483,000). Amount of approximately HK$234,000 

(2022: HK$200,000) represented provision made under Lifetime ECL (simplified approach) in relation to financial 

assets with gross amount of approximately HK$234,000 (2022: HK$200,000).

The following significant changes in the gross carrying amounts of amounts due from margin clients and loan 

receivables contributed to the increase in ECL during the year ended 30 June 2023 and 2022:

30 June 2023

– Transfer of loan receivables of HK$6,654,000 from 12m – ECL to Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired), resulting in 

an increase in ECL of HK$2,973,000; and

– The financial position of certain loan clients have been deteriorated during the year, resulting in an increase in 

ECL of HK$6,958,000.

30 June 2022

– Transfer of loan receivables of HK$18,791,000 from 12m – ECL to Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired), resulting in 

an increase in ECL of HK$15,266,000; and

– The financial position of certain loan clients have been deteriorated during the year, resulting in an increase in 

ECL of HK$12,204,000.

(b) LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group manages its liquidity position to ensure the Group maintains a prudent and adequate liquidity ratio, in 

strict accordance with statutory requirements. This is achieved by the management, comprising the Chief Financial 

Officer and the Financial Controller, monitoring the liquidity position of the Group on a daily basis to ensure the 

availability of sufficient liquid funds to meet all obligations and compliance with the statutory requirements, such as 

the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules, applicable to various licensed subsidiaries.
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38 Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued)

The following table details the maturities analysis at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s financial 

liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments computed using 

contractual rates) and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

        

Weighted

average

effective

interest rate

Carrying 

amount

Repayment 

on demand 

or within 

1 month

1 to less than 

3 months

3 to less than 

12 months Over 1 year

Total 

undiscounted 

cash flows

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As 30 June 2023

Financial liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss N/A 7,225 7,225 – – – 7,225

Net assets attributable to holders 

of non-controlling interests in 

consolidated investment funds N/A 65,416 65,416 – – – 65,416

Accounts and other payables N/A 445,676 445,676 – – – 445,676

Bank overdrafts 5.906% 75,672 76,044 – – – 76,044

Lease liabilities 1.599% 503 11 23 102 384 520
        

594,492 594,372 23 102 384 594,881
        

As 30 June 2022

Financial liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss N/A 8,409 8,409 – – – 8,409

Net assets attributable to holders 

of non-controlling interests in 

consolidated investment funds N/A 13,818 13,818 – – – 13,818

Accounts and other payables N/A 587,709 587,709 – – – 587,709

Bank loans 2.007% 105,000 105,219 – – – 105,219

Lease liabilities 1.468% 3,864 84 169 774 2,943 3,970
        

718,800 715,239 169 774 2,943 719,125
        

Note: As at 30 June 2023, bank overdrafts with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “Repayment on demand or 
within one month” time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 30 June 2023, the aggregate undiscounted principal 
amounts of the overdrafts amounted to HK$75,672,000. Assuming the banks will not exercise their discretionary rights to 
demand immediate repayment, the aggregate principal and interest cash outflows for these bank overdrafts up to maturity 
date within 1 year amounted to approximately HK$76,044,000.

As at 30 June 2022, bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “Repayment on demand or within 
one month” time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 30 June 2022, the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts 
of the loans amounted to HK$105,000,000. Assuming the banks will not exercise their discretionary rights to demand 
immediate repayment, the aggregate principal and interest cash outflows for these bank loans up to maturity date within 1 
year amounted to approximately HK$105,219,000.
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38 Financial risk management (Continued)

(c) PRICE RISK

The Group is exposed to price changes arising from investments classified as financial assets/(liabilities) at fair value 

through profit or loss.

Decisions to buy or sell listed and unlisted instruments, excluding the investments in the investment funds and 

unlisted investment loan, rest with assigned investment managers and governed by specific investment guidelines. 

The Board has set up the Risk Management Committee (“RMC”) for the purpose of independently monitoring the 

positions of the Group’s proprietary trading activities involving equities and derivatives. In addition to the RMC, the 

Group’s exposures are closely monitored by the Finance Department and senior management on a daily basis and 

are measured on a “mark-to-market” basis. The Group’s various proprietary trading activities are reported monthly to 

senior management for review.

For sensitivity analysis purpose of listed equity securities, it is assumed that the market price of the Tracker Fund of 

Hong Kong increases/decreases in line with the movement of the Hang Seng Index. The risk exposure is quantified 

by comparing the Group’s portfolio beta to the beta of Tracker Fund of Hong Kong. Assuming a 10% upward/

downward movement in the Hang Seng Index with all other variables held constant at the end of the reporting 

period, the Group’s loss before tax would decrease/increase by HK$8,489,000 (2022: loss before tax would 

decrease/increase by HK$7,010,000).

For listed debt securities, assuming that the yield of individual debt increases/decreases by 50 basis points and all 

other variables held constant at the end of the reporting period, the Group’s loss before tax would increase/decrease 

by HK$185,000 (2022: loss before tax would increase/decrease by HK$256,000).

For bond funds, unlisted debt security and unlisted investment funds, assuming that the unit price of the security or 

funds increased/decreased by 10% and all other variables held constant at the end of the report period, the Group’s 

loss before tax would decrease/increase by HK$6,092,000 (2022: loss before tax would decrease/increase by 

HK$6,139,000).

At the reporting date, the exposure to overseas unlisted equity securities at fair value was HK$50,772,000 (2022: 

HK$50,705,000). Sensitivity analyses of these investments have been provided in note 39 to the consolidated 

financial statements.
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38 Financial risk management (Continued)

(d) FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Foreign exchange risk is the risk to earnings or capital arising from movements of foreign exchange rates. Foreign 

exchange risk is monitored by the Finance Department and senior management on a daily basis. Certain financial 

assets are measured daily on a “mark-to-market” basis as appropriate. Other financial assets and liabilities are 

revalued regularly using the market exchange rates. Overall positions are reported monthly to senior management 

for review.

The Group’s foreign exchange risk primarily arises from currency exposures originating from certain financial assets 

and liabilities. Principal brokerage and lending operations are mainly carried out in local currency to obviate foreign 

exchange risk. Accordingly, the Group has no significant exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations on accounts and 

loan receivables.

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from 

recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity to which 

they relate.

       

USD RMB GBP JPY SGD Others 

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 30 June 2023

Other assets 391 – – – – –

Loans to and amount due from associates – – – 13,787 – –

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 124,270 3,967 574 – 1,759 –

Accounts, loans and other receivables 410 28,174 – – 450 248

Bank balances and cash – trust accounts 5,113 218 27 – 9,392 1,143

Cash and cash equivalents 38,869 27,590 1 – 407 2

Accounts and other payables (6,798) (1,202) (27) – (9,817) (1,267)
       

Net exposure arising from recognised assets and liabilities 162,255 58,747 575 13,787 2,191 126
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38 Financial risk management (Continued)

(d) FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK (Continued)

       

USD RMB GBP JPY SGD Others 

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 30 June 2022

Other assets 391 21 – – – –

Loans to and amount due from associates – – – 13,518 – –

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 131,332 5,122 1,756 – – –

Accounts, loans and other receivables 472 35,542 – – 62 152

Bank balances and cash – trust accounts 9,052 803 26 – 112 1,175

Cash and cash equivalents 48,650 31,093 1 – 26 –

Accounts and other payables (7,803) (1,699) (26) – (175) (1,317)
       

Net exposure arising from recognised assets and liabilities 182,094 70,882 1,757 13,518 25 10
       

Other than above, several subsidiaries of the Company have intra-group payables denominated in HK$ of 

HK$5,366,000 as at 30 June 2023 (2022: HK$40,974,000), which are foreign currencies of the relevant group 

entities whose functional currency is RMB.

An analysis of the estimated change in the Group’s loss before tax in response to reasonably possible changes in the 

foreign exchange rates against respective functional currencies to which the Group has significant exposure at the 

end of reporting date is presented in the following table.

     

2023 2022

Increase/(decrease) 

in exchange rates

Decrease/(increase) 

on loss before tax

Increase/(decrease) 

in exchange rates

Decrease/(increase) 

on loss before tax

HK$’000 HK$’000

Renminbi, RMB +5% 2,940 +5% 5,593

-5% (2,940) -5% (5,593)

Pound Sterling, GBP +5% 29 +5% 88

-5% (29) -5% (88)

Japanese Yen, JPY +5% 689 +5% 676

-5% (689) -5% (676)

Singapore Dollar, SGD +5% 110 +5% 1

-5% (110) -5% (1)

The above analysis assumes the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the end of reporting period and 

had been applied to each of the Group entities’ exposure to currency risk in existence at that date while all other 

variables remains constant. The stated changes also represent management’s assessment of reasonably possible 

changes in foreign exchange rates until the end of the next reporting period. The Hong Kong Dollar and the United 

States Dollar peg are assumed to stay materially unaffected by any fluctuation in United States Dollar against other 

currencies.
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38 Financial risk management (Continued)

(e) INTEREST RATE RISK

Interest rate risk primarily results from timing differences in the re-pricing of interest bearing assets, liabilities and 

commitments. The Group’s interest rate risk exposure arises mainly from bank balances, margin financing, short- 

term bank loans, secured bank loans, overdrafts and other lending activities. The short-term bank loans are mainly 

utilised for re-financing customers’ borrowings for which the Group has the legal capacity to quickly recall the 

margin loans or re-price the loans to an appropriate level and financing the proprietary trading activities. Interest 

rates paid by the Group are managed by the Finance Department with the aim of maximising the spread of interest 

consistent with liquidity and funding obligations.

Assuming that the Hong Kong market interest rates had been 25 basis points (2022: 75 basis points) higher and 

all other variables held constant at the end of the reporting period, the Group’s loss before tax would decrease by 

HK$236,000 (2022: loss before tax would decrease by HK$510,000).

(f) FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES OFFSETTING

The disclosures set out in the tables below include financial assets and financial liabilities that are subject to an 

enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement that covers similar financial instruments that are either:

• offset in the Group’s consolidated statements of financial position; or

• not offset in the consolidated statements of financial position as the offsetting criteria are not met.

Under the agreement of continuous net settlement made between the Group and Hong Kong Securities Clearing 

Company Limited (“HKSCC”), Clearing Participant of China Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation Limited –  

Shenzhen Branch (“CSDC – SZ Branch”) and brokers, the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the money 

obligations receivable and payable with HKSCC, CSDC – SZ Branch and brokers on the same settlement date and 

the Group intends to settle on a net basis.

In addition, the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the accounts receivable and payable with brokerage 

clients that are due to be settled on the same date and the Group intends to settle these balances on a net basis.

.



Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited   Annual Report 2023

120

For the year ended 30 June 2023

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

38 Financial risk management (Continued)

(f) FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES OFFSETTING (Continued)

Except for balances which are due to be settled on the same date which are being offset, amounts due from/to 

HKSCC, brokers and brokerage clients that are not to be settled on the same date and, financial collateral, including 

cash and securities received by the Group, and deposits placed with HKSCC, CSDC – SZ Branch and brokers, do 

not meet the criteria for offsetting in the consolidated statement of financial position since the right of set-off of the 

recognised amounts is only enforceable following an event of default.

As at 30 June 2023

     

Gross

amounts of

recognised

financial

assets after

impairment

Gross

amounts of

recognised

financial

liabilities

set off in the

consolidated

statement

of financial

position

Net

amounts of

financial

assets

presented

in the

consolidated

statement

of financial

position

Related amounts

not set off in the consolidated

statement of financial position

Financial Collateral

instruments received Net amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets

Amounts due from clearing houses, brokers and 

brokerage clients 132,731 (21,568) 111,163 (9,022) (2,944) 99,197

Deposit placed with clearing houses 5,577 – 5,577 – – 5,577
       

     

Gross

amounts of

recognised

financial

liabilities

Gross

amounts of

recognised

financial

assets

set off in the

consolidated

statement

of financial

position

Net

amounts of

financial

liabilities

presented

in the

consolidated

statement

of financial

position

Related amounts

not set off in the consolidated

statement of financial position

Financial Collateral

instruments received Net amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial liabilities

Amounts due to clearing houses, brokers and 

brokerage clients 457,336 (21,568) 435,768 (9,022) – 426,746

Financial liabilities at FVTPL 7,225 – 7,225 – – 7,225
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38 Financial risk management (Continued)

(f) FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES OFFSETTING (Continued)

As at 30 June 2022

     

Gross

amounts of

recognised

financial

assets after

impairment

Gross

amounts of

recognised

financial

liabilities

set off in the

consolidated

statement

of financial

position

Net

amounts of

financial

assets

presented

in the

consolidated

statement

of financial

position

Related amounts

not set off in the consolidated

statement of financial position

Financial Collateral

instruments received Net amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets

Amounts due from clearing houses, brokers and 

brokerage clients 128,811 (33,241) 95,570 (18,392) (5,380) 71,798

Deposit placed with clearing houses 5,623 – 5,623 – – 5,623
       

     

Gross

amounts of

recognised

financial

liabilities

Gross

amounts of

recognised

financial

assets

set off in the

consolidated

statement

of financial

position

Net

amounts of

financial

liabilities

presented

in the

consolidated

statement

of financial

position

Related amounts

not set off in the consolidated

statement of financial position

Financial Collateral

instruments received Net amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial liabilities

Amounts due to clearing houses, brokers and 

brokerage clients 609,145 (33,241) 575,904 (18,392) – 557,512

Financial liabilities at FVTPL 8,409 – 8,409 – – 8,409
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38 Financial risk management (Continued)

(f) FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES OFFSETTING (Continued)

The tables below reconcile the “Net amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities presented in the consolidated 

statement of financial position”, as set out above, to the line items presented in the consolidated statement of 

financial position.

   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables

Net amount of receivables as stated above 111,163 95,570

Amount not in scope of offsetting disclosures 47,510 64,557
   

Amount of total accounts, loans and other receivables as stated  

in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements 158,673 160,127
   

Trade payables

Net amount of payables as stated above 435,768 575,904

Amount not in scope of offsetting disclosures 15,565 15,605
   

Amount of total accruals, accounts and other payables as stated  

in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements 451,333 591,509
   

The gross amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities and their net amounts as presented in the consolidated 

statement of financial position, both of which have been disclosed in the above tables, are measured as follows:

• amounts due from/to clearing houses, brokers and brokerage clients – amortised cost

• deposit placed with clearing houses – amortised cost

• financial liabilities at FVTPL – fair value

The collateral pledged by the Group, which is measured at amortised cost, is eligible to set off the Group’s financial 

liabilities at FVTPL in the event of default. In addition, the collateral pledged by customers, which is measured at 

fair value, is eligible to set off the Group’s receivable measured at amortised cost in the event of default. Other than 

these, the amounts which have been offset against the related recognised financial assets and financial liabilities in 

the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position or subject to enforceable master netting arrangements or 

similar agreements are measured on the same basis as the recognised financial assets and financial liabilities.
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39 Fair value measurements of financial instruments

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. 

The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets and financial liabilities are 

determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy into 

which the fair value measurements are categorised (levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value 

measurements are observable.

• Level 1 fair value measurements are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical assets or liabilities;

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that 

are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or 

liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

      

Fair value as at

Fair value 

hierarchy

Valuation technique(s) and 

key input(s)

Significant

unobservable input(s)

30 June 2023 30 June 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets

Listed equity securities 137,118 135,383 Level 1 Quoted price in an active market N/A

Listed equity securities 353 – Level 2 Quoted market prices from dealers N/A

Listed debt securities 17,880 16,621 Level 2 Quoted market prices from dealers N/A

Bond funds 10,413 12,005 Level 2  

(2022: Level 1)

Quoted market prices from dealers N/A

Unlisted investment funds 50,507 59,855 Level 2 Dealing price of the fund derived 

from the net asset value of the 

investment with reference to 

observable quoted price of 

underlying investment portfolio 

in active markets

N/A

Unlisted debt security 330 330  Level 2 Quoted price in an inactive market N/A

Overseas unlisted equity 

security

1,406 4,400 Level 2 Net asset value N/A

Overseas unlisted equity 

security

45,232 41,780 Level 3 

(2022: level 2)

Recent transaction price in an 

inactive market

N/A
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Fair value as at

Fair value 

hierarchy

Valuation technique(s) and 

key input(s)

Significant

unobservable input(s)

30 June 2023 30 June 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets

Overseas unlisted equity 

securities

4,134 4,525 Level 3 Income approach Cost of capital of 

23.83% (2022: 

21.99%)

Discount for lack of 

control of 10% 

(2022: 10%)

Discount for lack of 

marketability of 

25% (2022: 25%)

Financial liabilities

Listed equity securities 7,225 8,409 Level 1 Quoted price in an active market N/A

Net assets attributable 

to holders of non-

controlling interests 

in consolidated 

investment funds

65,416 13,818 Level 2 Net asset value of underlying 

investments determined with 

reference to active market price

N/A

For overseas unlisted equity security using income approach, a 10% increase/decrease in the cost of capital used in 

isolation would result in a decrease in the fair value measurement of the overseas unlisted equity security of HK$17,000 

(2022: HK$38,000) or an increase of HK$19,000 (2022: HK$42,000). A 10% increase in discount for lack of control 

and discount for lack of marketability used in isolation would result in a decrease in the fair value measurement of the 

overseas unlisted equity security of HK$5,000 (2022: HK$10,000) and HK$14,000 (2022: HK$30,000) respectively, and 

vice versa.

Due to changes in market conditions for bond funds, quoted prices in active markets were no longer available for these 

funds. However, there was sufficient information available to measure the fair values of these funds based on observable 

market inputs. Therefore, these funds of HK$10,413,000 were transferred from level 1 to level 2 of the fair value hierarchy 

as at 30 June 2023.

39 Fair value measurements of financial instruments (Continued)
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39 Fair value measurements of financial instruments (Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

  

Financial assets mandatorily 

classified/designated at 

fair value through profit or loss

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Carrying amount at 1 July 2022 and 2021 4,525 12,243

Transfer from level 2 45,232 –

Transfer into level 2 – (8,400)

Fair value change recognised in profit or loss (391) 682
   

Carrying amount at 30 June 2023 and 2022 49,366 4,525
   

During the year ended 30 June 2023, one of the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss with fair value of 

HK$45,232,000 was transferred from level 2 to level 3 under the fair value hierarchy due to involvement of potential 

adjustment to the observable inputs.

For the year ended 30 June 2023, the total gains or losses for the year included in profit or loss represent unrealised loss 

HK$391,000 (2022: unrealised gain HK$682,000) for the year related to financial assets measured at FVTPL under Level 3 

held at year end.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at 

amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair value.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT AND VALUATION PROCESS

Management is responsible in determining the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value measurements. 

In estimating the fair value of the financial instruments, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. 

In estimating the fair value of a financial asset under level 3, the Group has engaged the valuer to establish appropriate 

valuation technique. Management reviews the valuation bi-annually.
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40 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows

(a) CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and 

non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash 

flows will be classified in the Group’s statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

      

Lease liabilities Bank loans
Dividend 

payable

Net assets
attributable to

holders of
non-controlling

interests in 
consolidated 

investment 
funds Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 July 2021 5,431 130,000 – 11,931 147,362
Financing cash inflow – 570,000 – 1,337 571,337
Financing cash outflow (1,791) (595,000) (13,993) – (610,784)
New lease 651 – – – 651
Foreign exchange movement (94) – – – (94)
Covid-19-related rent concessions from lessors (302) – – – (302)
Lease termination (31) – – – (31)
Financing costs recognised 78 – – – 78
Interest portion of lease payments classified  

as operating cash flows (78) – – – (78)
Cash dividend declared – – 13,993 – 13,993
Change in gain or losses – – – 550 550
      
At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022 3,864 105,000 – 13,818 122,682
Financing cash inflow – 625,000 – 53,623 678,623
Financing cash outflow (943) (730,000) (11,891) (969) (743,803)
Reclassified to liabilities held for sale (2,190) – – – (2,190)
Foreign exchange movement (228) – – – (228)
Financing costs recognised 48 – – – 48
Interest portion of lease payments classified  

as operating cash flows (48) – – – (48)
Cash dividend declared – – 11,891 – 11,891
Change in gain or losses – – – (1,056) (1,056)
      
At 30 June 2023 503 – – 65,416 65,919
      

(b) TOTAL CASH OUTFLOW FOR LEASES
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of cash flows is as follows:

   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within operating activities 277 693

Within financing activities 943 1,791
   

1,220 2,484
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41 Key sources of estimation uncertainty and judgements

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management is required to exercise significant judgments in the 

selection and application of accounting principles, including making estimates and assumptions. The estimates and 

associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual 

results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affect only 

that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. The 

following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 

the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities within the next financial year.

Judgements

• REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
The Group applied judgements on the identification of the performance obligations, recognition of revenue over 

time versus at a point in time, and choosing an appropriate method of measuring progress of corporate finance 

services. The Group follows the accounting standard to assess the performance obligations in the contract and the 

revenue recognition approach. In determining the timing of satisfaction of the performance obligation, the Group 

examines its services on a contract by contract basis and considers if it has a right to payment at an amount that 

reasonably compensates it for its performance completed to date at all times throughout the contract. For income 

being recognised overtime, the Group measures the progress using the output method and estimates the percentage 

of completion by key tasks performed to date. For income not being recognised overtime, the fee will only be 

recognised when the performance obligation is completed.

Estimation uncertainty

• IMPAIRMENT ALLOWANCES ON ACCOUNTS AND LOAN RECEIVABLES
The measurement of ECL under HKFRS 9 across all categories of financial assets to which ECL measurements apply 

requires judgement, in particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values 

when determining impairment losses and the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. These estimates 

are driven by a number of factors, where the change of the factors which result in different levels of allowances, 

a lesser/further impairment loss may arise. The Group uses external credit rating reports, research reports and 

statistics, where available, to estimate the probability of default, and the loss given default as further adjusted, where 

appropriate, by forward-looking information. At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there has been 

a significant increase in credit risk for exposures since initial recognition by comparing the risk of default at the 

reporting date and the risk of default at the date of initial recognition.

The Group calibrates the model to adjust the ECL experience with forward-looking information. For instance, 

if forecast economic conditions are expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased 

number of defaults in the financing sectors, the probability of default rates is adjusted. When estimating the ECL 

on amounts due from margin clients, the Group has incorporated forward-looking economic information through 

the use of industry trend and expected future changes in macroeconomic conditions to reflect the qualitative 

factors, and through the use of probability-weighted scenarios by the stock market analysis. At each reporting date, 

the parameters are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed. The assessment of the 

correlation among the probability of default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECL is a significant estimate. 

The amount of ECL is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group’s 

probability of default rates and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of a customer’s actual 

default in the future.
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41 Key sources of estimation uncertainty and judgements (Continued)

• IMPAIRMENT ALLOWANCES ON ACCOUNTS AND LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or 

effort for this purpose. This includes quantitative and qualitative information and also, forward-looking analysis. 

Details of the impairment allowances on accounts and loan receivables are disclosed in note 21 to the consolidated 

financial statements.

• FAIR VALUE OF THE OVERSEAS UNLISTED EQUITY SECURITIES

The fair value of overseas unlisted equity securities that are not traded in an active market is determined by using 

external valuations. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are mainly based on market 

conditions existing at each reporting date. Valuation techniques used include the use of comparable recent arm’s 

length transactions, discounted cash flows analysis and other valuation techniques commonly used by other market 

participants. These valuation techniques, which involve the use of significant unobservable inputs, including cost of 

capital and discount for lack of marketability, require subjective management judgements and assumptions. Changes 

in assumptions on the valuation techniques could affect the reported fair values of these financial assets. Details of 

the overseas unlisted equity securities are disclosed in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

• VALUATION OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND LAND AND BUILDINGS HELD FOR OWN USE

The valuation of investment properties and land and buildings held for own use that are not traded in an active 

market is determined by using external valuations. In estimating the fair values of the investment properties and land 

and buildings held for own use, the Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available. The fair values of 

these assets were determined based on the direct comparison approach where comparison is made based on prices 

realised on actual sales and/or asking prices of comparable properties. Comparable properties of similar size, scale, 

nature, character and location are analysed and weighted against all the respective advantages and disadvantages of 

each property in order to arrive at a fair comparison of market value. Changes in the inputs on valuation techniques 

could affect the reported fair values of these assets. Details of the investment properties and land and buildings held 

for own use are disclosed in notes 13 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

• DEFERRED TAX

The Group’s tax losses are mainly from subsidiaries engaging in proprietary trading activities. At the end of each 

reporting period and based primarily on the performance of the Hong Kong financial market, the Group estimates 

whether there will be sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences available so that deferred tax assets 

should be recognised. No deferred tax assets will be recognised if the future profit streams are unpredictable. For 

the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets arising from investment properties that are 

measured using the fair value model, the management of the Group have determined that the investment properties 

are recovered entirely through sale and the presumption that the carrying amount of the investment properties will 

be recovered through sale is not rebutted. Details of deferred tax assets and liabilities are disclosed in note 30 to the 

consolidated financial statements.



Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited   Annual Report 2023

129

For the year ended 30 June 2023

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

42 Statement of Financial Position of the Company

   

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets

Interests in subsidiaries 50,272 122,272

Amounts due from subsidiaries 410,168 413,319
   

460,440 535,591
   

Current assets

Prepayments, deposits and other receivable 144 128

Amounts due from subsidiaries 527,077 582,898

Cash and cash equivalents 902 8,759
   

528,123 591,785
   

Current liabilities

Accruals, accounts and other payables 1,069 2,015

Bank loans and overdrafts 65,697 105,000

Tax payable – 80
   

66,766 107,095
   

Net current assets 461,357 484,690
   

NET ASSETS 921,797 1,020,281
   

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Share capital 73,957 73,039

Reserves 847,840 947,242
   

TOTAL EQUITY 921,797 1,020,281
   

Jonathan Koon Shum Choi Michael Koon Ming Choi

Director Director
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43 Reserves of the Company
     

Contributed 
surplus

Share 
premium

Retained profits/
(Accumulated 

losses) Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 July 2021 611,245 358,946 14,091 984,282
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year – – (21,952) (21,952)
Dividends paid
– 2021, final (10,792) 3,008 – (7,784)
– 2022, interim – – (7,304) (7,304)
     
At 30 June 2022 600,453 361,954 (15,165) 947,242
     
At 1 July 2022 600,453 361,954 (15,165) 947,242
Reduction of contributed surplus to offset the loss for 

previous year (21,952) – 21,952 –
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year – – (86,593) (86,593)
Dividends paid
– 2022, final (7,304) 1,891 – (5,413)
– 2023, interim – – (7,396) (7,396)
     
At 30 June 2023 571,197 363,845 (87,202) 847,840
     

The movement in the Group’s reserves has been disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the 
nature and purpose of reserves of the Group is as follows:

SHARE PREMIUM
The application of share premium account is governed by Section 40 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

SPECIAL RESERVE
The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between the aggregate of the nominal value and the share 
premium of the shares of SW Kingsway Capital Group Limited at the date of acquisition by the Company and the nominal 
value of the shares of the Company issued for the acquisition at the time of the Reorganisation on 10 August 2000.

CAPITAL RESERVE ON CONSOLIDATION
The capital reserve on consolidation of the Group represents bargain purchase gain arising from acquisitions prior to 1 
July 2001.

EXCHANGE RESERVE
The exchange reserve has been set up and will be dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies adopted for 
foreign currency translation.

PROPERTIES REVALUATION RESERVE
The properties revaluation reserve was set up to deal with the surplus or deficit arising from the revaluation of land and 
buildings held for own use.

44 Events after the reporting period

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, no other significant events have occurred since the 
year end which would require adjustments to or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements.
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2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Results

Revenue 170,950 112,774 90,017 68,926 40,742
      

Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the 

Company (32,821) (40,934) 31,758 (78,069) (78,497)
      

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (cents) (4.7) (5.8) 4.44 (10.78) (10.69)
      

Dividends paid and payable to owners of 

the Company attributable to the year 31,565 21,383 21,584 14,608 14,792
      

Assets and liabilities

Total assets 1,988,465 1,996,113 1,974,829 1,665,702 1,437,931
      

Total liabilities 905,624 1,014,877 977,872 754,870 632,979
      

Net assets attributable to owners of the 

Company 1,082,776 981,439 995,685 910,005 804,609
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Overseas Offices

China

– 廣東新華滙富商業保理有限公司 

1215, Fuli Yingfeng Building,  

2 Huaqiang Road, Tianhe District, 

Guangzhou, 510620, PRC

Licensed Subsidiaries of 
Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited

Kingsway Financial Services Group Limited

Licensed Corporation of the Hong Kong Securities and  

Futures Commission

Exchange Participant of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Broker Participant of Hong Kong Securities Clearing  

Company Limited

Exchange Participant of Hong Kong Futures Exchange 

Participant of HKFE Clearing Corporation Limited 

Options Trading Exchange Participant of SEHK 

SEOCH Direct Clearing Participant

Lead Underwriter and Securities Broker licence for  

B-Shares of Shenzhen and Shanghai Stock Exchanges 

granted by the China Securities Regulatory Commission

B-Shares Special Seat Holder of Shenzhen Stock Exchange 

B-Shares Tangible Trading Seat Holder of Shanghai Stock 

Exchange

B-Shares Special Clearing Participant of China Securities 

Depository and Clearing Corporation Limited –  

Shenzhen Branch

B-Shares Clearing Participant of China Securities  

Depository and Clearing Corporation Limited –  

Shanghai Branch

Kingsway Capital Limited

Licensed Corporation of the Hong Kong Securities and  

Futures Commission

Main Board and GEM Board Sponsor of The Stock Exchange 

of Hong Kong

Kingsway SW Asset Management Limited

Licensed Corporation of the Hong Kong Securities and  

Futures Commission

Kingsway SW Finance Limited

Money Lender registered with the HKSAR Government
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